INTERNATIONAL UNION OF GEODESY AND GEOPHYSICS (IUGG) INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF VOLCANOLOGY AND CHEMISTRY OF THE EARTH'S INTERIOR (IAVCEI)

Reports on Volcanic Activities and Volcanological Studies in Japan for the Period from 1999 to 2002

PREPARED FOR IUGG 2003, THE 23TH GENERAL ASSEMBLY, SAPPORO, JAPAN

 $2\ 0\ 0\ 3$

THE VOLCANOLOGICAL SOCIETY OF JAPAN

AND

NATIONAL COMMITTEE FOR VOLCANOLOGY AND CHEMISTRY OF THE EARTH'S INTERIOR, SCIENCE COUNCIL OF JAPAN

NATIONAL COMMITTEE FOR VOLCANOLOGY AND CHEMISTRY OF

THE EARTH'S INTERIOR, JAPAN

Chairman : Toshitsugu FUJII, Earthq. Res. Inst., Univ. of Tokyo Members : Hiroyuki HAMAGUCHI, Grad. School Sci., Tohoku Univ. Kazuhiro ISHIHARA, Disas. Prev. Res. Inst., Kyoto Univ. Tsuneomi KAGIYAMA, Earthq. Res. Inst., Univ. of Tokyo Setsuya NAKADA, Earthq. Res. Inst., Univ. of Tokyo Hiroshi SHIMIZU, Fac. Sci., Kyushu Univ. Masaki TAKAHASHI, Nihon Univ. Tadahide UI, Grad. School Sci., Hokkaido Univ. Hidefumi WATANABE, Earthq. Res. Inst., Univ. of Tokyo Observers : Teruo KANAZAWA, Maritime Safety Agency Makoto MURAKAMI, Geograph. Surv. Inst. Motoo UKAWA, Nat. Res. Inst. Earth Sci. Disas. Prev. Kozo UTO, Nat. Inst. Adv. Indust. Sci. Tech. (AIST) Hitoshi YAMASATO, Japan Meteorol. Agency

LIST OF CONTRIBUTORS

Keiji DOI, Japan Meteorol. Agency (keijidoi@met.kishou.go.jp) Toshitsugu FUJII, Earthq. Res. Inst., Univ. of Tokyo (fujii@eri.u-tokyo.ac.jp) Michael O. GARCIA, Dep. Geology & Geophysics, Univ. of Hawaii (garcia@soest.hawaii.edu) Hiroyuki HAMAGUCHI, Grad. School Sci., Tohoku Univ. (hama@aob.geophys.tohoku.ac.jp) Masato IGUCHI, Disas. Prev. Res. Inst., Kyoto Univ. (iguchi@svo.dpri.kyoto-u.ac.jp) Kazuhiro ISHIHARA, Disas. Prev. Res. Inst., Kyoto Univ. (ishihara@svo.dpri.kyoto-u.ac.jp) Tsuneomi KAGIYAMA, Earthq. Res. Inst., Univ. of Tokyo (kagiyama@eri.u-tokyo.ac.jp) Peter W. LIPMAN, US Geological Survey (plipman@usgs.gov.) Toshiya MORI, Grad. School Sci., Univ. of Tokyo (mori@eqchem.s.u-tokyo.ac.jp) Jiro NAKA, Japan Marine Sci. Tech. Center (JAMSTEC) (nakaj@jamstec.go.jp) Setsuya NAKADA, Earthq. Res. Inst., Univ. of Tokyo (nakada@eri.u-tokyo.ac.jp) Takeshi NISHIMURA, Grad. School Sci., Tohoku Univ. (nishi@zisin.geophys.tohoku.ac.jp) Hiromitsu OSHIMA, Grad. School Sci., Hokkaido Univ. (oshima@uvo.sci.hokudai.ac.jp) Hiroshi SHIMIZU, Fac. Sci., Kyushu Univ. (shimizu@sevo.kyushu-u.ac.jp) Eiichi TAKAHASHI, Fac. Sci., Tokyo Inst. Tech. (etakahas@geo.titech.ac.jp) Satoru TANAKA, Grad. School Sci., Tohoku Univ. (tanaka@aob.geophys.tohoku.ac.jp) Akihiko TOMIYA, Nat. Inst. Adv. Indust. Sci. Tech. (AIST) (a.tomiya@aist.go.jp) Sadato UEKI, Grad. School Sci., Tohoku Univ. (ueki@aob.geophys.tohoku.ac.jp) Tadahide UI, Grad. School Sci., Hokkaido Univ. (ui@ep.sci.hokudai.ac.jp) Motoo UKAWA, Res. Inst. Earth Sci. Disas. Prev. (ukawa@bosai.go.jp) Kozo UTO, Nat. Inst. Adv. Indust. Sci. Tech. (AIST) (k.uto@aist.go.jp) Hidefumi WATANABE, Earthq. Res. Inst., Univ. of Tokyo (watanabe@eri.u-tokyo.ac.jp) Takahiro YAMAMOTO, Nat. Inst. Adv. Indust. Sci. Tech. (AIST) (t-yamamoto@aist.go.jp) Hitoshi YAMASATO, Japan Meteorol. Agency (yamasato@met.kishou.go.jp)

CONTENTS

I. Preface ·····	1
II. Eruptive Events	
1. General Statement	2
2. Activity of Sakurajima Volcano	5
3. Activity of Iwate Volcano in 1998-2002	9
4. The 2000 Eruption at Miyakejima Volcano	13
5. Activity of Fuji Volcano	19
6. The 2000 Eruption at Usu Volcano	23
III. Geophysical Study	25
IV. Geological Study	
1. Regional Geology and Physical Volcanology	33
2. Petrology and Mineralogy	40
V. Geochemical Study	55
VI. National Project for Prediction of Volcanic Eruptions	
1. Outlines of National Project for Prediction of Volcanic Eruptions	63
2. Joint Volcanological Experiment on Volcanic Structure	
and Magma Supply System	65
3. Comprehensive Joint Volcano Observations	71
VII. International Activities	
1. Collaboration Study on Volcanic Activity between Indonesia and Japan	73
2. Cooperative Observations at Nyiragongo Volcano in D.R. of Congo	76
3. Japan-US Joint Study on Hawaiian Hot Spot Volcanoes 1998-2002 ······	79
4. Unzen Scientific Drilling Project	82
5. Tokyo Volcanic Ash Advisory Center	85

Reports on Volcanic Activities and Volcanological Studies in Japan

for the Period from 1999 to 2003

I. Preface

The most significant events for volcanologists in Japan during this period are the Usu 2000 eruption and the Miyakejima 2000 eruption. The two eruptions have provided a test for volcanologists who faced the challenge of obtaining, conveying, and explaining the information needed by the Government and local officials charged for public safety. Also the two eruptions have provided volcanologists opportunities to learn more about the dynamics of volcanoes, and the studies of these eruptions will improve our knowledge and understanding of the eruptive mechanism.

The onset of the eruption was successfully predicted based on the detection of seismic activity and ground deformation, and more than 9000 people living near Usu volcano evacuated before the eruption. Phreatomagmatic eruption occurred on March 31; however, no casualties were reported because of the successful pare-eruption evacuation. Phreatic eruptions continued for several months and criptodome was formed yielding intense ground deformation.

In the early stage of the Miyakejima eruption, migration of magma was completely detected by seismic monitoring and tiltmeter measurement. Based on this observation, eruption within a short time was expected and was declared to the public. After the initial rather minor eruption, caldera formation was witnessed in July with complete description of the progress of the subsidence of the summit within the newly formed caldera. After several explosive events during August, all the residents evacuated from the island. Emission of huge amount of sulfur dioxide gas has continued for more than two years, and all the evacuated residents are still staying outside of the island. Brief description of both eruptions will be given in the following sections together with the results of investigation.

The sixth 5-years plan of the National Project for the Prediction of Volcanic Eruptions was proposed by the Geodetic Council of Ministry of Education, Science and Culture in 1998, and was started in 1999. The present plan will be completed at the end of this fiscal year, and another 5-years plan will be proposed to the Government within a few months.

In the latter parts of this report, the scientific activities related to volcanology in Japan are briefly reviewed for the period from 1999 to 2003, and the publication list of the related studies are included.

(Toshitsugu Fujii)

II. Eruptive Events

1. General Statement

Volcanic activity for the period 1999-2002 was characterized by the two large eruptive activities at Usu volcano and Miyakejima volcano, and other eruptions and phenomena.

Earthquake swarm began at Usu volcano on 27 March 2000. Remarkable ground deformation was accompanied at the summit and in the northwestern area of Usu volcano. Phreatomagmatic eruption took place about 4 km NW apart from the summit of Usu volcano at 13:07, 31 March 2000. Eruption continued at two crater areas, West-Nishiyama and Kompirayama, forming many new craters. Remarkable inflation occurred and a cryptodome was formed near the West-Nishiyama crater area during the eruptive activity. Eruptive activity and deformation gradually declined but small phreatic explosions continued at one of Kompirayama craters until September 2001. As the people living near the volcano and tourists were required to evacuate before the eruption, no people were injured. Detailed information is described in II-3.

Earthquake swarm began at Miyakejima volcano on 26 June 2000. The hypocenters of the earthquakes migrated westward and submarine eruption occurred off the western coast of Miyakejima island on 27 June. The hypocenters migrated more westward and vigorous earthquake swarm continued near Nii-jima and Kozu-jima. On the other hand, earthquake swarm began just beneath the summit of Miyakejima (Oyama) on 4 July and small eruption occurred at the summit on 8 July. After the summit eruption, a large collapsed crater, about 1 km across and about 200 m deep, was found on the summit. Collapse of the crater continued and a summit caldera of 1.4 km across and 450 m deep was formed until early August. Large eruptions occurred at the summit on 10, 18 and 29 August. Volcanic smoke from the eruption on 18 August reached 14 km height from the summit and low temperature pyroclastic flow from the eruption on 29 August reached the northerm coast of Miyakejima. Active eruption continued until early September and SO₂ flux from the craters within the Miyakejima summit caldera continued in high level. Lahar sometimes occurred when it rained. All people who lived in Miyakejima island have been evacuated since September 2000. Detailed information is described in II-4.



Fig. 1. Index map showing the location of active volcanoes listed in this report. Triangles represent active volcanoes in Japan. Japan Meteorological Agency has defined active volcanoes in Japan as "volcanoes which have erupted within 10,000 years or volcanoes with vigorous fumarolic activity".

1999	
May	Fumarolic activity at Iwate volcano became active.
2000	
27 March	Earthquake swarm began at Usu volcano.
31 March	Phreatomagmatic eruption started at Usu volcano.
May	Earthquake swarm at Bandai volcano, until 2001.
26 June	Earthquake swarm began at Miyakejima volcano.
27 June	Submarine eruption near Miyakejima volcano
4 July	Earthquake swarm began at the summit of Miyakejima volcano.
8 July	Small eruption and collapse at the summit of Miyakejima volcano
10, 18, 29 August	Large-scale phreatomagmatic eruptions at Miyakejima
August	High flux of SO ₂ at Miyakejima volcano, until now
September	Small phreatic eruptions at Hokkaido-Komagadake volcano (until November)
October	Deep low frequency earthquakes at Fuji volcano, until May 2001
December	Eruptive activity became active at Suwanosejima volcano.
2001	
May	Earthquake swarm at Azuma volcano, until 2002.
21 September	Small submarine eruption near Iwojima
19 October	Small phreatic eruption at Iwojima

Table 1. Chronology of volcanic eruptions and related events during 1999-2002.

Two persistent active volcanoes in Japan, Sakurajima and Suwanosejima, also erupted. At Sakurajima volcano, explosive eruptive activity continued (see II-2). The volcanic activity at Suwanose-jima volcano became active since December 2000. At Satsuma-Iwojima volcano, intermittently discolored plumes were issued from the summit and high SO₂ flux continued.

Small phreatic eruptions occurred at Hokkaido-Komagadake volcano between September and November 2000. Small submarine eruption and phreatic eruption occurred at Iwojima in September and October 2001. Small eruption occurred also at Izu-Torishima in August 2002.

High volcanic activities without eruption were observed at several active volcanoes in Japan.

High seismicy and inflation began at Iwate volcano in March 1998. The seismicity gradually declined but continued for the period 1999-2002. Fumarolic activity at western Iwate volcano gradually became active since March 1999 and continued. Detailed information is described in II-3.

Seismicity that began since June 2000 near Nii-jima and Kozu-jima was the most active earthquake swarm in recent years. The number of earthquakes of the magnitude more than 4 was more than 600. Remarkable ground deformation occurred associated with the earthquake swarm. Seismic activity and ground deformation were observed also at Hakone volcano during June to August 2001, at Izu-Tobu volcanoes in May 2002, and at Hachijojima volcano in August 2002. At Hachijojima volcano, very long-period seismic events occurred (Ueno *et al.*, 2002). Seismicity became active at Bandai and at Azuma volcanoes since May 2000 and May 2001, respectively.

High temperature at the summit was observed at Tarumae volcano during the period 1999-2002.

B-type earthquake swarm intermittently occurred at Asama volcano since September 2000. Volcanic gas emission from the summit crater gradually increased since May 2002.

Deep low frequency earthquakes (deeper than 10 km) occurred beneath some active volcanoes. Seismicity of deep low frequency earthquakes beneath Fuji volcano became active since October 2000 to May 2001 (see II-5).

During the period 1999-2002, no persons were killed by volcanic activity in Japan, excepting 1 person who was killed by an earthquake near Nii-jima and Kozu-jima region.

Preliminary reports on current eruptions in Japan were pasted in the internet web site;

"Current Eruptions in Japan";

http://hakone.eri.u-tokyo.ac.jp/vrc/erup/erup.html.

The information on Japanese volcanoes was given in the site of Japan Meteorological Agency;

http://www.jma.go.jp/. (revised everyday but in Japanese)

Additional information on eruptions in Japan was available in the following home pages;

Geological Survey of Japan; http://www.gsj.jp/HomePage.html,

Geographical Survey of Japan; http://www.gsi.go.jp/ENGLISH/index.html,

National Research Institute for Earth Science and Disaster Prevention; http://www.bosai.go.jp/index.html,

Tatsuro Chiba; *http://www.geo.chs.nihon-u.ac.jp/tchiba/chibah.html*, and Yukio Hayakawa; *http://www.edu.gunma-u.ac.jp/~hayakawa/English.html*. Internet web sites of volcano observatories in Japan are as follows; Usu (UVO), Hokkaido Univ.; *http://uvo.sci.hokudai.ac.jp/*, Res. Cent. Pred. Earthq. Volc. Erup., Tohoku Univ.; *http://aob-new.aob.geophys.tohoku.ac.jp/index_e.html*, VRC, Earthq. Res. Inst., Univ. Tokyo; *http://hakone.eri.u-tokyo.ac.jp/vrc/VRC.html*, Volcanic Fluid Research Center of Tokyo Institute of Technology; *http://www.ksvo.titech.ac.jp/index.html* #, Res. Cent. Seism. Volcanol., Nagoya Univ.; *http://www.seis.nagoya-u.ac.jp/RCSVNU-E.html*, Aso (AVL)-Kyoto Univ.; *http://w3.vgs.kyoto-u.ac.jp/*#, Sakurajima (SVO)-Kyoto Univ.; *http://www.dpri.kyoto-u.ac.jp/~kazan/default_e.html*, Unzen (SEVO)-Kyushu Univ.; *http://www.sevo.kyushu-u.ac.jp/index-e.html*. # open in Japanese

(Hitoshi Yamasato)

References

Ueno, H., Ikeda, Y., Hasebe, D., Kamigaichi, O., Hoshiba, M. and Yoshida, Y. (2002) Earthquake activity and long-period events occurred around Hachijojima Island from August 2002. *Newsletter of Seism. Soc. Japan*, **14-4**, 3-5 (in Japanese).

2. Activity of Sakurajima Volcano

Sakurajima volcano is a post-caldera volcano, located at the southern rim of the Aira caldera in the southern Kyushu. The main magma reservoir is estimated to be located 10 km deep beneath the caldera, and the sub-reservoir is located a few kilometers under the volcano (Ishihara, 1990). In the historical time, large eruptions were originated three times in 1471-1476, 1779-1781 and 1914. Each eruption ejected lava and pyroclastic materials of 1 to 2 km³ from the both flanks of the volcano.

The current eruptive activity, summit eruption, started in October 1955, and has continued for 48 years. The area 2 km around the summit crater has been specified as an off-limits area, where no one can enter. The activity is characterized with intermittent explosive eruptions of a Vulcanian type and emission of volcanic ash. The annual number of explosive eruptions is shown in Fig. 2. The cumulative number of explosive eruptions is 7842 as of the end of 2002. The amount of volcanic ash ejected each year since 1978 is shown in Fig. 3. The amount of volcanic ash ejected from June, 1978 to December, 2002 is estimated to be 190 millions tons by the Sakurajima Volcano Research Center, Disaster Prevention Research Institute of Kyoto University.



Fig. 2. Annual numbers of explosive eruptions at Sakurajima volcano (1955-2002)



Fig. 3. Annual amounts of volcanic ash ejected from Sakurajima volcano (1978-2002)



Fig. 4. The summit crater of Sakurajima volcano on May 11, 2001. A small lava dome appears at the bottom of A-crater.



Fig. 5. Monthly numbers of explosive eruptions, B-type earthquakes and A-type earthquakes at Sakurajima volcano (1993-2002).



Fig. 6. Monthly amount of volcanic ash ejected from Sakurajima Volcano (1993-2002)



Fig. 7. A car damaged by lapilli stones on October 7, 2000



BM26 (northern coast of Sakurajima)

Fig. 8. Vertical ground deformation at Sakurajima volcano (Change in relative elevation of BM 26 at Sakurajima volcano). BM 26 is one of the nearest benchmarks to the center of the Aira caldera.

Explosive activity declined around 1993 (Ishihara, 1999). The amount of volcanic ash has rapidly decreased since 1993, though the number of explosive eruptions does not significantly decrease. This is related to a short duration of eruption, namely, most of recent eruptions ceased in a few minutes. Corresponding to the decrease in ejected ash, the ground deformation of the Aira caldera was turned into inflation in 1994. The summit crater became 250-300 m deep in 1995, which is the deepest record since 1955, and the flight distance of volcanic blocks ejected by recent eruptions became short (Ishihara, 1999). The summit crater has been still deep during the period from 1999 to 2002. Occasionally, a small lava dome, 20-40 m in diameter, appeared at the crater bottom, as shown in Fig. 4.

Monthly numbers of explosive eruptions, B-type earthquakes and A-type (volcano-tectonic) earthquakes during the recent 10 years are shown in Fig. 5. B-type earthquakes are low-frequency earthquakes related to extrusion of magma (Iguchi, 1994). Amounts of volcanic ash each month for the same period are illustrated in Fig. 6. During the period from 1999-2002, B-type earthquakes and ejection of volcanic ash increased in 1999 and 2000. A few strong eruptions however occurred, as indicated by a few numbers of volcanic advisories issued by the Kagoshima Meteorological Observatory: 4, 1, 0 and 0 times in 1999, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively. Two of 5 were issued associated with swarms of B-type earthquakes in 1999, which led to increase in explosive eruptions, and the others related to strong explosive eruptions in 1999 and 2000. The largest eruption occurred on October 7, 2000. In an hour, volcanic ash and lapilli of $(3-4)x10^5$ tons were ejected, and more than 35 cars were damaged by lapilli of 1 to 3 cm at a parking area 6 km away from the crater, as shown Fig. 7.

The emission rate of sulfur-dioxide from the summit has kept high level (1400-4900 ton/day) during the period from 1974 to 1996, even if eruptive activity became low (Ishihara, 1999). The emission rate observed by COSPEC in November, 1999 and November, 2001 was 2800 and 1900 ton/day (Kazahaya, 2001). No clear relationship between eruptive activity and emission of sulfur-dioxide has been recognized at Sakurajima volcano.

As mentioned above, the deflation of the ground around the Aira caldera was turned into inflation in 1994. At Sakurajima, leveling survey has conducted along a coast road since 1957. The change in the relative elevation of BM 26, close to the center of the caldera is illustrated in Fig. 8. The reference point is BM 17, 6 km southwest away from the benchmark. BM 26 indicated gradual uplift by 8.4 cm from December 1991 to November 2002. This suggests that storage of magma under the caldera is in progress for future eruption. However, the rate of uplift is much smaller than those in the former inflation stage during 1964-1974. This may suggests that magma supply rate to the caldera has decreased during the past 10 years.

(Kazuhiro Ishihara)

References

- Iguchi, M. (1994) A vertical expansion source model for the mechanisms of earthquakes originated in the magma conduit of an andesitic volcano: Sakurajima, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **39**, 49-67.
- Ishihara, K. (1990) Pressure sources and induced ground deformation associated with explosive eruptions at an andesitic volcano: Sakurajima volcano, Japan. In Ryan, M. P. (ed.), Magma Transport and Storage, John Wiley & Sons, 335-356.
- Ishihara, K. (1999) Activity of Sakurajima Volcano, *Reports on Volcanic Activities and Volcanological studies in Japan for the period from* 1995 to 1998, 4-8.

Kazahaya, K. (2001) personal communication.

3. Activity of Iwate Volcano in 1998-2002

Iwate volcano is the active quaternary stratovolcano located in the northeastern Japan arc and consists of two subgroups (eastern Iwate volcano and western Iwate volcano) with several peaks. These subgroups, peaks and the caldera are aligned nearly east-west direction. This volcano has experienced two major eruptions in the historic times of 1686 and 1732. The former one accompanied lava flow, scoria emission and base surges from the summit crater. The second one did d a basaltic lava flow at the northeastern flank. Since the last eruption in 1732, the volcano has been quiescent conditions except several occurrences of small phreatic explosions at Oujigoku.

The volcano was in seismically calm until deep volcanic tremors with duration of 45 min were observed at depths of 8-10 km beneath the eastern flank in September, 1995. Since then, weak seismic activities and tremors have observed in the period from 1996 to 1997. The shallow and deep seismic activities and associated crustal deformations were started in middle February, 1998 and their activities increased with a lapse of times until September 5, 1998 when moderate tectonic earthquake with *M*6.1 occurred nearby Iwate volcano. After this earthquake, the number of shallow volcanic earthquakes started to gradually decrease with time. In consequence of decreases in number of the volcanic earthquakes, the volcanic unrest at this volcano is supposed to be over.

The long-term space-time plot of seismicity in and around Iwate volcano is shown in Fig. 9 for the period from 1976 to 2002, in which the long quiescence in seismicity around the eastern and western Iwate volcanoes (140.90E-141.02E) and stationary activity at a longitude around 140.88E can be recognized. The latter activity has been resulted by the exploration of deep geothermal energy at Kakkonda geothermal field.



Fig. 9. The space-time diagram of seismicity in and around Iwate volcano in the period from 1976 to 2002. The epicenters are projected on the longitudinal direction between 140.72 °E and 141.08 °E. The positions for the summit of Iwate volcano and Kakkonda geothermal field (Tk) are indicated at the right margin.

The short-term space-time and magnitude-time plots in the period from 1998 to 20002 are shown in Fig. 10 (a) and (b), respectively. This figures reveal that (1) the number of volcano earthquakes increases with time until April 29, 1998, when large earthquake swarm occurred at nearby the western edge of caldera rim, (2) the seismic activity migrated intermittently westward from the eastern Iwate volcano, and (3) high seismic activity with relatively large events (M > 3.5) continued for about four months until the occurrence of the moderate tectonic earthquake of M6.1 on September 3. Hypocenters of high frequency (HF) volcanic earthquakes at depth above 6 km are distributed east-west direction from the eastern Iwate volcano to the western one (see Fig. 11). The spatial distribution of events can be divided into three groups. The eastern group is clustered beneath the summit crater and is characterized by relatively small events. The middle one beneath the caldera shows the highest activity and is distributed in the narrow belts. The western one is scattered onto north-south direction. Hypocenter of low frequency (LF) earthquakes is observed beneath the eastern flank of volcano at deeper depths of 6 - 12 km and at shallow depths of 0 - 4 km under the caldera (see Fig. 11). The deeper LF events have been active condition in the whole period of 1998-2002, whereas the shallow ones were mainly observed at the initial stage of seismic activity in the period from February to September, 1998.

Continuous ground deformations have been monitoring since 1994 by the Sacks-Evertson type strain meter and tilt meter that were deployed at the bottom of 300 m borehole at three stations around the volcano. In addition to the above monitoring, GPS has been operating at five stations in and around the volcano. These data were used to estimate the origin of the crustal deformations beneath the volcano. The detail of analysis and data sets were omitted in this report and only results are shown in Fig. 12 and discussed with reference to the associated seismic activity. Both the rectangular tensile crack source and the dilatational source (Mogi source) are required to interpret the data sets. Two sources are spatially separated by about 3 km. The tensile cracks that were located beneath the summit and caldera indicate that the magma intruded



Fig. 10. (a) The space-time diagram of seismicity in Iwate volcano during the active period from 1998 to 2002. The circle and star indicate high- and low-frequency earthquakes, respectively. The codes in the right margin mean; summit, Kr, Ub, In and Mi are the peaks of Iwate volcano, Kurokura, Ubakura, Inukura and Mitsuishi , respectively. (b) The magnitude-time diagram corresponding (a).



Fig. 11. The hypocenters in Iwate volcano during 1998-2002. Circle and star indicate high- and low-frequency earthquakes, respectively. Crosses are seismic stations.



Fig. 12. The estimated origins of crustal deformations beneath the Iwate volcano together with the re-located hypocenters projected on to the E-W cross section. The circle is the dilatational source and the rectangles with marks (A to I) are a tensile crack corresponding different periods. Open circle and solid star indicate high- and low-frequency earthquakes, respectively. The volume increase rate is shown by a gray scale.

two times vertically and horizontally. The bottom of the HF and LF volcanic earthquake hypocenter limited the upper edge of tensile cracks. The eastern edge was close to the hypocenter of LF events, suggesting that intrusion processes of magma from a deeper part to a shallow one were closely relating the occurrence of volcanic earthquakes. On the other hand, the location of dilatational source was not changed during a lapse of time. The rate of dilatation increased exponentially at the initial stage of seismic activity and decreased gradually with time. These conditions suggest that the origin of dilatation at the fixed position was not magmatic but hydrothermal activity. This source was closely located at the northern edge of the faults associated with *M*6.1 earthquake on September 3, 1998. Based on the fracture function of the Coulomb failure criteria, it is concluded that the tectonic event of *M*6.1 was induced by the increases of shear stress of 0.7-0.8 MPa due to pressure increases of the dilatational source.

The present volcanic activity was marked by 350 deep low-frequency (DLF) events and 120 intermediate-depth low-frequency (ILF) events. The occurrence rate of the DLF events increased about 5 days before that of shallow events. The hypocenter of DLF events are located within three concentrated regions: the first is at a depth of 32 km about 10 km south of the summit, the second is at a depth of 33 km about 10 km northeast of the summit and the third is at a 37 km about 7 km northeast of the summit. ILF events are located within a vertical pipe-like region just beneath the summit, which sometimes shows a vertical migration of the focal depth. These results suggest that a complex magmas system may exist at a source regions of DLF and ILF events.

When the volcano-seismic activity was declined in 2000, the active seismic survey was conducted in and around the volcano in order to reveal the three-dimensional P velocity structure. Nine artificial explosions and 330 temporary seismic stations were operated in October, 2000 under the national project for the prediction of volcanic eruption. The most prominent feature of this survey is high P velocity column-like structure ($V_P > 5.4$ km/s) under the caldera, where the highest seismic activity was observed as pointed before.

In conclusion, Iwate volcano has experienced magma intrusion from the middle crust and the Moho region to a shallower part in 1998 and the volcano-seismic unrest was amplified in the period of 1998-2002. However, fortunately, there was no eruption.

(Hiroyuki Hamaguchi)

References

Miura, S., Ueki, S., Sato, T., Tachibana, K. and Hamaguchi H. (2000), Crustal deformation associated with the 1998 seismo-volcanic crisis of Iwate volcano, northeastern Japan, as observed by a dense GPS network, *Earth Planets and Space*, 52, 1003-1008.

Nakamichi, H., Tanaka, S. Hamaguchi, H. (2002), Fine S wave velocity structure beneath Iwate volcano, northeastern Japan, as derived from

receiver functions and travel times, Jour. Volc. Geotherm Res., 116, 235-255.

- Nakamichi, H., Hamaguchi, H., Tanaka, S., Ueki, S., Nishimura T. and Hasegawa. A. (2003), Source mechanisms of deep and intermediate-depth low-frequency earthquakes beneath Iwate volcano, northeastern Japan, *Geophys. Jour. Intern.* in press.
- Nishimura T., Nakamichi, H. Tanaka, S. Sato, M. Kobayashi, T. Ueki, S. Hamaguchi, H. Ohtake, M. and Sato, H. (2000), Source process of very long period seismic events associated with The 1998 activity of Iwate volcano, northeastern Japan, J. Geophys. Res. 105, 19135-19147.
- Sato, M. and Hamaguchi, H. (1999), Analysis of crustal deformation of Mount Iwate observed for a period from February to august, 1998 (in Japanese), *Chikyu Monthly*, **21**, 312-317.
- Tanaka, S., Hamaguchi, H. Ueki, S., Sato, M. and Nakamichi, H. (2002), Mitigation of seismic activity during the 1998 volcanic unrest at Iwate volcano, northeastern Japan, with reference to P and S wave velocity anomaly and crustal deformation, *Jour. Volc. Geotherm Res.*,113, 399-414.
- Tanaka, S., et. al. (2002) Three-dimensional *P*-wave velocity structure of Iwate volcano, Japan from active seismic survey, *Geophys, Res. Lett.*, 10.1029/2002GL014983.
- Ueki, S., Morita, Y. and Hamaguchi, H., (1996), On the volcanic tremors observed at Mount Iwate in September and October, 1995 (in Japanese), *Tohoku J. Natural Disaster Sic.*, **32**, 285-292.
- Ueki, S. et. al. (1998), The 1998 activity of crustal deformation of Mt. Iwate detected by a dense GPS network observation (in Japanese), *Chikyu Monthly*, **21**, 296-302.
- Umino, N. et. al., (1998), Aftershock distribution for the M6.1 earthquakes of 3 September 1998 in Shizukuishi, Iwate Prefecture, northeastern Japan (in Japanese), *Active Fault Res.*, **17**, 1-8.

4. The 2000 Eruption at Miyakejima Volcano

Introduction

Miyakejima is a volcanic island of about 8 km across, located about 180 km south of Tokyo, on the volcanic chain of Izu-Ogasawara (or -Mariana). Including the body under the sea level, the base of the volcano has the diameter of about 13 km and the height is about 1,000 m. It is a stratovolcano, consisting largely of basaltic rocks. The summit area is characterized by double calderas, 3.5 and 1.5 km across, in which a scoria cone "Oyama" is located. Near the coastal line, there are many craters formed by phreatomagmatic eruptions.

During these 500 years, twelve eruptions occurred at intervals of 21 to 69 years. The volume of each eruption ranges from 20 to 30 million cubic meters. In the 20-th century, eruptions occurred in 1940, 1962 and 1983. The precursory seismic activity was generally short, less than 6 hours. That of the 1983 eruption was as short as 1 hour and a half. Historic eruptions had begun with effusion of lava and lasted for the period as short as several days, except for the 1940 eruption, which continued for about a month. Basaltic lavas had been effused along fissures extending radially from the summit .

The manner of the 2000 eruption was largely different from what had been experienced during the last hundred years. Lateral migration of magma away from Miyakejima generated the summit subsidence, associated with explosive eruptions from the summit in the summer of 2000. Huge amount of SO₂ (as high as 4×10^7 kg/day) had been continuously emitted from the crater in the newly formed caldera (Oyama Caldera) after the major eruptions were over. All islanders (about 3,000) had been forced to continue evacuation from Miyakejima for more than two and one half years. According to geological studies (e.g. Tsukui *et al.*, 2001), Miyakejima had experienced the summit collapse about 2.5 ka, resulting in the formation of the Hatchodaira Caldera with a size similar to the Oyama Caldera. Therefore, for Miyakejima caldera-forming eruption may repeat once every 2,500 years. Brief summaries of various aspects of this eruption were reported by Nakada *et al.* (2001), Uto *et al.* (2001) and so on.

Volcano Monitoring and Precursors to the 2000 Eruption

In the 1990's various kinds of geophysical observations were strengthened in Miyakejima volcano, including seismic array observation, repeat precise leveling and gravity surveys, GPS, borehole tilt measurements and so on by the related organizations: Tokyo Metropolitan Government-JMA-University of Tokyo (seismic observation), National Institute for Earth Science and Disaster Prevention (seismic and tilt observations), Geographical Survey Institute (GPS observation), university group (GPS), and cooperation among researchers in Japanese universities, French LGO-OPGC and USGS (electromagnetic observations). Leveling surveys by Tokyo Metropolitan Government and GSI, and GPS observation by GSI and the university group that were conducted since 1990, clearly detected an inflation of the island with a pressure source in the south part of the island (Mikada *et al*, 1996; Nishimura *et al.*, 2002). The results of the electromagnetic observation also indicated the thermal demagnetization at a shallow depth beneath the south of Oyama cone (Sasai *et al.*, 2001). These were the precursors to the 2000 eruption.

Chronology of the 2000 Eruption

Volcanic activity of the 2000 eruption at Miyakejima can be divided into four stages based on surface phenomena: magma intrusion, summit subsidence, explosion, and degassing stages (Fig. 13).

Magma Intrusion Stage (26 June-7 July): A seismic swarm activity started at shallow depths beneath the summit in the evening of 26 June 2000 (JMA, 2000). Eruption did not occur, although magma seemed to have approached to the summit as shallow as up to 200 m below the sea level as suggested by tilt observation (Fujita *et al.*, 2002). Hypocenter of earthquakes moved westward about the midnight of 26-27 June, associated with ground deformation indicating the intrusion of dike in EW direction at the western coast (Fig. 14) (Sakai *et al.*, 2001). Submarine eruption occurred on the morning of 27 June, soon after the seismic swarm passed through the eruption points (JMA, 2000). Since then, felt earthquakes occurred mainly outside Miyakejima. Bursts of earthquakes including Magnitude 6 class were repeated in the sea between Niijima-Kozushima and Miyakejima from 27 June until the middle August. GPS data of Geographical Survey Institute showed that a steady increase in the baseline length between the Niijima and Kozushima started in this stage and continued by August (Fig. 13b). As if to compensate for this, continuous shortening of a N-S baseline across Miyakejima Island (diameter of the island) was observed (Fig. 15) (Nishimura *et al.*, 2001; 2002).

Summit Subsidence Stage (8 July-middle August): Following heavy seismicity beneath the island that resumed on 4 July (Fig. 13d), collapse of the summit area took place suddenly on the evening of 8 July (Fig. 16), accompanied by a small phreatic eruption. An integration of seismic, gravimetric and geomagnetic observations revealed the precursory processes leading to the summit collapse. Subsidence of the summit area had continued by middle August (Fig. 13c) (Hasegawa *et al.*, 2001). Phreatomagmatic eruptions occurred on 14 and 15 July. Tiltmeters installed along the hillside road by National Institute of Earth Science and Disaster Prevention indicated steady and continuous deflation of the summit area, periodically broken by sudden inflation (Ukawa *et al.* 2000). Synchronously, the number of volcanic earthquakes increased for a few hours and stopped with occurrence of a very-long-period seismic event (VLP pulse) whose pulse width was as long as 50 s. Waveform analyses of these signals show that the source mechanism of these pulses is characterized by a large volume expansion of 10^7 m^3 . Several models have been proposed. One is an intermittent subsidence of a piston in the volcanic conduit (Kumagai *et al.*, 2001). Another is an



Fig. 13. Chronology of the 2000 eruption at Miyakejima volcano (Nakada *et al.*, submitted, fig. 4). a) Stages of eruptive activity based on surface phenomena. Major eruptions are shown as vertical triangle with representative variations of geophysical and geochemical phenomena (modified from JMA, 2000; Kikuchi *et al.* 2001; Sasai *et al.* 2001; Furuya *et al.* 2003; Kazahaya *et al.* 2001). b) GPS data for baselines of Niijima-Kozushima and south-north coast of Miyakejima (after Nishimura *et al.*, 2001). c) Temporal change in volume of the summit subsidence (Hasegawa *et al.*, 2001). d) Daily number of earthquakes that occurred only in the Miyakejima island (data from JMA, 2000).



Fig. 14. Time-space distribution of swarm earthquakes that occurred on and around Miyakejima volcano during the period of 26 June to 31 July 2000 (Sakai *et al.*, 2001).



Fig. 15. Optimal fault model of ground deformation that accompanied the Miyakejima 2000 eruption. White and black arrows indicate calculated and observed displacements. Open circles are epicenters of earthquakes ($M \ge 3.5$) (Nishimura *et al.*, 2001).



Fig. 16. Southwestern view of the summit subsidence at Mt. Oyama, Miyakejima volcano. Left: Initial stage of subsidence (1.0 x 0.8 km with 0.2 km depth), taken by S. Nakada on 9 July 2000. Right: Smokes including abundant sulfur dioxides were emitted from the Oyama Caldera (1.6 km across and 0.5 km deep), taken by T. Kaneko on 4 June 2001. Both were take in the similar angles and directions.



Fig. 17. Absolute gravity changes observed at the north coast of Niyakejinma.. Thick solid line indicates observed gravity and thin solid lines residual gravities after correction for the effect of caldera collapse (Furuya *et al.*, 2003).



Fig. 18. Photo of explosion on 18 August 2000. Ash was sent up to 16 km above the crater. Taken from the Mikurajima Island about 20 km south of Miyakejima on the 18 August evening. By courtesy of K. Takeiri.



Fig. 19. Isopach map of the 18 and 29 August eruption products. Numbers of contours are in mm. The volumes of products are estimated to be 7.5 x 10⁶ m³ for 18 August and 3.4 x 10⁶ m³ for 29 August. According to M. Nagai (unpublished).



Fig. 20. Photograph of ash-cloud surge attacking the northern part of Miyakejima, Taken from northwest of Miyakejima by S. Nakada around 5:30 a.m., 29 August 2000.

underground hydrothermal expansion model (Kikuchi *et al.*, 2001). The periodical tilt changes were repeated with time intervals ranging from half a day to 2 days until 18 August 2000 (Fig. 13a).

The combined use of an absolute gravimeter FG5 with LaCoste-Romberg gravimeters enabled us to trace the accurate and

high-resolution spatio-temporal gravity variations caused by the volcanic activity (Furuya *et al.*, 2003). It was noted that the topography-corrected gravity data showed a clear decrease during the period of active subsidence and eruptions until middle August (Fig. 17). This was the essential information on the cause of repeated hydromagmatic eruptions that continued till August. Remarkable changes in the electric self-potential and geomagnetic total intensity in the island were also observed in this stage.

Explosion Stage (10 August-29 August): Explosive eruptions started on 10 August, and continued intermittently by 29 August. Caldera had grown up to about 1.5 km in diameter by early August, and was widened later by gravitational collapse of its steep walls. The largest explosion occurred on the evening of 18 August, and the eruption column reached the stratosphere (Fig. 18). Abundant ballistics including volcanic bombs fell over the summit area and volcanic ash with pebbles covered thickly most parts of the island (Fig. 19). The last tilt change took place in this explosion. Eruption of low-temperature pyroclastic flows took place on the morning of 29 August (Fig. 20). The residential area where islanders remained was enveloped by thick but not-hot and slow-moving ash cloud. However, nobody was injured by this eruption. Possibility of more explosive explosions forced the head of the Miyakejima Village to order all islanders evacuation to the main land on 3 September.

Degassing Stage (after 29 August): Plumes including abundant SO₂ had been emitted from the summit crater. The value measured with COSPEC from helicopters had increased, following the 29 August eruption. The SO₂ flux was peaked over 4×10^7 kg/day in the end of 2000 (Kazahaya *et al.*, 2001; Shinohara *et al.*, 2003). Spewing of volcanic ash took place several times in the degassing stage, accompanied by continuous volcanic tremor. According to JMA, the temperature of the craters measured from helicopter had increased up to about 400 °C by the end of 2000. Glow of the summit in night was observed in December 2000-January 2001 and November-December 2001.

Eruption Products

The total volume of deposits in July and August eruptions was about $1.7 \times 10^7 \text{ m}^3$ (2.3 x 10^{10} kg). It is much smaller than the subsidence volume of the Oyama Caldera (about $6 \times 10^8 \text{ m}^3$) (Hasegawa *et al.*, 2001). The estimated eruption rates were between 10^6 and 10^7 kg/s for the 18 and 29 August eruptions. The latter is a surprisingly high value for eruption of low temperature pyroclastic flows. Products of the 2000 eruptions show enrichment of fine materials ranging from 6 to 8 in phi scale. They have high fragmentation/dispersion ratios and the nature of phreatomagmatic eruptions. Only the product of the 18 August eruption is near vulcanian to subplinian in nature.

Fine ash of the eruptions contains abundant hydrothermal minerals of kaolinite and smectite (Yasuda *et al.*, 2002). Proportion of juvenile materials in the products is as high as 60 % for the 18 August eruption (rather magmatic), and is scarce for the 8 July, and 10, 14 and 29 August eruptions (close to phreatic). There are two kinds of juvenile materials in the 2000 eruption; aphyric glassy basaltic andesite erupted as spatters under the sea on 27 June and phyric basalt erupted as volcanic bomb on 18 August (Uto *et al.*, 2001; Yasuda *et al.*, 2001). It is likely that juvenile materials was replaced with from basaltic andesite to basalt in the middle of August (Geshi *et al.*, 2002).

(H. Watanabe and S. Nakada)

References

- *Fujita, E., Ukawa, M., Yamamoto, E., Okada, M. (2002) Scenarios of dike intrusions at the beginning of the Miyakejima volcano activities. *Bull. Earthq. Res. Inst. Univ. Tokyo*, **77**, 67-75.
- Furuya, M., Okubo, S., Sun, W., Tanaka, Y., Oikawa, J., Watanabe, H., and Maekawa, T. (2003) Spatiotemporal gravity changes at Miyakejima Volcano, Japan: Caldera collapse, explosive eruptions and magma movement. J. Geophys. Res., 108-B410.1029/2002JB001989.
- *Geshi, N., Shimano, T., Nagai, M., and Nakada, S. (2002) Magma plumbing system of the 2000 eruption on Miyakejima volcano, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 419-434.
- *Hasegawa, H., Murakami, M., Masaharu, H., Matsuo, K., and Koarai, M. (2001) Caldera subsidence measurement at Miyakejima summit. J. Geograph. Surv. Inst., 95, 121-128.
- Japan Meteorlogical Agency (JMA) (2000) Recent seismic activity in the Miyakejima and Niijima-Kozushima region, Japana The largest earthquake swarm ever recorded-. *Earth. Planets Sapce*, **5**,: I-viii.
- Kaidzu, M., Nishimura, T., Murakami, M., Ozawa, S., Sagiya, T., Yarai, H., and Imakiire, T. (2000) Crustal deformation associated with crustal activities in the northern Izu-islands area during the summer. *Earth. Planets Space*, 52. ix-xviii.
- Kaneko, T., Geshi, N., Wooster, M.J., Shimano, T., Nagai, M. and Nakada, S. (2001) RADARSAT determination of the outlines of the successively collapsing caldera at the Miyakejima 2000 eruption, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 46, 205-209.
- *Kazahaya, K., Hirabayashi, J., Mori, H., Odai, M., Nakahori, Y., Nogami, K., Nakada, S., Shinohara, H., and Uto, K. (2001) Volcanic gas study of the 2000 Miyakejima volcanic activity: degassing environment deduced from adhered gas component on ash and SO₂ emission rate. *J. Geography*, **110**: 271-179.
- *Kikuchi, M., Yamanaka, Y., Koketsu, K. (2001) Source process of the long-period seismic pulses associated with the 2000 eruption of Miyake-jima volcano, and its implications. J. Geography, 110, 204-216.
- Kumagai, H., Ohminato, T., Nakano, M., Ooi, M., Kubo, A., Inoue, H., and Oikawa, J. (2001) Very-long-period seismic signals and caldera

formation at Miyake island, Japan. Science, 293, 687-690.

- *Nakada, S., Nagai, M., Yasuda, A., Shimamoto, T., Geshi, N., Ohno, M., Akimasa, T., Kaneko, T., and Fujii, T. (2001) Chronology of the Miyakejima 2000 eruption: Characteristics of summit collapsed crater and eruption products. J. Geography, 110, 168-180.
- Nishimura, T., Ozawa, S., Murakami, M., Sagiya, T., Tada, T., Kaidzu, M., and Ukawa, M. (2001) Crustal deformation caused by magma migration in the northern Izu Islands, Japan. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **28**, 3745-3748.
- *Nishimura, T., Murakami, M., Ozawa, S., Ishimoto, M., Sagiya, T., Yarai, H., Tada, T., Kaidzu, M., and Ukawa, M. (2002) Crustal deformation and source estimation before and after the 2000 Miyakejima eruption-inflation and deflation sources from the 1983 eruption to May 2001-. *Bull. Earthq. Res. Inst. Univ. Tokyo*, 77, 55-65.
- *Sakai, S., Yamada, T., Ide, S., Mochizuki, M., Shiobara, M., Kanazawa, T., Nishizawa, A., Fujie, G., and Mikada, H. (2001) Magma migration from the point of view of seismic activity in the volcanism of Miyake-jima Island in 2000. *J. Geography*, **110**, 145-155.
- Sasai, Y., Zlotnicki, J., Nishida, Y., Uyeshima, M., Yvetot, P., Tanaka, Y., Watanabe, H., and Takahashi, Y. (2001) Evaluation of electric and magnetic field monitoring of Miyake-jima volcano (Central Japan): 1995-1999, *Annali di Geofisica*, 44, No.2, 239-260.
- *Sasai, Y., Ueshima, M., Utada, H., Kagiyama, T., Zlotnicki, J., Hashimoto, T., and Takahashi, Y. (2001) The 2000 activity of Miyake-jima volcano as inferred from electric and magnetic field observations. J. Geography, 110, 226-244.
- Shinohara, H., Kazahaya, K., Saito, G., Fukui, K., and Odai, M. (2003) Variation of CO₂/SO₂ ratio in volcanic plumes of Miyakejima: Stable degassing deduced from heliborne measurements, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 30(5), 1208, doi:10.1029.
- *Tsukui, M., Niihori, K., Kawanabe, Y., and Suzuki, Y. (2001) Stratigraphy and formation of Miyakejima Volcano. J. Geography, 110, 156-167
- Ukawa, M., Fujita, E., Yamamoto, E., Okada, Y., and Kikuchi, M. (2000) The 2000 Miyakejima eruption: Crustal deformation and earthquakes observed by the NIED Miyakejima observation network. *Earth, Planets Space*, **52**, xix-xxvi.
- *Uto, K., Kazahaya, K., Saito, G., Ito, J., Takada, A., Kawanabe, Y., Hoshizumi, H., Yamamoto, M., Miyagi, I., Tomiya, A., Sato, H., Hamasaki, S., and Shinohara, H. (2001) Magma ascending model of 2000 Miyakejima eruptions: evidence from pyroclastics of August 18 and SO₂-rich volcanic gas. *J. Geography*, **110**, 257-270.
- *Yasuda, A., Nakada, S., and Fujii, T. (2001) Sulfur abundance and redox state of melt inclusions from Miyake-jima 2000 eruption products. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 46, 165-173.
- *Yasuda, A., Nakada, S, and Fujii, T. (2002) Composition of melt inclusions from 2000 Miyakejima eruption and implications for vigorous SO₂ emission. *Bull. Earthq. Res. Inst. Univ. Tokyo*, 77, 43-54.

5. Activity of Fuji Volcano

Mt. Fuji is the largest active stratovolcano in Japan. It reaches 3776 m above sea level, making it the highest mountain in Japan. The diameter of its base is about 50 km. It is located about 100 km west of the Tokyo metropolitan area. Geologically, Mt. Fuji is a relatively young volcano, with two volcanic histories: the older Fuji (80,000 B.P. to 11,000 B.P.) and the younger Fuji (11.000 B.P. to the present) (Miyaji *et al.*, 1992). Both eruptive materials are basically basaltic in composition (Takahashi *et al.*, 1991). Historic records indicate 10 clear eruptions since 782 AD (Koyama, 1998). The most recent eruption is the "Hoei Eruption" occurring in 1707 AD, which was a plinian type eruption with total ejecta of about 1 km³. No eruptions have been recorded in the approximately 300 years since the Hoei event.

Although surface volcanic activity has been quiet in recent years, swarm-like mid-crustal low-frequency earthquakes were observed in 2000 and 2001. Because they were not accompanied by any phenomena directly warning of eruption or the upward movement of magma, it was reasonably considered that this activity was limited to the mid-crustal depth. The Subdivision of Geodesy of the Council for Science and Technology, partly due to the high degree of public interest in the volcanic activity of Mt. Fuji, presented a report comprising a plan for the improvement of understanding the volcano which proposed the setting up of observational networks. This section briefly describes the low-frequency earthquake activity seen in Mt. Fuji in 2000 and 2001, based chiefly on observations made by the National Research Institute for Earth Science and Disaster Prevention (NIED).

Low-frequency earthquakes have been detected in Mt. Fuji since the early 1980s, when seismic stations were installed in the surrounding area as part of several earthquake prediction research programs (Ukawa and Ohtake, 1984; Kanjo *et al.*, 1984; Shimozuru *et al.*, 1986). They were located at depths ranging from 10 to 20 km around the summit. Those were the first clear observations of low-frequency earthquake activity in the mid-crust beneath a volcano in the subduction regime. Since then, low-frequency earthquakes in the depth range from mid-crust to the uppermost mantle have been reported in many volcanic areas in Japan and other countries (for example, Ukawa and Ohtake, 1987; Hasegawa *et al.*, 1994; Hill, 1996; White, 1996). We call them deep low frequency (DLF) or deep long period (DLP) earthquakes.

The DLF earthquakes at Mt. Fuji have been continuously monitored by NIED, the Earthquake Research Institute of University of Tokyo (ERI) and the Japan Meteorological Agency (JMA) since the 1980s. The observation sites are shown in Fig. 21. Monitoring over the last 20 years has revealed that the ordinary activity of DLF earthquakes was low in both magnitude and occurrence number during the 1980s and 1990s. In the fall of 2000, however, the number of DLF earthquakes increased sharply, with the high activity lasting until May 2001.

A DLF event usually lasts several minutes or more, and consists of a series of small DLF earthquakes. Fig. 22 is an example of a seismogram of a DLF earthquake in comparison with an ordinary tectonic event in the same region. The amplitudes of the DLF earthquakes are in the micro-earthquake range, and since the start of the monitoring, no event larger than *M*3 has been observed. The predominant frequencies of most events range from 1 to 3 Hz, far lower than the expected predominant frequencies of tectonic earthquakes of the same magnitude range.

Since the DLF earthquakes at Mt. Fuji have a tendency to arrive in a series, it is difficult to count their number because the coda waves of successive events often overlap. For this reason, NIED treats one continuous vibration in a seismogram as a single event. We measure the duration time and maximum amplitude of each event and draw diamond diagrams to express the activity (Ukawa and Ohtake, 1984). Fig. 23 is a diamond diagram of activity since 1980 recorded by NIED, showing each event as a diamond (width=maximum amplitude and height=duration time).



Fig. 21. Map showing permanent observation sites with seismometers and tilt-meters belonging to NIED, ERI and JMA. Solid symbols indicate stations installed before the 2000 high DLF earthquake activity, and open symbols are those installed from 2001 up to now (April 2003).



Fig. 22. Examples of three component seismograms of the DLF at Mt. Fuji in comparison with those of a tectonic earthquake around Mt. Fuji. The seismograms were recorded at FJN station of the NIED observation network.



Fig. 23. A diamond-diagram showing the DLF earthquake activity during the period from 1980 to 2000 (NEID, 2002). The height of a diamond indicates the duration time of the successive DLF earthquakes, and the width indicates the maximum amplitude during the event. The duration time and maximum amplitude are measured on the seismograms of mainly TRU and FJN in Fig. 21.

During the period 1980-1999, the total number of DLF events was 274, while in 2000 and 2001 the DLF events numbered 180 and 172, respectively. The duration time of the longest event is 30 minutes and the magnitude of the largest event is in the *M*2 class. Fig. 24 shows the cumulative number of DLF events, indicating that the occurrence rate in the 1980s and in the early 1990s is fairly constant with some small step-like increases, seen for example in 1987 and 1989. The rate slightly increased from the middle of 1990s. This change is due to the improvement of observational networks around Mt. Fuji. The abrupt increase from October 2000 to May 2001 is the most distinctive change since the start of the observation.

The DLF events have been located at 2–4 km northeast of the summit in the depth range 10–20 km. Fig. 25 compares the hypocenter distribution from April 1995 to July 2000, pre-swarm period, with that from August 2000 to July 2001. No significant change is recognized either in the epicenter or focal depth.

In the active period of the DLF earthquakes, tectonic earthquake activity in the Mt. Fuji area increased slightly. In Fig. 25, clusters of



Fig. 24. Cumulative number of the DLF events from Jan. 1980 to Jan. 2003. The dataset is the same as those in Fig. 23.



Fig. 25. Hypocenter distribution maps around Mt. Fuji determined by the NIED. The left is the hypocenters from April 1995 to July 2000, and the right is those from August 2000 to July 2001, which includes the period of the high DLF earthquake activity. The solid symbols indicate the DLF earthquakes.

tectonic earthquakes can be seen at the southwestern flank of Mt. Fuji. The focal depths range from 8 to 12 km. The low-level activity of these tectonic events probably indicates minor stress change beneath the volcano. No volcanic tremors, large earthquake swarm activity or abnormal crustal deformations were detected in or around Mt. Fuji in this or any other period. Since the abnormal activity was limited to the mid-crustal depth beneath the volcano, we concluded that magma did not migrate upwards.

In response to the report on the observation plan of Mt. Fuji presented by the Council for Science and Technology in 2001, the JMA has installed new seismic stations in high altitude areas, and the ERI is constructing three borehole stations with seismometers and/or a tilt-meter on the northeastern middle flank. The GSI has installed several GPS stations around Mt. Fuji, including the summit, and the NIED is constructing two borehole observational sites with tilt-meters and seismometers on the mid-flank of the volcano. This development of observational networks is undoubtedly contributing to the improvement of monitoring volcanic activity and of research into the volcano. The Coordinating Committee for Prediction of Volcanic Eruption has formed a working group to address topics related to expected phenomena if future eruptions occur, especially focusing on the potential for Hoei-type eruptions, and on the recommendation of a suitable observation network.

Concerning the hazard mitigation aspects of Mt. Fuji, the Committee for the Hazard Map of Mt. Fuji has carried out a two-year project, starting in 2001, to study past volcanic hazards around Mt. Fuji and to establish methods for hazard mitigation in the Mt. Fuji area. A variety of volcanic hazards is expected during future eruptions of Mt. Fuji, including lava flows, ash falls, pyroclastic flows and debris flows. To evaluate

these volcanic hazards, the committee has summarized previous studies and carried out onsite geological research to improve the database. Hazard mitigation plans for affected local governments will be designed based on the Committee's final report.

(Motoo Ukawa)

References

- Hasegawa A. and Yamamoto, A. (1994) Deep, low-frequency microearthquakes in or around seismic low-velocity zones beneath active volcanoes in northeastern Japan. *Tectonophys.*, **233**, 233-252.
- Hill, D. P. (1996) Earthquakes and carbon dioxide beneath Mammoth mountain, California, Seismological Research Letters, 67, 8-13.
- Kanjo, K., Karakama, I. and Matsu'ura, R. (1984) seismic activity of Mt. Fuji region detected by continuous observation of micro-earthquakes, J. Phys. Earth, 32, 463-468.
- Koyama, M. (1998) Reevaluation of the eruptive history of Fuji volcano, Japan, mainly based on historical documents. *Bull. Volc. Soc. Japan*, **43**, 323-348.
- Miyaji, N., Endo, K., Togashi, S. and Uesugi, Y. (1992) Tephrochronological history of Mt. Fuji. 29th IUGG FIELD TRIP C12, 75-109.
- National Research Institute for Earth Science and Disaster Prevention (2002) Low frequency earthquakes and tilt changes at Mount Fuji. *Report on Coordinating Committee for Prediction of Volcanic Eruption*, **79**, 95-100.
- Shimozuru, D, Osada, N. and Miyazaki, T. (1986) Seismic and tilt monitoring of Mount Fuji during the period from October 1982 to December 1984, *Bull. Earthq. Res. Inst.*, **61**, 587-613.
- Takahashi, M., Hasegawa, Y., Tsukui, M. and Nemoto, Y. (1991) Evolution of Magma plumbing system beneath Fuji volcano: On the view point of whole rock chemistry. Bull. Volc. Soc. Japan, 36, 269-280.
- Ukawa, M. and Ohtake, M. (1984) Peculiar microearthquake activity just beneath Mt. Fuji. J. Seismol. Soc. Japan, 37, 129-133.
- Ukawa, M. and Ohtake, M. (1987) A monochromatic earthquake suggesting deep-seated magmatic activity beneath the Izu-Ooshima volcano, Japan. J. Geophys. Res., 92, 12649-12663.
- White, R. A. (1996) Precursory deep long-period earthquakes at Mount Pinatubo: spatio-temporal link to basaltic trigger. Fire and Mud, ed. C. G. Newhall and R. S. Punongbayang, 307-326.

6. The 2000 Eruption at Usu Volcano

Nakada (2001) and Ui *et al.* (2002a) reported the sequence of Usu 2000 eruption. The eruption started at 1:07 PM, March 31 following 3-and-a-half days precursory activities of earthquakes and ground cracking. Initial explosion took place at the western lower slope of the volcanic edifice discharging ash plume. Ballistics were thrown at least 1.2 km away from the source. The initial vigorous phreatomagmatic explosion moved gradually into phreatic eruption with vertical cock's tail jets in early April. Hot lahars were discharged from some of the craters. The phreatic eruption was replaced by intermittent small explosion in mid-April and by continuous steaming that often included ash emissions. A small-scale and flat-topped cryptodome was formed during this stage. Graben-like fault swarms were formed above the cryptodome. More than 60 explosion craters were formed by late April. Then the eruptive activity concentrated on a few craters and bursting-type explosion with air shock wave frequently occurred at the water-saturated crater floor. Geothermal activity became clear on and around the cryptodome since middle May and then amount of steam decreased with time.

Event of the March 31 phreatomagmatic eruption was analysed in detail correlating video footage and analysis of the proximal deposit (Takarada *et al.*, 2002). Totally 11 sandy coarse layers and 9 silty matrix-supported layers were identified 90 m away from the crater rim. These layers are correlated with each eruption event observed from 13:07 to 17:25 on March 31. The deposit consists of fresh juvenile fragments up to 20 mm in diameter, accessory fragments, accidental fragments and aggregate of ash (Tomiya *et al.*, 2001; Nagai *et al.*, 2002). The deposit is interpreted as a product of dry pyroclastic surge derived from the collapse of low eruption column (Ui *et al.*, 2002b). Maximum travel distance was 1-2 km (Yamamoto, 2001). Wet pyroclastic surge deposits was also identified during phreatic eruption stage. Maximum travel distance of wet surge was about 600 m away from the source (Ui *et al.*, 2002). Ash sample from the ejecta during March 31 to early April contain Miocene altered felsic volcanic rocks suggesting that the fragmentation by the eruptions occurred at depths below ca. 1000 m and more (Yahata, 2002). Yahata (2002) also suggested that fragmentation occurred shallower than several hundred meters below after middle April.

Takarada *et al.* (2001) estimated total amount of ash discharged by April 4 as 1.24×10^8 kg judging from tephra fall data at proximal and medial region. However, Ohno *et al.* (2002) concluded amount of the pyroclastic deposits from the entire Usu 2000 eruption is more than 6.4 x 10^8 kg.

Hirose and Tajika (2002) described three different types of surface ruptures, compressional, tensional and strike-slip regimes. Miura and Niida (2002) suggested by means of aerial photograph interpretation that formation of the cryprodome is due to the two stage growth, consisting of initial dike intrusion and subsequent shallow inflation and lateral extension of magma from the dike tip.

Chemical composition of juvenile fragment is slightly less differentiated than those of 1977-78 eruption (Tomiya *et al.*, 2001; Nakagawa *et al.*, 2002). This suggests that distinct and/or modified magma system has been active in the 2000 eruption (Nakagawa *et al.*, 2002). Tomiya and Miyagi (2002) proposed magma-feeding system for Usu 2000 eruption by petrological and experimental data. The 2000 eruption is inferred to have started by an ascent of magma from 10-km chamber, followed by its injection to the 5-km depth chamber, as well as other historical eruptions. The magma ejected during the 2000 eruption shows no evidence of magma mixing, indicating that this magma was derived from only top layer of the shallower chamber. Suzuki and Nakada (2001, 2002) made bubble size distribution analysis and measurement of water content in groundmass glass. They concluded that magma ascent rate was slow to allow gas escape up to 5-km depth chamber. Then disequilibrium in water exsolution can be caused by acceleration of magma ascent and fragmentation of juvenile material may have been caused by water quenching.

(Tadahide Ui)

References

Hirose, W. and Tajika, J. (2002) Surface ruptures induced by Usu 2000 eruption, at the western flank of Usu volcano, southwestern Hokkaido, *Japan. Bull.Volcanol.Soc.Japan*, **47**, 571-586.

- Miura, D. and Niida, K. (2002) Two-stage growth model of cryptodome by shallow intrusion, the 2000 eruption of Usu volcano, northern *Japan. Bull.Volcanol.Soc.Japan*, **47**, 119-130.
- Nagai, D., Endo, K., Kunikata, M., Nakayama, S., Motomatsu, F., Ohno, M., Chiba, T. and Suzuki, M. (2002) Grain size distribution and aggregate structure of volcanic ash produced during the phreatomagmatic eruption on March 31, 2000, Usu volcano. *Bull.Volcanol.Soc.Japan*, 47, 607-617.
- Ohno, M., Kunikata, M., Suzuki, M., Nishimura, Y., Nagai, D., Endo, K., Chiba, T. and Morohoshi, M. (2002) Stratigraphical sequence of the pyroclastic deposits derived from the Usu 2000 eruption. *Bull.Volcanol.Soc.Japan*, 47, 619-643.

Nakada, S. (2001) Sequence of the 2000 eruption at Usu volcano, Japan. Bull.Earthq.Res.Inst., 76, 203-214.

Nakagawa, M., Ishizuka, Y., Yoshimoto, M., Kudo, T., Aizawa, K., Kitagawa, J., Hiraga, N., Matsumoto, A., Togari, H., Takahashi, R., Ishii, E., Egusa, M., Seino, T., Amma-Miyasaka, M., Wada, K. and Niida, K. (2002) Eruptive materials of the 2000 eruption of Usu volcano, northern Japan: Component materials and their temporal change. *Bull.Volcanol.Soc.Japan*, 47, 279-288.

Suzuki, Y. and Nakada, S. (2001) Timing of vesiculation and crystallization during magma ascent -Example of the phreatomagmatic phase in

Usu 2000 eruption-. Bull.Earthq.Res.Inst., 76, 253-268.

- Suzuki, Y. and Nakada, S. (2002) Vesiculation and magma ascent process in the Usu 2000 eruption, inferred from texture and size distribution of bubbles. *Bull. Volcanol.Soc.Japan*, **47**, 675-688.
- Takarada, S., Yoshimoto, M., Kitagawa, J., Hiraga, N., Yamamoto, T., Kawanabe, Y., Takada, A., Nakano, S., Hoshizumi, H., Miyagi, I., Nishimura, Y., Miura, D., Hirose, W., Ishimaru, S., Kakihara, Y., Endo, Y., Yahata, M., Norota, S., Niida, K., Ishizuka, Y., Kudo, T., Aizawa, K., Honma, H., Egusa, M., Ishii, E. and Takahashi, R. (2001) Volcanic ash falls from the Usu 2000 eruption and situation at the source area. *Bull.Geol.Suev.Japan*, **52**, 167-179.
- Takarada, S., Hoshizumi, H., Miyagi, I., Nishimura, Y., Miyabuchi, Y., Miura, D. and Kawanabe. Y. (2002) Proximal deposits of the Usu 2000 eruption. *Bull.Volcanol.Soc.Japan*, 47, 645-661.
- Tomiya, A., Miyagi, I., Hoshizumi, H., Yamamoto, T., Kawanabe, Y. and Sato, H. (2001) Essential material of the March 31, 2000 eruption of Usu volcano: Implication for the mechanism of the phreatomagmatic eruption. *Bull.Geol.Surv.Japan*, **52**, 215-229.
- Tomiya, A. and Miyagi, I. (2002) The eruptive products and magma process of March 31, 2000 eruption of Usu volcano. *Bull.Volcanol.Soc.Japan*, 47, 663-673.
- Ui, T., Nakagawa, M., Inaba, C., Yoshimoto, M. and Geological Party, Joint Research Group for the Usu 2000 Eruption (2002a) Sequence of the 2000 eruption, Usu volcano. *Bull. Volcanol.Soc. Japan*, 47, 105-117.
- Ui, T., Ikeda, Y., Koyama, M., Suzuki-Kamata, K., Okada, Hm. and Niida, K. (2002b) Pyroclastic surges occurred during the 2000 eruption of Usu volcano. *Bull.Volcanol.Soc.Japan*, 47, 333-337.
- Yahata, M. (2002) Fragmentation depths and its temporal variation during 2000 phreatomagamatic- and phreatic eruptions. *Bull.Volcanol.Soc.Japan*, **47**, 263-278.
- Yamamoto, T. (2001) The 2000 eruption of Usu volcano, Japan: Characteristics of phreatomagmatic explosions and hazard evaluation for pyroclastic density currents. *Bull.Geol.Surv.Japan*, 52, 231-239.

III. Geophysical Study

The works on geophysics done in the last 4 years in Japan are summarized according to the following five categories: (1) monitoring of volcanic activity, (2) structure of volcanoes, (3) source processes of volcano earthquakes and tremor, (4) dynamics of volcanic eruptions, and (5) mantle dynamics and magma migration

Monitoring of Volcanic Activity

Various kinds of techniques based on seismology, geodesy, electricity and magnetisms and so on have been applied to clarify the volcanic activities in Japan. In the last 4 years, high-quality data from dense geophysical networks have been utilized for evaluating magma activities on and beneath the volcanoes.

Dense seismic networks consisting of broadband and short-period seismometers and high resolution data acquisition systems enable us to determine precise hypocenters of VT, LP, VLP, tremor and/or to clarify magma transport system at Usu, Towada, Iwate, Bandai, Miyakejima, Unzen, Kuju, Aso, Satsuma-Iwojima, Kuchierabujima, Nevado del Ruiz volcanoes (Ueno *et al.*, 2002; Ohtani *et al.*, 2002; Tanaka *et al.*, 2002; Nishimura *et al.*, 2002; Fujita *et al.*, 2001; Yoshikawa *et al.*, 2000; Yoshikawa *et al.*, 2002; Umakoshi *et al.*, 2001, Umakoshi *et al.*, 2002; Sudo and Ikebe, 2001; Iguchi *et al.*, 1999; Iguchi *et al.*, 2001; Londono and Sudo, 2001). Shallow volcanic and tectonic earthquake activities are discussed with the static change of the stress field due to the magma intrusions and migrations (Nishimura *et al.*, 2001a; Ueki and Miura, 2002). Regional seismic networks deployed in and around volcanoes captured deep low frequency events beneath Tohoku district and Miyakejima and Yakedake volcanoes (Okada and Hasegawa, 2000; Fujita and Ukawa, 2000; Ohmi *et al.*, 2001). Temporal ocean bottom seismographic observations determine precise hypocenters relating magma intrusions around Miyakejima-Kozushima-Niijima islands in 2000 (Nishizawa *et al.*, 2001; Nishizawa *et al.*, 2002a). Software for monitoring running spectrum of real-time seismic data is also developed (Aoyama *et al.*, 2000).

Dense geodetic networks have been temporally and/or permanently deployed around volcanoes to detect magma intrusions and migrations. GPS networks around Usu, Iwate, Miyakejima, Kozujima, and Kuju volcanoes, Izu islands and Hachobaru geothermal area are utilized for determining the locations and amounts of dike intrusions (Kimata et al., 2002; Okazaki et al., 2002; Fujiwara et al., 2002; Takahashi et al., 2002a; Miura et al., 2000; Terai et al., 2001; Sato et al., 2002b; Kimata et al., 1999; Nishimura et al., 2001a; Sakamura et al., 2001). GPS and EDM observation revealed inflation/deflation process of volcances or downward flow of lava dome on the slope (Nakaboh, 2002; Matsushima and Takagi, 2000; Nishi et al., 1999). Tilt measurements captured crustal deformation relating magma intrusions at Miyakejima (Fujita et al., 2002b) and lava dome extrusions at Unzen volcano (Yamashina and Shimizu, 1999). Leveling detected upheaval of ground before the M6.1 earthquake took place southwest area of Iwate volcano (Doi et al., 1999). Strain offsets associated with monotonous damped oscillations during the 1986 Izu-Oshima volcano are observed by geodetic measurements with a high sampling rate (Fujita et al., 2000). Photograph analyses and theodolite measurements are utilized for measuring the ground deformation and detecting the volume source at Unzen and Usu volcanoes (Saito and Suto, 2002; Suto et al., 2002; Takagi, et al., 2002; Koarai et al., 2002). A new convenient method using time-differential stereoscopy is proposed to detect volcanic deformation and is applied at Unzen and Usu volcanoes (Yamashina et al., 1999; Yamashina and Nishimura, 2001). SAR is used for measuring topographic changes associated with the 2000 caldera formation of Miyakejima volcano (Sato et al., 2002a), spatial distribution of pylocrastic flow of Merapi volcano (Koike, et al., 2002), and volcanic inflation of Iwate volcano (Nishimura et al., 2001a). Absolute and relative gravitational observations succeeded to detect a caldera formation process associated with the 2000 activity of Miyakejima (Furuya et al., 2001). Precise gravity change is detected by correcting accurate ocean tide loading at Sakurajima volcano (Yamamoto et al., 2001). Volcanic activities of Sakurajima influenced by periodic anomalous vertical crustal movement are studied (Tanaka, 2000).

Electric and magnetic observations are utilized for detecting temporal and spatial changes of shallow volcanic systems at active volcanoes in Japan. A precursory magnetic anomaly, which is ascribed to be thermal demagnetization, is reported at the 2000 volcanic activity of Miyakejima (Sasai, *et al.*, 2001ab). Geomagnetic observations detect heat discharging process at shallow parts of Iwoyama and Kuju volcanoes (Hashimoto *et al.*, 2002; Sakanaka *et al.*, 2001) and are utilized for monitoring of activity of Aso volcano (Hashimoto *et al.*, 2001). Continuous monitoring system of geomagnetic total intensity using satellite telecommunication is deployed at Kuchinoerabujima volcano (Kanda *et al.*, 2001). Temporal change of geoelectric difference is observed at Niijima volcano prior to the volcanic activity around Izu islands (Tanaka, 2000). Thermal infrared analysis is applied to the eruptive activity of the 2000 eruption of Usu (Kaneko *et al.*, 2002) and multitemporal observations using airborne multispectral scanners are conducted for the 2000 Usu eruption (Jitsufuchi, *et al.*, 2002).

Infrasound data are utilized for determining the source location and/or monitoring the volcanic activities of Usu (Yamasato *et al.*, 2002; Aoyama *et al.*, 2002) and Sakurajima volcano (Garcez *et al.*, 1999). Eruption clouds are studied from a geostationally meteorological satellite (HIMAWARI) images (Sawada, 2002).

Recent activities of Satsuma-Iwojima, Kuchierabujima, Kuju, Miyakejima, Unzen volcanoes are discussed through multiparameter measurements based on seismic, geodetic, heat, gravitational observations and/or geological field works (Iguchi *et al.*, 2002ab; Ehara *et al.*, 2000; Fujimitsu *et al.*, 1999; Nakada *et al.*, 1999; Ukawa *et al.*, 2000; Voight *et al.*, 2000).

Structure of Volcanoes

Three dimensional seismic structures of volcanoes are revealed by tomography methods using natural eartqhaueke data at Aso (Sudo and Kong, 2001), Kuju (Yoshikawa *et al.*, 2002), Usu (Onizawa *et al.*, 2002b) and Nevado del Ruizu (Londono and Sudo, 2002). A simultaneous seismic wave velocity and crustal density inversion is applied to the shallow structure of Izu-Ooshima (Onizawa *et al.*, 2002a). Arrival times and pulse width are used for tomographic inversion of P-wave velocity and Q-structures of Kirishima volcano (Tomatsu *et al.*, 2001). Artificial seismic experiments are conducted for determining the 3D shallow structure of Iwate and Unzen volcanoes (Tanaka *et al.*, 2002a; Nishi, 2002), and air-gun sources in the ocean are utilized for clarifying the velocity structure around submarine volcanoes and Shimabara peninsula (Nishizawa *et al.*, 1999, Nisihzawa *et al.*, 2000, Nishizawa *et al.*, 2002b; Takahashi *et al.*, 2002b). Receiver function analysis is applied to the crustal structure beneath Iwate volcano (Nakamichi, *et al.* 2002). Converted phases are used for determining boundary of a shallow structure of Kuju volcano (Tanaka *et al.*, 2000), and distinct reflected S reflector is observed in the uppermost mantle beneath Osoresan volcano (Hori and Hasegawa, 1999). Temporal changes of seismic structure are studied around Iwate volcanoe by using artificial seismic sources (Nishimura *et al.*, 1999), and new techniques for measuring slight change of the structure are developed (Yamaoka *et al.*, 2001; Yamaoka *et al.*, 2002). Three dimensional thermal structure of the crust beneath Nikko volcano group is determining complex travel times (arrival times and pulse width) (Hasada *et al.*, 2001), and a new algorithm for calculating shortest path of seismic ray in 3D is developed (Nishi, 2001).

Detailed gravitational studies are conducted at Toga and Sakurajima volcanoes and Hida mountains (Kiztsunezaki *et al.*, 2002; Miyamachi *et al.*, 2000; Gennai *et al.*, 2002).

Magnetotelluric soundings detected low-electric resistivity zones representing magma chambers, melting zones, and/or ground water layers beneath Tateyama volcano, Aso caldera, and Taupo volcanic zone (Ogawa *et al.*, 2002; Handa and Tanaka, 1999; Ogawa *et al.*, 1999). Electric resistivity structure is also investigated for Usu and Norikura volcanoes (Matsushima *et al.*, 2001; Fujita *et al.*, 1999). Electric self-potential measurements are conducted at Sakurajima and Aso volcano to detect hydrothermal systems (Hashimoto *et al.*, 1999; Hase *et al.*, 2000). Three-dimensional geomagnetic tomography method is applied to the data obtained before the 2000 Miyakejima eruption (Ueda *et al.*, 2001b). A helicopter-borne electromagnetic survey is conducted to better understand the subsurface structure of Usu volcano (Okuma *et al.*, 2002).

Geophysical structure of the Myojinsho caldera is investigated from acoustic-sounds, geomagnetic and gravity data and topography (Ueda *et al.*, 2001). Zeta-potential is also measured for various rock samples of Aso (Hase *et al.*, 2002).

Source Process of Volcano Earthquakes and Tremor

Source mechanisms of very long period seismic events observed at Usu, Iwate and Aso volcanoes are investigated through waveform analyses to clarify the magma and hydrothermal system beneath the volcanoes (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2002; Nishimura *et al.*, 2000; Yamamoto *et al.*, 1999, Kawakatsu *et al.*, 2000; Legrand *et al.*, 2000). Sources of very long period signals associated with caldera formations of Miyakejima volcanoes are examined through analyses of broadband seismograms (Kumagai *et al.*, 2001) and step signals recorded by tilt meters (Fujita *et al.*, 2002a). Source mechanisms of explosion earthquakes at Sakurajima volcano and long period events at Asama and Usu volcanoes are studied by moment tensor analyses (Tameguri *et al.*, 2002; Aoyama and Takeo, 2001; Yoshida *et al.*, 2002). Hydrothermal system is studied through the analyses of complex frequencies and moment tensors of long-period events at Kusatsu-Shirane volcano (Kumagai *et al.*, 2002ab). Pilsative seismic events observed at Tsurumi volcano are studied by using dense seismic array data (Mori *et al.*, 2000). Seismic observation at Iwo-jima detected small earthquake activity triggered by surface waves of teleseismic events (Ukawa *et al.*, 2002). Relations between volcanic eruptions, inland earthquakes, and great tectonic earthquakes in and around north-eastern Japan island arc is discussed (Churei, 2002). Acoustic properties of a crack including magmatic or hydrothermal fluid (Kugamai and Chouet, 1999, 2000, 2001) and low attenuation resonance of a spherical magma chamber (Fujita and Ida, 1999) are theoretically studied.

Dynamics of Volcanic Eruptions

Laboratory experiments on fragmentation of a porous viscoelastic material are conducted to understand magma fragmentation (Ichihara *et al.*, 2002). Field explosion experiments are conducted for examining the effects of explosion energy and depth on the nature of explosion cloud and pressure-wave forms (Ohba *et al.*, 2002; Goto *et al.*, 2001), and the results are utilized for understanding the 2000 Usu phreatic explosions (Yokoo *et al.*, 2002). Motions of vapor/gas bubbles in a fluid flow are numerically investigated to evaluate their effects to the hydrothermal system (Kawashima *et al.*, 2001). Blast waves caused by explosions are simulated by using a three dimensional computational code (Saito *et al.*, 2001), and tsunami is calculated for the Nuuanu and Wailau giant landslide, Hawaii (Satake *et al.*, 2002). A dynamical model is proposed to explain the periodic nature of the 2000 Usu eruption (Maeda, 2002).

Mantle Dynamics and Magma Migrations

Magmatism beneath the Japan arc are studied based on the results of numerical simulations, and seismic structures and/or geologic data (Iwamori and Zhao, 2000; Furukawa *et al.*, 1999; Tamura *et al.*, 2001; Tamura *et al.*, 2002; Zhao *et al.*, 2000). Experimental study on Rayleigh-Taylor instability is conducted to understand interaction and spacing of diapers (Kumagai and Kurita, 2000). Effect of the viscosity ratio on entrainment and stirring of mantle plume are studied (Kumagai, 2002). Deflection of volcanic chains towards backarc is discussed with lower temperature due to subducting plates (Iwamori 2000). Observed magma supply rate and magma partitioning in various volcanoes are discussed with tectonic settings (Takada *et al.*, 1999). Numerical simulations examine influence of a magma chamber on thermal structure of the surrounding crust (Tomiya, 2000).

(Takeshi Nishimura)

References

- Adachi, Y., Sato, H, Muro, K., Hasegawa, A. and Matsumoto, S. (1999) Three-dimensional thermal structure of the crust beneath the Nikko Volcano Group, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **44**, 183-190.*
- Aoyama, H. and Takeo, M. (2001) Wave properties and focal mechanisms of N-type earthquakes at Asama volcano. *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **105**, 163-182, 2001.
- Aoyama, H., Oshima, H. and Maekawa, T. (2002) Volcano acoustic activity associated with the eruption of Mt. Usu, in 2000. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 47, 521-532.*
- Aoyama, H., Takeo, M. and Watanabe, H. (2000) Development of running spectrum analysis software for real-time seismic data. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 45, 323-329.**
- Churei, M. (2002) Relationships between eruptions of volcanoes, inland earthquakes (M≥6.2) and great tectonic earthquakes in and around north-eastern Japan island arc. J. Geogr., 111, 175-184.*
- Doi, N., Kajiwara, T. and Aoyama, K. (1999) Upheaval of ground detected by leveling before the earthquake September 3, 1998 at the southwest area of the Iwate volcano. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 44, 255-260.**
- Ehara, S., Fujimitsu, Y., Nishijima, J., Fukuoka, K., Kawaguchi, M., Kudou, T. and Shibata, H. (2000) The 1995 phreatic eruption of Kuju Volcano, Central Kyushu, Japan and changes in thermal properties after the eruption. *Geotherm. Res. Rep. of Kyushu University*, **9**, 87-95.*
- Fujimitsu, Y., Ehara, S., Nakano, Y., Nishijima, J. and Koya, M., (1999) Water discharge and recharge balance of Kuju Volcano, Japan, deduced from thermal and gravity measurements. *Geothermal Resources Council Transactions*, 23, 415-418.
- Fujita, E., Fukao, Y. and Kanjo, K. (2000) Strain offsets associated with monotonous damped oscillations during the 1986 Izu-Oshima Volcano eruption. J. Geophys. Res., 105, 443-462.
- Fujita, E. and Ida, Y. (1999) Low attenuation resonance of a spherical magma chamber: Source mechanism of volcanic tremor at Asama volcano, Japan. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 26, 3221-3224.
- Fujita, E. and Ukawa, M. (2000) Deep low frequency earthquakes beneath Miyakejima volcano. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 45, 295-299.**
- Fujita, E., Ukawa, M. and Yamamoto, E. (2002a) Cyclic jerky opeing of magma sheet and caldera formation during the 2000 Miyakejima volcano eruption. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 29, 10.1029/2001GL013848.
- Fujita, E. Ukawa, M, Yamamoto, E. and Okada, Y. (2002b) Scenarios of dike intrusions at the beginning of the Miyakejima voclano activities. *Bull. Earthq. Res. Inst.*, **77**, 67-75.*
- Fujita, E., Yamamoto, E. and Ukawa, M. (2001) Volcanic earthquakes and tremors associated with the 2000 Miyakejima volcano eruption. *J. Geogr.*, **110**, 191-203.*
- Fujita, K., Y. Ogawa, M. Ichiki, S. Yamaguchi and Y. Makino (1999) Audio frequency magnetotelluric survey of Norikura volcano in the central Japan. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 90, 209-217.
- Fujiwara, K., Tanaka, K., Kitagawa, S., Katayama, H., Matsushima, I., Uchida, N., Churei, M., Tokunaga, N.and Masunari, T. (2002) Quasi-real-time GPS observation system deployed at Usu volcano, Hokkaido Japan. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 47, 695-698.*
- Furukawa, Y. and Tatsumi, Y. (1999) Melting of a subducting slab and production of high-Mg andesite magma: Unusual magmatism in SW Japan at 13~15 Ma. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 26, 2271-2274.
- Furuya, M., Okubo, S., Tanaka, Y., Sun, W., Watanabe, H., Oikawa, J. and Maekawa, T. (2001) Caldera formation process during the Miyakejima 2000 volcanic activity detected by spatio-temporal gravity changes, J. Geogr., 110, No.2, 217-225.*
- Garcez, M., Iguchi, M., Ishihara, K., Morrissey M. Sudo Y., Tsutsui, T. (1999) Infrasonic precursors to a Vulcanian eruption at Sakurajima Volcano, Japan. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 26, 2537-2540.
- Gennai, N., Hiramatsu, Y. and Kono, Y. (2002) Three-dimensional distribution of an extremely low-density body beneath the Hida Mountains, Central Japan, as estimated from gravity anomaly. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 411-418.*
- Goto, A., Taniguchi, H., Yoshida, M., Ohba, T.and Oshima, H. (2001): Effect of explosion energy and depth to the pressure-wave form of a

blast wave: Field experimental study for the understanding of volcanic blast wave. Geophys. Res. Lett., 28, 4287-4290.

- Handa, S. and Tanaka, Y.(1999) The electric low-resistivity layer beneath the active crater of Aso volcano, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 44, 191-200.
- Hasada, Y., Kumagai, H. and Kumazawa, M. (2001) Autoregressive modeling of transfer functions in frequency domain to determine complex travel times, *Earth Planets Space*, **53**, 3-11.
- Hase, H., Takakura, S., Ishido, T., Sato, K., Hashimoto, T., Tanaka, Y. and Ohkura, T. (2002) Measurement of zeta-potential in various rock samples of Aso volcano. *Ann. Disast. Prev. Res. Inst., Kyoto Univ.*, **45B**, 645-656.*
- Hase, H., Tanaka, Y. Hashimoto, T. and Sakanaka, S. (2000) Self-potential measurements on the central cones of Aso Volcano. *Ann. Disast. Prev. Res. Inst., Kyoto Univ.*, **43B-1**, 47-53.*
- Hashimoto, T. Utsugi, M. Sakanaka, S. and Tanaka, Y. (2002) Heat discharging process and geomagnetic changes of Iwoyama, Kuju, volcano. Ann. Disast. Prev. Res. Inst., Kyoto Univ., **45B**, 617-625.*
- Hashimoto, T., Tanaka, Y., Nishida, Y., Mogi, T., Yamamoto, K., Kanda, W., Hirabayashi, J. and Ishihara, K. (1999) Self-potential and hydrothermal system in Sakurajima volcano (2). *Ann. Disast. Prev. Res. Inst., Kyoto Univ.*, **42B-1**, 19-25.*
- Hashimoto, T., Tanaka, Y. and Utsugi, M (2001) Geomagnetic variation observed at Aso volcano during the past ten years (1991-2000). *Ann. Disast. Prev. Res. Inst., Kyoto Univ.*, **44B-1**, 333-343.*
- Hori, S and Hasegawa, A (1999) Distinct S-wave reflector detected in the uppermost mantle beneath Osoresan Volcano, NE Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **44**, 83-91.*
- Ichihara, M., Rittel, D. and Sturtevant, B. (2002) Fragmentation of a porous viscoelastic material: Implications to magma fragmentation. *J. Geophys. Res.*, **107**, doi:10.1029/2001JB000591.
- Iguchi, M., Saito, E., Nishi, Y. and Tameguri, T. (2002a) Evaluation of recent activity at Satsuma-Iwojima Felt earthquake on June 8, 1996 -. *Earth Planets Space*, **54**, 187-195.
- Iguchi, M., et al. (1999) Volcanic activity at Satsuma-Iwojima during 1995-1998. Ann. Disast. Prev. Res. Inst., Kyoto Univ., 42B-1, 1-10.*
- Iguchi, M., et al. (2001) Characteristics of volcanic earthquakes at Kuchierabujima volcano-geophysical and geochemical joint observation 2000-. Ann. Disast. Prev. Res. Inst., Kyoto Univ., 44B-1, 317-326.*
- Iguchi, M., et al. (2002b) Recent ground deformation at Kuchierabujima volcano. Ann. Disast. Prev. Res. Inst., Kyoto Univ., 45B, 601-608.*
- Iwamori, H. (2000) Deep subduction of H2O and deflection of volcanic chain towards backarc near triple junction due to lower temperature, *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **181**, 41-46.
- Iwamori, H. and Zhao, D. (2000) Melting and seismic structure beneath the northeast Japan arc. Geophys. Res. Lett., 27, 425-428.
- Jitsufuchi, T., Ukawa, M., Fujita, E., Okada, Y., Miyasaka, S., Akaike, K. and Matsuoka, S. (2002) Multitemporal observations of the 2000 Usu eruption using airborne multispectral Scanners. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 297-323.*
- Kanda, W., Tanaka, Y., Utsugi, M., Iguchi, M. and Ishihara, K. (2001) Monitoring geomagnetic total intensity using satellite telecommunication at Kuchierabujima valcano. Ann. Disast. Prev. Res. Inst., Kyoto Univ., 44B-1,327-332.*
- Kaneko, T., Munekane, H., Wooster, M. J. and Kagiyama, T. (2002) Thermal infrared analysis of the eruptive activity of the Kompirayama and Nishiyama Craters: the 2000 eruption of Usu, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 289-296.*
- Kawakatsu, H., Kanashima, S., Matsubayashi, H., Ohminato, T., Sudo, Y., Tsutsui, T., Uhira, K., Yamasato, H., Ito, H. and Legrand, D. (2000) Aso94: Aso seismic observation with broadband instruments. *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, 101, 129-154.
- Kawashima, H., Ichihara, M. and Kameda, M. (2001) Oscillation of avapor/gas bubble with heat and mass transport, *Transactions of the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers, Series B*, **67**, 2234-2242.
- Kimata, F., Kariya, S., Fujita, M., Matsumoto, K., Tabei, T., Segawa, J. and Yamada, A. (1999) Crustal movements in Kozu Island, Izu islands in southern central Japan, detected by GPS measurements (July,1996-November,1997). *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 44, 13-22.*
- Kimata, F., Mori, H. and Yamamoto, K. (2002) Real time monitor of grand deformation at Usu volcano using RTKGPS measurements (April 15-30, 2000). Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 47, 167-170.*
- Kitsunezaki, C., Inoue, M. and Nakamura, N. (2002) Underground structure in and around Toga Bay, Oga Peninsula, NE Japan, Inferred from Gravity Survey. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 397-410.*
- Koarai, M., Hasegawa, H., Iida, Y., Matsuo, K., Watanabe, N. and Suzuki, H. (2002) Monitoring surface deformation of Usu Volcano using digital photogrammetry, *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 139-150.*
- Koike, K., Omura, M., Iguchi, M., Matsunaga, N., Tomiyama N. and RESTEC (2002) Detection of distribution of the 1998 pyroclastic flows. *Asian Journal of Geoinformatics*, **2**, 9-17.
- Kumagai, H. and Chouet, B. A. (1999) The complex frequencies of long-period seismic events as probes of fluid compositions beneath volcanoes. *Geophys. J. Int.*, **138**, F7-F12.
- Kumagai, H. and Chouet, B.A. (2000) Acoustic properties of a crack containing magmatic or hydrothermal fluids. J. Geophys. Res., 105, 25,493-25,512.
- Kumagai, H. and Chouet, B.A. (2001) The dependence of acoustic properties of a crack on the resonance mode and geometry. Geophys. Res.

Lett., 28, 3325-3328.

- Kumagai, H., Chouet, B.A. and Nakano, M. (2002a) Temporal evolution of a hydrothermal system in Kusatsu-Shirane Volcano, Japan, inferred from the complex frequencies of long-period events. J. Geophys. Res., 107, 2236, doi:10.1029/2001JB000653.
- Kumagai, H., Chouet, B.A. and Nakano, M. (2002b) Waveform inversion of oscillatory signatures in long-period events beneath volcanoes. J. Geophys. Res., 107, 2301, doi:10.1029/2001JB001704.
- Kumagai, H., Ohminato, T., Nakano, M., Ooi, M., Kubo, A., Inoue, H. and Oikawa, J. (2001) Very-long-period seismic signals and the caldera formation at Miyake Island, Japan. *Science*, **293**, 687-690.
- Kumagai, I and Kurita, K. (2000) Experimental study on Rayleigh-Taylor instability interaction and spacing of diapirs-. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **45**, 331-335.*
- Kumagai, I. (2002) On the anatomy of mantle plumes: effect of the viscosity ratio on entrainment and stirring. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **198**, 211-224.
- Legrand, D., Kaneshima, S. and Kawakatsu, H. (2000) Moment tensor analysis of near field broadband waveforms observed at Aso volcano. *J. Volcanol. Geoth. Res.*, **101**, 155-169.
- Londono, J. M. and Sudo, Y. (2001) Spectral characteristics of volcano-tectonic earthquake swarms in Nevado del Ruiz volcano, Colombia. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 112, 37-52
- Londono, J. M. and Sudo, Y. (2002) Velocity structure and a seismic model for Nevado del Ruiz volcano (Colombia). J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 119, 61-87.
- Maeda, I, (2002) A dynamical system for the Initial stage of eruptioin 2000, Mt. Usu. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 47, 595-605.*
- Matsushima N., H. Oshima, Y. Ogawa, S. Takakura, H. Satoh, M. Utsugi and Y. Nishida (2001) Magma prospecting in Usu volcano, Hokkaido, Japan, using magnetotelluric soundings. *J.Volcanol.Geotherm.Res.*, 109, 263-277.
- Matsushima, T. and Takagi, A. (2000) GPS and EDM monitoring of Unzen volcano ground deformation. *Planets* and *Space*, 52, 1015-1018.
- Miura, S., Ueki, S., Sato, T., Tachibana, K. and Hamaguchi, H. (2000) Crustal deformation associated with the 1998 seismo-volcanic crisis of Iwate Volcano, Northeastern Japan, as observed by a dense GPS network. *Earth Planets Space*, 52, 1003-1008.
- Miyamachi H., Higashiura K., Hirano S-I. and Yamamoto A.(2000): High dense gravity measurement in Sakurajima volcano, southern Kyushu, Japan. *Rep. Fac. Sci., Kagoshima Univ.*, **33**,101-116.*
- Mori, T., Sudo, Y., Tsutsui, T., Nakaboh, M. and Yoshikawa, S. (2000) Source mechanism of pilsative seismic event "Heart Beat" at a mud volcano in Mt. Garan, Tsurumi volcano. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **45**, 107-117.*
- Nakaboh, M., Ono, H., Sako, M., Hashimoto, T., Sudo, Y., Ohkura, T., Yoshikawa, S., Utsugi, M., Sakanaka, S. and Hurst, A. W. (2002) Ground deformation at Kuju volcano. *Ann. Disast. Prev. Res. Inst., Kyoto Univ.*, **45B**, 633-643.*
- Nakada, S., H. Shimizu and K. Ohta (1999) Overview of 1990-1995 eruptions at Unzen volcano. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 89, 1-22.
- Nakamichi, H., Tanaka, S. and Hamaguchi, H. (2002) Fine S wave velocity structure beneath Iwate volcano, northeastern Japan, as derived from receiver functions and travel times. *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **116**, 235-255.
- Nishi, K. (2001) A three dimensional robust seismic ray tracer for volcanic regions. Earth Planets Space, 53, 101-109.
- Nishi, K. (2002) Three-dimensional seismic velocity structure beneath Unzen Volcano, Kyushu, Japan inferred by tomography from experimental explosion data. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 227-241.
- Nishi, K., Ono, H. and Mori, (1999) Global positioning system measurements of ground deformation caused by magma intrusion and lava discharge: the 1990-1995 eruption at Unzendake volcano, Kyushu, Japan. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 89, 23-34.
- Nishimura T., Nakamichi, H., Tanaka, S., Sato, M., Kobayashi, T., Ueki, S., Hamaguchi, H., Ohtake, M. and Sato, H. (2000) Source process of very long period seismic events associated with the 1998 activity of Iwate Volcano, northeastern Japan. J. Geophys. Res., 105, 19135-19147.
- Nishimura T., Uchida, N., Sato, H. and Ohtake, M., Tanaka, S. and Hamaguchi, H. (1999) Temporal changes of the crustal structure associated with the M6.1earthquake on September 3, 1998 and the volcanic activity of Mount Iwate, Japan. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **27**, 269-272.
- Nishimura T., Ueki, S., Yamawaki, T., Tanaka, S., Hashino, H., Sato, M., Nakamichi, H. and Hamaguchi, H. (2002) Broadband seismic signals associated with the 2000 volcanic unrest of Mount Bandai, northeastern Japan. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 119, 51-59.
- Nishimura, T., Fujiwara, S., Murakami, M., Tobita, M., Nakagawa, H., Sagiya, T. and Tada, T. (2001a) The M6.1 Earthquake triggered by volcanic inflation of Iwate volcano, northern Japan, observed by satellite radar interferometry, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **28**, 635-638.
- Nishimura, T., Ozawa, S., Murakami, M., Sagiya, T., Tada, T., Kaidzu, M. and Ukawa, M. (2001b) Crustal deformation caused by magma migration in the northern Izu Islands, Japan, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **28**, 3745-3748.
- Nishizawa, A., Ono, T. and Otani, Y. (2002a) Seismicity and crustal structure related to the Miyake-jima volcanic activity in 2000, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **29**, doi:10.1029/2002GL015008.
- Nishizawa, A., Ono, T., Otani, Y. and Furukawa, H. (2000) Ocean bottom seismographic observation at Myojin Sho. *Rep. Hydrogr. Res.*, **36**, 37-55.*
- Nishizawa, A., Ono, T., Otani, Y. and Shiki, T. (2001) Ocean bottom seismographic observation around the Miyakejima-Kozushima-Niijima

Islands in July, 2000 (preliminary report). Rep. Hydrogr. Res., 37, 57-71.*

- Nishizawa, A., Ono, T., Sakamoto, H., Matsumoto, Y. and Otani, Y. (2002b) Ocean bottom seismographic observation at Fukutoku-okanoba submarine volcano. *Rep. Hydrogr. Res.*, **38**,101-123.*
- Nishizawa, A., Takahashi, N. and Abe, S.(1999) Crustal structure and seismicity of the Havre Trough at 26°S, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **26**, 16, 2549-2552.
- Ogawa, Y., H. M. Bibby, T. G. Caldwell, S. Takakura, T. Uchida, N. Matsushima, S. L. Bennie, T. Tosha, Y. Nishi (1999) Wide-band magnetotelluric measurements across the Taupo Volcanic Zone, New Zealand preliminary results. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **26**, 3673-3676.
- Ogawa, Y., S. Takakura and Y. Honkura (2002), Resistivity structure across Itoigawa-Shizuoka tectonic line and its implications for concentrated deformation, *Earth Planets Space*, **54**, 1115-1120.
- Ohba, T, Taniguchi, H., Oshima, H., Yoshida, M. and Goto, A. (2002) Effect of explosion energy and depth on the nature of explosion cloud: A field experimental study. *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **115**, 33-42.
- Ohmi, S., Wada, H. and Ito, K. (2001) Deep low frequency earthquakes swarm beneath the Hida mountain region preceded by the shallow swarm activity in 1998, *Bull. Seismol. Soc. Japan*, **54**, 415-420.**
- Ohtani, Y., K. Watanabe, M. Kosuga and K. Tanaka (2002) Shallow seismicity around the Lake Towada, Northern Japan. *Bull. Fac. of Sci.* and *Tech., Hirosaki Univ.*, **4**, 57-67.*
- Okada, T. and Hasegawa, A. (2000) Activity of deep low-frequency microearthquakes and their moment tensors in northeastern Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **45**, 47-63.*
- Okazaki, N., Takahashi, H., Kasahara, M., Ishimaru, S., Mori, H. Y., Kitagawa, S., Fujiwara, K. and Churei, M. (2002) Crustal deformation associated with the 2000 eruption of Usu volcano as observed by a dense GPS array. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 547-557.*
- Okuma, S., Nakatsuka, T., Takakura, S. and Morijiri, R. (2002) Helicopter-borne EM Survey over Usu volcano, Hokkaido, Japan, with a special reference to the Usu 2000 eruption. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 533-546.*
- Onizawa, S., Mikada, H., Watanabe, H. and Sakashita, S. (2002a) A method for simultaneous velocity and density inversion and its application to exploration of subsurface structure beneath Izu-Oshima volcano, Japan. *Earth Planets Space*, **54**, 803-817.
- Onizawa, S., Oshima, H., Mori, H. Y., Maekawa, T., Suzuki, A., Ichiyanagi, M. and Okada, H. (2002b) Three-dimensional seismic velocity structure around Usu volcano, Japan. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 47, 495-506.*
- Saito, E and S. Suto (2002) Airphotograph analysis on the 1991-1995 lava dome of Fugen-dake, Unzen volcano, Kyushu, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 17-26.*
- Saito, T., Eguchi, T., Takayama, K. and Taniguchi, H. (2001) Hazard predictions for volcanic explosions. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 106, 39-51.
- Sakamura, S., Nishijima, J., Fujimitsu, Y. and Ehara, S., (2001) Reservoir monitoring by GPS survey at Hatchobaru Geothermal Field and Kuju Volcano, Central Kyushu, Japan. *Geotherm. Volcanol. Res. Rep., Kyushu Univ.*, **10**, 97-106.*
- Sakanaka, S., Tanaka, Y. Utsugi, M. and Hashimoto, T. (2001) Cooling shape of vents beneath fumaroles at Kuju-Iwoyama inferred from geomagnetic changes by repeated surveys. *Sci. Tec. Rep. Fac. Eng. Res. Sci., Akita Univ.*, **22**, 25-38.*
- Sasai, Y., J. Zlotnicki, Y. Nishida, M. Uyeshima, P. Yvetot, Y. Tanaka, H. Watanabe and Takahashi, Y. (2001) Evaluation of electric and magnetic field monitoring of Miyake-jima volcano (Central Japan): 1995-1999. *Annali di Geofisica*, 44, 239-260.
- Sasai, Y., Uyeshima, M., Utada, H., Kagiyama, T., Zlotnicki, J., Hashimoto, T. and Takahashi, Y. (2001) The 2000 activity of Miyake-jima volcano as inferred from electric and magnetic field observations. *J. Geogr.*, **110**, 226-244.*
- Satake, K., Smith, J. R. and Shinozaki, K. (2002) Three-dimensional reconstruction and tsunami model of the Nuuanu and Wailau giant landslides, Hawaii. Hawaiin Volcanoes: Deep underwater perspectives. AGU Geophysical Monograph, 128, 333-346.
- Sato, J. Iida, Y. and Miyawaki, M. (2002a) The application of the airborne SAR to topographic measurements: A case study of the eruption of the Miyake-jima volcano in 2000. *Journal of the Japan Society of Photogrammetry* and *Remote Sensing*, **41**, 61-65.**
- Sato, M., Kawai, K., Fukano, K., Sasahara, N., Yabuki, T. and Sengoku, A. (2002b) A source model to explain crustal deformations by earthquake swarm around Izu-shoto in 2000. *Rep. of Hydrogr. Res.*, **38**, 71-83.*
- Sawada, Y. (2002) Analysis of eruption cloud with geostationary meteorological satellite imagery (HIMAWARI). J. Geogr., 111, 374-394.*
- Sudo, Y. and Ikebe, S. (2001) New active fault descried in Aso Caldera and seismic activity. Ann. Disast. Prev. Res. Inst. Kyoto Univ., 44B-1, 345-352.*
- Sudo, Y. and Kong, L. (2001) Three-dimensional seismic velocity structure beneath Aso volcano, Kyushu, Japan. Bull. Volcanol., 63, 326-344.
- Suto, S., Watanabe, K., Ikeda, K. and Saito, E. (2002) Airphotograph analysis around the new craters on the west flank of Usu volcano, Hokkaido, Japan, during the 2000 activity. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 131-137.*
- Takada, A. (1999) Variations in magma supply and magma partitioning: The role of tectonic settings. *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **93**, 93-110. Takagi, A., Nishimura, Y. and Miyamura, J. (2002) Crustal deformation measured by theodolite during the eruption in the north-western part
- of Usu volcano in 2000. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 47, 559-569.*
- Takahashi, H., Okazaki, N., Ishimaru, S., Mori, H., Matsushima, T., Watanabe, A., Miura, S., Nakao, S., Kato, T., Kimata, F. and Kasahara, M.

(2002a) Geodetic observations of the 2000 eruption of Usu volcano using dual frequency GPS receivers. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 161-166.*

- Takahashi, N., Mikada, H., Suyehiro, K., Urabe, T. and Shimizu, H. (2002b) Crustal structure beneath the Shimabara peninsula deduced from a controlled source seismic experiment, *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 461-473.*
- Tameguri, T., Iguchi, M. and Ishihara, K. (2002) Mechanism of explosive eruptions from moment tensor analyses of explosion earthquakes at Sakurajima volcano, Japan. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 47, 197-215.
- Tamura, Y., Tatsumi, Y., Zhao, D., Kido, Y. and Shukuno, H. (2001) Distribution of Quaternary volcanoes in the Northeast Japan arc: geologic and geophysical evidence of hot fingers in the mantle wedge. *Proceeding of the Japan Academy*, 77, Ser. B, 135-139.
- Tamura, Y., Tatsumi, Y., Zhao, D., Kido, Y. and Shukuno, H. (2002) Hot fingers in the amntle wedge: new insights into magma genesis in subductioin zones. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, 197, 105-116.
- Tanaka, H. (2002) Log-periodic modulation to power law of change in the geoelectric potential difference observed on Niijima Island prior to volcanic and seismic activation in the Izu island region, Japan 2000, Proc. Japan Acad., 78, Ser. B, 271-276.
- Tanaka M. (2000) Periodic Anomalous vertical crustal movement in tectonic regions and its influences on volcanic activities -Sakurajima volcano-. *Rep. Fac. Sci., Kagoshima Univ.*, 33, 89-100.
- Tanaka, M., Sudo, Y. and Tsutsui, T. (2000) Precedent phases of S wave observed in Kuju volcano. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 45, 65-73.*
- Tanaka, S., Hamaguchi, H., Nishimura, T., Yamawaki, T., Ueki, S., Nakamichi, H., Tsutsui, T., Miyamachi, H., Matsuwo, N., Oikawa, J., Ohminato, T., Miyaoka, K., Onizawa, S., Mori, T. and Aizawa, K. (2002a) Three-dimensional P-wave velocity structure of Iwate volcano, Japan from active seismic survey. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 29, 10.1029/2002GL014983.
- Tanaka, S., Hamaguchi, H., Ueki, S., Sato, M. and Nakamichi, H. (2002b) Migration of seismic activity during the 1998 volcanic unrest at Iwate volcano, northeastern Japan, with reference to P and S wave velocity anomaly and crustal deformation *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, 113, 399-414.
- Terai, K., Yabuki, T., Sasahara, N., Kawai, K., Fukano, K., Sato, M. and Sengoku, A.(2001) Crustal movement observation at small islands in Izu Shoto and crustal movements of adjacent sea area by Miyake-jima eruption. *Rep. Hydrogr. Res.*, **37**, 73-86.*
- Tomatsu, T., Kumagai, H. and Dawson, P. B. (2001) Tomographic inversion of P-wave velocity and Q structures beneath the Kirishima volcanic complex, southern Japan, based on the finite-difference calculations of the complex travel times. *Geophys. J. Int.*, **146**, 781-794.
- Tomiya, A. (2000) Influence of a magma chamber on thermal structure of the surrounding crust. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 45, 173-179.*
- Ueda, Y., Onodera, K., Ootani, Y. and Suzuki, A. (2001) Geophysical structure of the Myojin-sho caldera and its volcanological interpretation. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **46**, 175-185.*
- Ueda, Y., Nakagawa, H., Onodera, K., Suzuki, A., Kumagawa, K. and Kubota, R. (2001) 3D-geomagnetic structure of Miyake-jima volcano before the eruption in 2000: an Application of 3D-geomagnetic tomoraphy method, *Rep. Hydrogr. Res.*, **37**, 19-36.*
- Ueki, S. and Miura, S. (2002) Volcanic and seismic activities observed around Iwate volcano in 1998, J. Geogr., 111, 154-165.*
- Ueno, H., Mori, H., Usui, Y., Miyamura, J., Yoshikawa K. and Hamada, N. (2002) Earthquake swarm immediately before and after the beginning of the 2000 eruption of the Usu volcano monitored by the regional seismic network. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 689-694.*
- Ukawa, M., Fujita, E. and Kumagai, T. (2002) Remote triggering of micro-earthquakes at the Iwo-jima volcano. J. Geogr., 111, 277-286.**
- Ukawa, M., Fujita, E., Yamamoto, E., Okada, Y. and Kikuchi, M. (2000) The 2000 Miyakejima eruption: Crustal deformation and earthquakes observed by the NIED Miyakejima observation network. *Earth Planets Space*, 52, 19-26.
- Umakoshi, K., Shimizu, H. and Matsuwo, N. (2001) Volcano-tectonic seismicity at Unzen Volcano, Japan, 1985-1999. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 112, 117-131.
- Umakoshi, K., Shimizu, H. and Matsuwo, N. (2002) Seismic activity associated with the growth of the lava dome at Unzen Volcano (November 1993 - January1994) - Grouping of earthquakes on the basis of cross-correlations among their waveforms-. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 43-55.*
- Voight, B., Young K.D., Hidayat, D., Subandrio, Purbawinata, M.A., Ratdomopurbo, A., Suharna, Panut, Sayudi, D. S., Lahusen, R., Marso, J., Murray, T. L., Dejean, M., Iguchi, M., Ishihara, K. (2000) Deformation and seismic precursors to dome-collapse and fountain-collapse nuees ardents at Merapi volcano, Java, Indonesia, 1994-1998. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 100, 261-287.
- Yamamoto, K., Ishihara, K., Okubo, S. and Araya, A. (2001) Accurate evaluation of ocean tide loading effects for gravity in nearshore region: the FG5 measurements at Sakurajima volcano in Kagoshima Bay, Japan. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 28, 1807-1810.
- Yamamoto, M., Kawakatsu, H., Kaneshima, S., Mori, T., Tsutsui, T., Sudo, Y. and Morita, Y. (1999) Detection of a crack-like conduit beneath the active crater at Aso volcano, Japan. *Geophysical Res. Lett.*, 26, 3677-3680.
- Yamamoto, M., Kawakatsu, .H, Yomogida, K. and Koyama, J. (2002) Long-period (12 sec) volcanic tremor observed at Usu 2000 eruption: seismological detection of a deep magma plumbing system. *Geophs. Res. Lett.*, 29, 10-43.
- Yamaoka, K., Ikuta, R., Miyakawa, K., Kunitomo, T. and Kumazawa, M.(2002) A precise method for monitoring the temporal variation of wave propagation. In *Seismogenic Process Monitoring: Experimental* and *Mining Seismology* (Ogasawara, Ando, Yanagitani eds.), Balkema Publisher, 379-397.

- Yamaoka,K., Kunitomo, T., Miyakawa, K., Kobayashi, K. and Kumazawa, M.(2001) A trial for monitoring temporal variation of seismic velocity with ACROSS system. *Island Arc*, 10, 336-347.
- Yamasato, H., Miyamura, J., Mori, H., Usui, Y., Sakuma, K., Watanabe, A., Sato, J., Takahashi Y. and Sakai, T. (2002) Eruptive activity inferred from Infrasound associated with the 2000 eruption of Usu volcano. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 255-262.*
- Yamashina, K. and Nishimura, Y. (2001) Remarkable uplift associated with the 2000 eruption of Usu volcano, Japan detected by time-differential stereoscopy. *Bull. Earthq. Res. Inst.*, **76**, 227-235.*
- Yamashina, K. and Shimizu, H. (1999) Crustal deformation in the mid-May 1991 crisis preceding the extrusion of a dacite lava done at Unzen Volcano, Japan. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 89, 43-55.
- Yamashina, K., Matsushima, T. and Ohmi, S. (1999) Volcanic deformation at Unzen volcano, Japan, visualized by a time-differential stereoscopy. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 89, 73-80.
- Yokoo, A., Taniguchi, H., Oshima, H., Goto, A., Ohba, T., Miyamoto, T. and Research Group on Volcanic Explosions (2002) Study on the Usu 2000 phreatic explosions in terms of field explosion experiments. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 243-253.*
- Yoshida, K., Sasatani, T., Ichiyanagi, M., Oshima, H. and Tamura, M. (2002) Low frequency earthquakes excited by eruptive activities of Mt. Usu in 2000. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 47, 507-519.*
- Yoshikawa, M., Sudo, Y., Londono, J. and Masuda, H. (2002) Three-dimensional P-wave velocity structure around Kuju volcano, Kyushu, Japan. *Ann. Disast. Prev. Res. Inst. Kyoto Univ.*, **45B**, 627-632.*
- Yoshikawa, M., Sudo, Y., Tsutsui, T. and Taguchi, S. (2000) Seismic activity at Kuju geothermal area, Kyushu, Japan. Ann. Disaster Prev. Res. Inst. Kyoto Univ., **43B-1**, 37-46.*
- Yoshikawa, M., Sudo, Y., Tsutsui, T. and Taguchi, S. (2002) Vp/Vs ratio and seismic activity at geothermal fields in the north-western area of Kuju volcano, Kyushu, Japan. J. Geotherm. Res. Soc. Japan, 24, 1-12.*
- Zhao, D., Asamori, K. and Iwamori, H. (2000) Seismic structure and magmatism of the young Kyushu subduction zone, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 27, 2057-2060.

* In Japanese with English abstract. ** In Japanese.

IV. Geological Study

1. Regional Geology and Physical Volcanology

Researches on various aspects of regional geology of Quaternary, Tertiary, and Cretaceous volcanic areas in Japan have been published since the previous report. Regional geological studies of Quaternary volcanoes in Japan were reported for Tyatya volcano (Nakagawa et al., 2002a), Rausudake volcano (Miyaji et al., 2000), Daisetsu volcano (Nakamura and Hirakawa, 2000), Rishiri volcano (Ishizuka, 1999), Hokkaido-Komagatake volcano (Okuno et al., 1999), Osore volcano (Kuwabara et al., 2001), Okiura caldera (Nozawa, 2001), Iwate volcano (Doi, 1999; 2000, Doi et al., 2002), Hachimantai volcano (Ohba and Umeda, 1999; Takashima et al., 2001), Toga volcano (Kano et al., 2002), Chokai volcano (Ban et al., 2001), Kurikoma volcano (Fujinawa et al., 2001b), Aoso volcano (Toya and Ban, 2001), Shirataka volcano (Mimura and Kano, 2000), Adatara volcano (Fujinawa et al., 2001a; Yamamoto and Sakaguchi, 2000), Bandai volcano (Chiba and Kimura, 2001), Nekoma volcano (Kimura et al., 2001; Mimura, 2002), Sunagohara caldera (Mizugaki, 2000), Takahara volcano (Takashima, 1999), Kinunuma volcano (Yamamoto, 1999a), Shirouma-Oike volcano (Oikawa et al., 2001), Yakedake volcano (Oikawa, 2002; Oikawa and Kioka, 2000; Oikawa et al., 2000; 2002), Ontake volcano (Matsumoto and Kobayashi, 1999; Matsumoto Basin Collaborative Research Group, 2002), Fuji volcano (Takada, 2000a; Yamamoto et al., 2002), Hakone volcano (Kobayashi, 1999; Mannen, 1999a; Mannen and Sugiyama, 2000), Higashi-Izu monogenetic volcanoes (Hasebe et al., 2001; Shimada, 2000), Izu-Oshima volcano (Nakada et al., 1999), Miyakejima volcano (Tsukui et al., 2001), Daisen and Sambe volcanoes (Kimura et al., 1999), Yufu-Turumi volcano (Fujisawa et al., 2002; Saito et al., 2000), Aso volcano (Baba et al. 1999; Miyabuchi and Watanabe, 2000; Miyabuchi and Takada, 2002), Unzen volcano (Hoshizumi at al., 1999; Shimao et al., 1999; Tateyama et al., 2002), Ojika-Jima volcano (Yamamoto, 2001), Aira caldera (Fukushima and Kobayashi, 2000; Sudo et al., 2000), submarine volcano off the north-east of the Iriomote Island (Watanabe, 2000), and submarine Myojin-Sho caldera (Ueda et al., 2001). Tephrostratographic studies have been reported for Late Pleistocene widespread tephras (Fujii et al., 2001; Kawai and Miyake, 1999), Middle Pleistocene tephras (Suzuki, 2001; Yamamoto, 1999a), and Early Pleistocene tephras (Kataoka, 2001; Kataoka and Nakajo, 2002; Kataoka et al., 2001; Nagahashi et al., 2000; 2002; Satoguchi et al., 1999; 2000). Regional geological studies of Pre-Quaternary volcanism were published for the Miocene high-Mg volcanism in SW Japan (Furukawa and Tatsumi, 1999; Tatsumi et al., 2001), the late Neogene volcanism in SW Japan (Kamata, 2000; Kamata and Kodama, 1999), the Late Miocene alkalic volcanism in Oki-Dozen island (Tiba et al., 2000) and Oki-Dogo island (Kobayashi et al., 2002), the Pliocene-Pleistocene volcanism in NE Honshu (Umeda et al., 1999), and the late Neogene volcanism in Hokkaido (Hirose and Nakagawa, 1999; Hirose et al., 2000; Nakagawa et al., 1999). Geological studies in foreign countries were published for the Tertiary volcanism in Sikhote Alin, Russia (Tatsumi et al., 2000), the Quaternary volcanism in Philippines (Sudo et al., 2000), the submarine structure of Hawaii (Lipman et al., 2000; Naka et al., 2002), and the Quaternary volcanism in Flores Island, Indonesia (Muraoka et al., 2002; Takashima et al., 2002).

Hazard maps have been prepared for Meakan volcano in 1999, Atosamupuri volcano in 2001, Esan volcano in 2001, Chokai volcano in 2001, Azuma volcano in 2001, Adatara volcano in 2002, Bandai volcano in 2001, Nasu volcano in 2002, Ontake volcano in 2002, and Yakedake volcano in 2002 by individual local governments. Total numbers of published volcanic hazard maps are 28 in Japan. Geologic maps (1:50,000) with explanation including Quaternary volcanoes have been published for Tonohetsuri caldera (Yamamoto, 1999b), Kenashi volcano (Yanagisawa *et al.*, 2001), Shirouma-Oike volcano (Nakano *et al.*, 2002), Tateyama volcano (Harayama *et al.*, 2000), Oe-Takayama volcano (Kano *et al.*, 2001), and Kirishima volcano (Imura and Kobayashi, 2001) by the Geological Survey of Japan.

Geological researches on historical eruptions were published for the 1707 Fuji eruption which was a dacitic-basaltic sub-Plinian eruption (Ui *et al.*, 2002a), the 1888 Bandai eruption which generated a phreatic density currents and a debris avalanche (Yamamoto *et al.*, 1999), the 1986 Izu-Oshima eruption which was a basaltic sub-Plinian fissure eruption (Mannen, 1999b), the 1990-95 Unzen eruption which produced a dacitic lava dome and numerous block-and-ash flows (Fujii and Nakada, 1999; Kaneko and Wooster, 1999; Kaneko *et al.*, 2002a; Miyabuchi, 1999; Nakada *et al.*, 1999; Saito and Suto, 2002; Ui *et al.*, 1999; Watanabe *et al.*, 1999a; 1999b), the 1996, 1998 and 2000 Hokkaido-Komagatake eruptions which were phreatic explosions (Hirose *et al.*, 2002; Nakagawa *et al.*, 2001), the 2000 Usu eruption which was a shallow dacitic intrusion with many phreatomagmatic to phreatic explosions (Kaneko *et al.*, 2002; Suzuki and Nakada, 2002; Takada *et al.*, 2002; Nakagawa *et al.*, 2002; Suto *et al.*, 2002; Suzuki and Nakada, 2002; Takada *et al.*, 2001; Takagi *et al.*, 2002; Takarada *et al.*, 2002; Tomiya and Miyagi, 2002; Tomiya *et al.*, 2001; Ui *et al.*, 2000; 2002b; 2002c; Urai *et al.*, 2001; Yahata, 2002; Yamamoto, 2001; Yokoo *et al.*, 2002), and the 2000 Miyakejima eruption which started as a submarine basaltic flank eruption and was succeeded by caldera collapse with phreatomagmatic explosions and gigantic SO₂ emission (Geshi *et al.*, 2002a; 2002b; Kaneko *et al.*, 2001; Miyagi and Tomiya, 2002; Nakada *et al.*, 2001; Uto *et al.*, 2001).

Various studies on physical volcanology were reported since the previous report. Tamura *et al.* (2002) discussed the relationship between Quaternary volcanoes in NE Japan arc and hot fingers in the mantle wedge using seismic tomographic data. Tomiya (2000) estimated thermal effect of a magma chamber in the crust. Magma transport mechanism through dike system was examined by observation data of fissure eruptions (Takada, 1999), physical properties of magma (Takada, 2000b; Takeuchi and Nakamura, 2001), and field occurrences of dikes (Geshi, 2000; Wada and Aoki, 2002; Wada and Iwano, 2001; Wada *et al.*, 2000). Caldera formation processes were studied by Miura (1999, 2000) and Takada (2001). Ohba *et al.* (2002) showed effect of explosion energy and depth on the nature of explosion clouds by
field experiments. Specific researches on debris avalanches were reported for field occurrences (Takarada *et al.*, 1999) and experiments (Iizawa *et al.*, 1999; Kamata *et al.*, 2002; Suda *et al.*, 2002).

(Takahiro Yamamoto)

References

- *Baba, M., Watanabe, K. and Miyabuchi, Y. (1999) Stratigraphy of eruption products from Nakadake in the southern part of the central cones of Aso volcano, Japan. *Memor. Facul. Education, Kumamoto Univ., Natural Science*, **48**, 133-146.
- *Ban, M., Hayashi, S. and Takaoka, N. (2001) K-Ar datings of the Chokai volcano, northeast Japan arc: A compound volcano composed of continuously established three stratovolcanoes. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 46, 317-333.
- *Chiba, S. and Kimura, J.-I. (2001) Geology and growth history of Bandai volcano, Tohoku-Honshu arc, Japan: Analysis of volcanic activity by tephrochronology. *Jour. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol.*, **30**, 126-156.
- **Doi, N. (1999) Volcanic history of the Iwate volcano from the Jomon age. Gekkan Chikyu, 21, 257-263.
- **Doi, N. (2000) Geology of the Iwate volcano: Volcanic history clarified by tephrochronology. Archaeological researches in Takizawa, no.32, 234p.

**Doi, N., Saito, T., Doi, S., Noda, S., Numakunai, T., Koshiya, S. and Obara, C. (2002) Fumarolic activity from 1999 and the re-opened fractures in the E-W trend at the Iwate volcano. *Gekkan Chikyu*, extra 39, 38-44.

- Fujii, J., Nakajima, T. and Kamata, H. (2001) Paleomagnetic directions of the Aso pyroclastic-flow and the aso-4 co-ignimbrite ash-fall deposits in Japan. *Earth Planet. Space*, 53, 1137-1150.
- Fujii, T. and S. Nakada (1999) The 15-September 1991 pyroclastic flows at Unzen Volcano (Japan): a flowing model. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, 89, 159-172.
- *Fujinawa, A., Hayashi, S. and Umeda, K. (2001a) K-Ar ages for lava samples of Adatara volcano: Reexamination history of the volcano. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **46**, 95-106.
- *Fujinawa, A., Fujita, K., Takahashi, M., Umeda, K. and Hayashi, S. (2001b) Development history of Kurikoma volcano, Northeast Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **46**, 269-284.
- *Fujisawa, Y., Okuno, M., Nakamura, T. and Kobayashi, T. (2002) Eruptive activities of Tsurumi volcano in Japan during the past 30,000 years. *Jour. Geological Soc. Japan*, **108**, 48-58.
- *Fukushima, D. and Kobayashi, T. (2000) Mechanism of generation and emplacement of the Tarumizu pyroclastic flow associated with Osumi Plinian eruption from Aira caldera, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **45**, 225-240.
- Furukawa, Y. and Tatsumi, Y. (1999) Melting of a subducting slab and production of high-Mg andesite magma: Unusual magmatism in SW Japan at 13~15 Ma. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 26, 2271-2274.
- Geshi, N. (2000) Fractionation and magma mixing within intruding dike swarm: evidence from the Miocene Shitara-Otoge igneous complex, central Japan. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **98**, 127-152.
- Geshi N., Shimano T., Chiba T. and Nakada S. (2002a) Caldera collapse during the 2000 eruption of Miyakejima Volcano, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol.*, **64**, 55-68.
- *Geshi N., Shimano T., Nagai M. and Nakada S. (2002b) Magma plumbing system of the 2000 eruption on the Miyakejima Volcano, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 419-434.
- *Harayama, S., Takahashi, Y., Nakano, S., Kariya, Y. and Komazawa, M. (2000) *Geology of the Tateyama district*. With geological sheet map at 1:50,000. Geol. Surv. Japan, 218p.
- Hasebe, N., Fukutani, A., Sudo, M. and Tagami, T. (2001) Transition of eruptive style in an arc-arc collision zone: K-Ar dating of Quaternary monogenetic and ploygenetic volcanes in the Higashi-Izu region, Izu peninsula, Japan. Bull. Volcanol., 63, 377-386.
- *Hirose, W. and Nakagawa, M. (1999) Neogene volcanism in Central-Eastern Hokkaido: Beginning and evolution of arc volcanism inferred from volcanological parameters and geochemistry. *Jour. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **105**, 247-265.
- **Hirose, W., Iwasaki, M. and Nakagawa, M. (2000) Transition of Neogene arc volcanism in Central-Western Hokkaido, viewed from K-Ar ages, style of volcanic activity, and bulk rock chemistry. *Jour. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **106**, 120-135.
- *Hirose, W., Okazaki, N., Ishimaru, S., Shiga, T., Matsuyama, T., Takarada, S., Yoshida, M., Yoshimoto, M. and Nakagawa, M. (2002) The 25 October, 1998 eruption of Hokkaido-Komagatake Volcano, northern Japan. *Rep. Geol. Surv. Hokkaido*, **73**, 43 - 150.
- Hoshizumi, H., Uto, K. and Watanabe, K. (1999) Geology and eruptive history of Unzen Volcano, Shimabara Peninsula, Kyushu, SW Japan. *Jour: Volcanol. Geotherm .Res.*, **89**, 81-94.
- *Iizawa, I., Sakai, S., Suda, E., Saito, T. and Kamata, H. (1999) Measurement of friction coefficient on a powder layer and fluid dynamic study. Nagare Multimedia, http://www.nagare.or.jp/mm/99/iizawa.
- *Imura, R. and Kobayashi, T. (2001) Geological map of Kirishima Volcano 1:50,000. Geol. Surv. Japan, Geological Map of Volcanoes, 11.
- *Ishizuka, Y. (1999) Eruptive history of Rishiri volcano, Northern Hokkaido, Japan. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 44, 23-40.

- Kamata, H. (2000) Significance of tectonic events at 6 Ma and 2 Ma in the northern part of the Philippine Sea plate. *Jour. Geol. Soc. Philipppines*, **55**, 184-203.
- Kamata, H. and Kodama, K. (1999) Volcanic history and tectonics of the Southwest Japan Arc and the Ryukyu Arc since 2 Ma. *Island Arc*, 8, 393-403.
- *Kamata, H., Suda, E., Saito, T., Iizawa, I. and Sakai, S. (2002) Experimental analysis for transporting mechanism of debris avalanches associated with volcanic edifice collapse and application for geological deposits. *Jour. Soc. Mat. Sci., Japan*, 51, 168-175.
- Kaneko, T. and Wooster, M. J. (1999) Landsat infrared analysis of fumarole activity at Unzen volcano: time- series comparison with gas and magma fluxes. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, 89, 57-64.
- *Kaneko, T., Wooster M.J. and Nakada, S. (2002a) Simultaneous satellite infrared observation of thermal emissions from fumarole and dome growth areas on the Unzen lava dome: implications for remotely monitoring the state of magmatic gas release and accumulation. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 449-459.
- *Kaneko, T., Munekane, H., Wooster, M.J. and Kagiyama, T. (2002b) Thermal infrared analysis of the eruptive activity of the Kompirayama and Nishiyama Craters: the 2000 eruption of Usu, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 289-296.
- Kaneko, T., Sudo, N., Wooster, M.J., Geshi, N., Shimano, T., Nagai, M. and Nakada, S. (2001) RADARSAT determination of the outlines of the successively collapsing caldera at the Miyakejima 2000 eruption. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 46, 205-209
- *Kano, K., Ohguchi, T., Hayashi, S. and Danhara, T. (2002) Toga volcano: An alkali rhyolte tuff-ring in the western end of Oga Peninsula, NE Japan. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 47, 373-396
- *Kano, K., Takarada, S., Makimoto, H., Tsuchiya, N. and Bunno, M. (2001) Geology of the Yunotsu and Gotsu districts. With geological sheet map at 1:50,000. Geol. Surv. Japan, 129p.
- Kataoka, K. (2001) Large-scale redistribution and resedimentation of volcaniclastics at distal locations from the eruptive source: implications for volcanic hazards. *Gondwana Research*, **4**, 652-653.
- Kataoka, K. and Nakajo, T. (2002) Volcaniclastic resedimentation in distal fluvial basins induced by large-volume explosive volcanism: The Ebisutoge-Fukuda tephra, Plio-Pleistocene boundary, central Japan. *Sedimentology*, **49**, 319-334.
- Kataoka, K., Nagahashi, Y. and Yoshikawa, S. (2001) An extremely large magnitude eruption close to the Plio-Pleistocene boundary: Reconstruction of eruptive style and history of the Ebisutoge-Fukuda tephra, central Japan. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **107**, 47-69.
- *Kawai,S. and Miyake,Y. (1999) Grain-size and mineral compositions of Aira-Tn tephra, Japan: An example of the lateral variations of wide-spread tephra. *Jour:Geol.Soc.Japan*, **105**, 597-608.
- Kimura, J.-I., Tanji, T., Yoshida, T. and Iizumi, S. (2001) Geology and geochemistry of lavas at Nekoma volcano: Implications for origin of Quaternary low-K andesite in the north-eastern Honshu arc, Japan. *Island Arc*, **10**, 116-134.
- *Kimura, J.-I., Okada, S., Nakayama, K., Umeda, K., Kusano, T., Asahara, Y., Tateno, M., and Danhara, T. (1999) Fission trach ages of tephras from Daisen and Sambe volcanoes and their volcanological implications. *Quaternary Research*, 38, 145-155.
- *Koarai, M., Hasegawa, H., Iida, Y., Matsuo, K., Watanabe, N. and Suzuki, H. (2002) Monitoring surface deformation of Usu volcano using digital photogrammetry. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 139-150.
- *Kobayashi, M. (1999) Tephrochronology and eruptive activity on Hakone volcano in the past 50ka. Quaternary Research, 38, 327-343.
- *Kobayashi, S., Sawada, Y. and Yoshida, T. (2002) Magma plumbing systems of the Latest Miocene Oki Alkaline Volcanic Group, Oki-Dogo Island, SW Japan, based on geology and petrology. *Japan Mag. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, **31**, 137-161.
- *Kuwabara, T. and Yamazaki, H. (2001) Tephrostratigraphy and eruptive history during the Last 450,000 years at Osore-zan volcano, Shimokita Peninsula, Northeast Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **46**, 37-52.
- Lipman, P.W., Sisson, T.W., Ui, T., and Naka, J. (2000) In search of ancestral Kilauea volcano. Geology, 28, 1079-1082.
- *Mannen, K. (1999a) Geology of the two hot springs wells in Shimoyuba district Hakone volcano, Japan. Bull. Hot Springs Res. Inst. Kanagawa Pref., **31**, 1-15.
- *Mannen, K. (1999b) Total grain size distribution and total mass of TB tephra of the Izu-Oshima 1986 eruption, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **44**, 55-70.
- *Mannen, K. and Sugiyama, S. (2000) Geology of drilling cores and hotsprings of Motohakone-36. Bull. Hot Springs Res. Inst. Kanagawa Pref., 31, 77-99.
- *Matsumoto Basin Collaborative Research Group (2002) Geology of the Older Ontake Volcano, central Japan. *Earth Science* (*Chikyu-kagaku*), **56**, 65-85.
- *Matsumoto, A. and Kobayashi, T. (1999) K-Ar ages of the Older Ontake volcanic products, Ontake volcano, Central Japan: Reappraisal of the volcanic history based on the radiometric data. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **44**, 1-12.
- *Mimura, K. (2002) Geology and radiometric ages of Nekoma volcano, Northeast Japan. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 47, 217-225.
- *Mimura, K. and Kano, K. (2000) Stratigraphy and history of Shirataka volcano, NE Japan. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 45, 13-23.
- Miura, D. (1999) Arcuate pyroclastic conduits, ring faults, and coherent floor at Kumano caldera, southwest Honshu, Japan. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **92**, 271-294.

- *Miura, D. (2000) Stress ratio of caldera bounding faults as a guide to aspects of regional stress regime. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **45**, 197-207.
- *Miura, D. and Niida, K. (2002) Two-stage growth model of cryptodome by shallow intrusions, the 2000 eruption of Usu volcano, Northern Japan. Bull. Vol. Soc. Japan, 47, 119-130.
- Miyabuchi, Y. (1999) Deposits associated with the 1990-1995 eruption of Unzen volcano, Japan. Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 89, 139-158.
- *Miyabuchi, Y. and Watanabe, K. (2000) Phreatic explosions and ejecta around Jigoku spa, southwestern part of the central cones of Aso volcano, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **45**, 25-32.
- **Miyabuchi, Y. and Takada, H. (2002) Tephrastratigraphy at Sasakura Nagasako archaeological site, Namino Village, east of Aso caldera. Jour: Kumamoto Geoscience Assoc., 129, 2-12.
- *Miyagi, I. and Tomiya, A. (2002) Features of the Miyakejima 2000 ash particles and identification of the essential material. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 27-31.
- *Miyaji, N., Nakagawa, M. and Yoshida, M. (2000) Eruptive history of Rausudake Volcano during the last 2200 years. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **45**, 75-85.
- Mizugaki, K. (2000) Geologic structure and volcanic history of the Yanaizu-Nishiyama (Okuaizu) geothermal field, Northeast Japan. *Geothermics*, **29**, 233-256.
- Muraoka, H., Nasution, A., Urai, M., Takahashi, M., Takashima, I., Simanjuntak, J., Sundhoro, H., Aswin, D., Nanlohy, F., Sitorus, K., Takahashi, H. and Koseki, T. (2002) Tectonic, volcanic and stratigraphic geology of the Bajawa geothermal field, central Flores, Indonesia. *Bull. Geol. Surv. Japan*, 53, 109-138.
- *Nagahashi, Y., Satoguchi, Y. and Yoshikawa, S. (2000) Correlation and stratigraphic eruption age of the pyroclastic flow deposits and wide spread volcanic ashes intercalated in the Pliocene-Pleistocene strata, central Japan. *Jour. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **106**, 51-69.
- *Nagahashi, Y., Kataoka, K., Yoshikawa, S. and Sato, T. (2002) Correlation of the Km3 tephra layer from the Kitaura Formation, Oga Peninsula, Akita Prefecture, Japan, with the Om-SK110 Tephra. *Jour: Geol. Soc. Japan*, 108, 761-764.
- *Nagai, D., Endo, K., Kunikata, M., Nakayama, S., Motomatsu, F., Ohno, M., Chiba, T., and Suzuki, M. (2002) Grain size distribution and aggregate structure of volcanic ash produced during the phreatomagnetic eruption on 31 March, 2000, Usu volcano. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 607-617.
- Naka, J., Kanamatsu, T., Lipman, P.W., Sisson, T.W., Tsuboyama, N., Morgan, J.K., Smith, J.R., and Ui, T. (2002) Deep-sea volcaniclastic sedimentation around the southern flank of Hawaii. *Geophysical Monograph*, 128, 29-50.
- *Nakada, S. (2001) Sequence of the 2000eruption at Usu volcano, Japan. Bull. Earthq. Res. Inst. Univ. Tokyo, 76, 203-214.
- Nakada, S., Shimizu, H. and Ohta, K. (1999) Overview of 1990-1995 eruptions at Unzen Volcano. Jour: Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 89,1-22.
- **Nakada, S., Watanabe, H. and Fujii, T. (1999) Developments of the edifice structure of Izu-Oshima volcano as inferred from geological analysis of drilling core data, *Gekkan Chikyu*, 21, 424-429.
- *Nakada, S., Nagai, M., Yasuda, A., Shimano. T., Geshi, N., Akimasa, T., Kaneko, T., Fujii, T. (2001) Chronology of the Miyakejima 2000 eruption: Characteristics of summit collapse crater and eruption products. *Jour. Geography*, **110**, 168-180.
- **Nakagawa, M., Hirose, W. and Iwasaki, M. (1999) Temporal change of tectonics at the junction between Kuril and Northeast Japan arcs inferred from temporal evolution of volcanism in Hokkaido since 6 Ma. *Gekkan Chikyu*, 21, 543-548.
- *Nakagawa, M., Nogami,K., Ishizuka, Y., Yoshimoto, M., Takahashi, R., Ishii, E., Egusa, M., Miyamura, J., Shiga, T., Okazaki, N. and Ishimaru, S. (2001) The 2000 eruption of Hokkaido-Komagatake volcano and its significance: Evidence for increasing effect of magma deduced from temporal variations of eruptive materials and adhered gas component on ash. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 46, 295-304.
- Nakagawa, M., Ishizuka, Y., Kudo, T., Yoshimoto, M., Hirose, W., Ishizaki, Y., Gouchi, N., Katsui, Y., Alexander, S., Steinberg, G.S. and Abdurakhmanov, A.I. (2002a) Tyatya volcano, southwestern Kuril arc: Recent eruptive activity Inferred from widespread tephra. *Island Arc*, 11, 236-254.
- *Nakagawa, M., Ishizuka, Y., Yoshimoto, M., Kudo, T., Aizawa, K., Kitagawa, J., Hiraga, N., Mtsumoto, A., Togari, H. Takahashi, R., Ishii, E., Egusa, M., Seino, T., Amma-Miyasaka, M., Wada, K. and Niida, K. (2002b) Eruptive materials of the 2000 eruption of Usu Volcano, Northern Japan: Component materials and their temporal change. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 279-288.
- **Nakamura, Y. and Hirakawa, K. (2000) Petrographic properties of Daisetsu-Ohachidaira tephra, Hokkaido, Japan. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 45, 281-288.
- *Nakano, S., Takechi, M., Yoshikawa, T., Nagamori, H., Kariya, Y., Okumura, K. and Taguchi, Y. (2002)
- Geology of the Shiroumadake district. Quadrangle series, 1:50,000. Geol. Surv. Japan, AIST, 105p.
- *Nozawa, A. (2001) Volcanic sequence of caldera-fill deposits and structure of Okiura caldera, Hakkoda geothermal area, Northeast Japan. *Jour. Geological Soc. Japan*, **107**, 413-431.
- *Ohba, T. and Umeda K. (1999) Geology and temporal-spatial variations of magma compositions in Hachimantai Volcanic Field. *Jour. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol.*, **94**. 187-202.
- Ohba, T., Taniguchi, H., Oshima, H., Yoshida, M., Goto, A. and Research Group on Volcanic Explosions (2002) Effect of explosion energy

and depth on the nature of explosion cloud: A field experimental study. Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 115, 33-42.

- *Ohno, M., Kunikata, M., Suzuki, M., Nishimura, Y., Nagai, D., Endo, K., Chiba, T., and Morohoshi, M. (2002) Stratigraphical sequences of the pyroclastic deposits derived from the Usu 2000 Eruption. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 619-643.
- *Oikawa, T. (2002) Geology, volcanic history and eruptive style of the Yakedake Volcano Group. Jour: Geo. I Soc. Japan, 108, 615-632.
- *Oikawa, T. and Kioka, H. (2000) K-Ar ages of lavas from the Yakedake Volcano Group, southern part of Hida Mountains, Central Japan. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 45, 33-36.
- *Oikawa, T., Harayama, S. and Umeda, K. (2001) K-Ar age of lavas from the Shirouma-Oike Volcano, Central Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **46**, 21-25.
- *Oikawa, T., Okuno, M. and Nakamura, T. (2000) Radiocarbon age of wood fossil from the Abodaira lacustrine deposit, southern part of the Northern Japan Alps; Aggraded history of the Abodaira and active age of the Akandana volcano. *Earth Science (Chikyu-kagaku)*, 54, 191-195.
- *Oikawa, T., Okuno, M. and Nakamura, T. (2002) The past 3000 years' eruption history of Yakedake volcano in the Northern Japan Alps. *Jour. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **108**, 615-632.
- *Okuno, M., Yoshimoto, M., Arai, K., Nakamura, T., Ui, T., and Wada, K. (1999) AMS radiocarbon age of the Ko-f tephra from Hokkaido-Komagatake volcano, southwestern Hokkaido, Japan. *Jour. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **105**, 364-369.
- *Saito, E. and Suto, S. (2002) Airphotograph analysis around the new craters on the west flank of Usu volcano, Hokkaido, Japan, during the 2000 activity. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 47, 17-26.
- *Saito, T., Kamata, H., Ishikawa, N. (2000)Lithofacies and thermoremanent magnetism of the Ikeshiro pyroclastic-flow deposit and the Ikeshiro-Hokubu volcaniclastic deposit in Yufu-Tsurumi volcano group. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **45**, 217-224.
- *Satoguchi, Y., Nagahashi, Y., Kurokawa, K. and Yoshikawa, S. (1999) Tephrastratigraphy of the Pliocene to Lower Pleistocene formations in central Honshu, Japan. *Earth Science (Chikyu Kagaku)*, **53**, 275-290.
- *Satoguchi, Y., Watanabe, M., Nakajo, T. and Kataoka, K. (2000) Kd 38 volcanic ash bed intercalated in the lower part of the Kazusa Group in the Boso Peninsula, central Japan: Reexamination for the correlated volcanic ash bed. *Jour. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **106**, 189-204.
- *Shimada, S. (2000) Eruption of the Amagi-Kawagodaira volcano and paleo-environments in the Late and Latest Jomon Periods around the Izu Peninsula. *Quaternary Research*, 39:151-164.
- *Shimao, T., Takashima,I., Watanabe, K. and Izawa, E.(1999) Verification of errors and reliability of the thermoluminescence age for volcanic rocks precise beta-ray correction age of pyroclastic flow deposits of Unzen volcano, SW Japan. *Jour. Min. Petr. Econ. Geol.*, 94, 109-119.
- *Suda, E., Kamata, H., Iizawa, I., Saito, T. and Sakai, S. (2002) Application of dynamic pressure model to the 1980 debris avalanche of St.Helens volcano and the 1984 debris avalanche of Ontake volcano. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan.*, **47**, 1-7.
- *Sudo, M., Ishihara, K. and Tatsumi, Y. (2000) Pre-caldera volcanic history in Aira caldera area: K-Ar dating of lavas from Kajiki and Kokubu areas in northern part and Ushine area in southern part of the caldera. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **45**, 1-12.
- Sudo, M., Listanco, E. L., Ishikawa, N., Tagami, T., Kamata, H. and Tatsumi, Y. (2000) Quaternary volcanic activities in view of K-Arages of Macolod Corridor region in southwestern Luzon, Philippines. *Jour. Geol. Soc. Philipppines*, 55, 89-104.
- *Suto, S., Watanabe, K., Ikeda, K. and Saito, E. (2002) Airphotograph analysis around the new craters on the west flank of Usu volcano, Hokkaido, Japan, during the 2000 activity. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 131-137.
- *Suzuki, T. (2001) Iizuna-Kamitaru tephra group erupted from the Iizuna volcano of Myoko volcano group in the transition from narine isotope stage 6 to 5, and its significance for the chronological study of Central Japan. *Quaternary Research*, **40**, 29-41.
- *Suzuki, Y. and Nakada, S. (2002) Vesiculation and magma ascent process in the Usu 2000 eruption, inferred from texture and size distribution of bubbles. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 675-688.
- Takada, A. (1999) Variations in magma supply and magma partitioning: The role of tectonic settings. *Jour: Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, 93, 93-110.
- **Takada, A. (2000a) Evolution of Fuji Volcano from basaltic volcanoes. Gekkan Chikyu, 22, 529-534.
- **Takada, A. (2000b) Transport mechanism of felsic magma. Gekkan Chikyu, extra 30, 98-104
- *Takada, A. (2001) Caldera formation associated with the growth of a basaltic volcano: A model for gravitational collapse. *Jour. Geography*, **110**, 245-256.
- *Takada, A., Takarada, S., Yamamoto, T., Matsushima, N., Nishi, Y., Hirose, W., Kakihara, Y., Tajika, J., Endo, Y., Noroda, S., and Hokkaido Univ. (2001) Preliminary report on evolution of volcanic plume height associated with the Usu 2000 eruption. *Bull. Geol. Soc. Japan*, 52, 199-206.
- *Takagi, A., Nishimura, Y. and Miyamura, J. (2002) Crustal deformation measured by theodolite during the eruption in the north-western part of Usu volcano in 2000. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**,

559-569.

Takarada, S., Ui, T. and Yamamoto, Y. (1999) Depositional features and transportation mechanism of valley-filling Iwasegawa and Kaida

debris avalanches, Japan. Bull. Volcanol., 60, 508-522.

- *Takarada, S., Yoshimoto, M., Kitagawa, J., Hiraga, N., Yamamoto, T., Kawanabe, Y., Takada, A., Nakano, S., Hoshizumi, H., Miyagi, I., Nishimura, Y., Miura, D., Hirose, W., Ishimaru, S., Kakihara, Y., Endo, Y., Yahata, M., Norota, S., Niida, K., Ishizuka, Y., Kudo, T., Aizawa, K., Honma, H., Egusa, M., Ishii, E. and Takahashi, R. (2001) Volcanic ash falls from the Usu 2000 eruption and situation at the source area. *Bull. Geol. Surv. Japan*, **52**, 167-179.
- *Takarada, S., Hoshizumi, H., Miyagi, I., Nishimura, Y., Miyabuchi, Y. and Kawanabe, Y. (2002) Proximal deposits of the Usu 2000 eruption. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 645-661.
- ** Takashima, I. (1999) Thermoluminescence age determination of Fujisan lava dome, Takahara Volcano, north Kanto, central Japan. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 44, 275-277.
- Takashima, I., Nasution, A. and Muraoka, H. (2002) Thermoluminescence dayting of volcanic and altered rocks in the Bajawa geothermal area, central Flores Island, Indoneseia. *Bull. Geol. Surv. Japan*, 53, 139-146.
- *Takashima, I., Ohkawa, K., Miura, K., Saiki, K. and Murakami, H. (2001) Alteration and thermoluminescence ages of altered and volcanic rocks in the Hachimantai Appi geothermal field, NE Japan: Proposal for selection of promising geothermal areas by alteration survey, dayting and remote sensing. *Jour. Geotherm. Res. Soc. Japan*, 23, 251-261.
- Takeuchi S. and Nakamura, M. (2001) Role of precursory less-viscous mixed magma in the eruption of phenocryst-rich magma: evidence from the Hokkaido-Komagatake 1929 eruption. *Bull. Volcanol.*, **63**, 365-376
- Tamura, Y., Tatsumi, Y. Zhao, D., Kido, Y. and Shukuno, H. (2002) Hot fingers in the mantle wedge: new insights into magma genesis in subduction zone. *Earth Planet. Sci. Let.*, 197, 105-116.
- *Tateyama, H., Hoshizumi, H. and Watanabe, K. (2002) Stratigraphy and eruptive history of Nodake Volcano, Unzen, Kyushu, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 739-749.
- Tatsumi, Y., Sato, K., Sano, T., Arai, R., and Prikhodko, V.S. (2000) Transition from arc to intraplate magmatism associated with back arc rifting: evolution of the Sikhote Alin volcanism. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **27**, 1587-1590.
- Tatsumi, Y., Ishikawa, N., Anno, K., Ishizaka, K., and Itaya, T. (2001) Tectonic setting of high-Mg andesite magmatism in SW Japan: K-Ar chronology of the Setouchi volcanic belt. *Geophys. Jour. Intern.*, 144, 625-635.
- *Tiba, T., Kaneko, N. and Kano, K. (2000) Geology of the Urago district. With geological Ssheet map at 1:50,000, Geol. Surv. Japan, 74p.
- *Tomiya, A. (2000) Influence of a magma chamber on thermal structure of the surrounding crust. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 45, 173-179.
- *Tomiya, A. and Miyagi, I. (2002) The eruptive products and magma process of March 31, 2000 eruption of Usu volcano. *Bull.Volcanol.Soc.Japan*, 47, 663-673.
- *Tomiya, A., Miyagi, I., Hoshizumi, H., Yamamoto, T., Kawanabe, Y. and Satoh, H. (2001) Essential material of the March, 31, 2000 eruption of Usu volcano: Implication for the mechanism of the phreatomagmatic eruption. *Bull. Geol. Surv. Japan*, 52, 215-229.
- *Toya, N. and Ban, M. (2001) Volcanic history and major element bulk chemistry of the Aoso volcano, Northeast Japan arc. *Japan. Mag. Mineral. Petrol. Sci*, **30**, 105-116.
- *Tsukui, M., Niihori, K., Kawanabe, Y. and Suzuki, Y. (2001) Stratigraphy and formation of Miyakejima volcano. *Jour. Geography*, **110**, 156-167.
- *Ueda, Y., Onodera, K., Ootani, Y. and Suzuki, A. (2001) Geophysical structure of the Myojin-sho caldera and its volcanological interpretation. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **46**, 175-185.
- Ui, T., Matsuwo, N., Sumita, M. and Fujinawa, A. (1999) Generation of block and ash flows during the 1990-95 eruption of Unzen Volcano, Japan. Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 89, 123-137.
- *Ui, T., Nakagawa, M., Yoshimoto, M., and Geological Party, Joint Research Group on Usu 2000 Eruption (2000) 2000 eruption of Usu Volcano, Japan. *Bull.Volcanol.Soc.Japan*, **45**, 195-196.
- *Ui, T., Arai, K., Yoshimoto, M., Yoshida, M., Wada, Y., Hattori, I., and Yoneda, H. (2002a) December 16, 1707 ash discharged from Mount Fuji: Fallout and archived in Tokyo. *Bull. Volcanol.Soc.Japan*, **47**, 87-93.
- *Ui, T., Nakagawa, M., Inaba, C., Yoshimoto, M., and Geological party, Joint Research Group on Usu 2000 eruption (2002b) Sequence of the 2000 eruption, Usu Volcano. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 105-117.
- *Ui, T., Ikeda, Y., Koyama, M., Suzuki-Kamata, K., Okada, Hm., Niida, K. (2002c) Pyroclastic surges occurred during the 2000 eruption of Usu Volcano. *Bull. Volcanol.Soc.Japan*, **47**, 333-337.
- *Umeda, K., Hayashi, S., Ban, M., Sasaki, M., Ohba, T. and Akaishi, K. (1999) Sequence of the volcanism and tectonics during the last 2.0 million years along the volcanic front in Tohoku district, NE Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **44**, 233-249.
- *Urai, M., Kawanabe, Y., Itoh, J., Takada, A. and Kato, M. (2001) Ash fall areas associated with the Usu 2000 eruption observed by ASTER. *Bull. Geol. Surv. Japan*, **52**, 189-197.
- *Uto, K., Kazahaya, K., Saito, G., Itoh, J., Takada, A., Kawanabe, Y., Hoshizumi, H., Yamamoto, T., Miyagi, I., Tomiya, A., Sato, H., Hamazaki, S. and Shinohara, H. (2001) Magma ascending model of 2000 Miyakejima eruptions: Evidence from pyroclastics of August 18 and SO₂-rich volcanic gas. *Jour. Geography*, **110**, 257-270.

- *Wada, Y. and Aoki, M. (2002) A pyroclastic dike, Mikoshi Pass, Wakayama prefecture: Formation process inferred from field and laboratory observations. *Bull. Nara Univ. Educ. (Nat.)*, **51**, 25-35.
- *Wada, Y. and Iwano, H. (2001) Pyroclastic (tuffite) dikes at Kawakami in Nara prefecture, central Kii peninsula, SW Japan. *Bull. Volcanol.* Soc. Japan, 46, 107-115.
- *Wada, Y., Ando, M. and Higashiyama, T. (2000) Magma flow directions within dikes exposed in Kawakami and Yoshino provinces, central Kii peninsula, SW Japan. *Bull. Nara Univ. Educ. (Nat.)*, **49**, 47-57.
- *Watanabe, K. (2000) Dive surveys on knolls off the north-east of the Iriomote Island: The Iriomote knoll and the Daiichi and Daini Kohama knolls. JAMSTEC Deep Sea Res, 16, 19-28.
- Watanabe, K., Ono, K., Sakaguchi, K., Takada, A. and Hoshizumi, H. (1999a) Co- ignimbrite ash-fall deposits of the 1991 eruptions of Fugen-dake, Unzen volcano, Japan. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.* 89, 95-112.
- Watanabe, K., Danhara, T. Watanabe, K., Terai, K. and Yamashita, T. (1999b) Juvenile volcanic glass erupted before the appearance of the 1991lava dome, Unzen volcano, Kyushu, Japan. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.* **89**, 113-121.
- *Yahata, M. (2002) Fragmentation depths and its temporal variation during Usu 2000 phreatomagmatic- and phreatic eruptions. *Bull. Volcanol.* Soc. Japan, 47, 263-278.
- *Yamamoto, H. (2001) Formation process of cinder cones in the Ojika-Jima monogenetic volcano group. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 46, 239-256.
- *Yamamoto, T. (1999a) Plinian fall deposits in the Fukushima-Tochigi area during 0.3-0.1 Ma: Stratigraphy of marker tephra layers erupting from Numazawa, Hiuchigatake, Kinunuma, and Sunagohara volcanoes. Bull. Geol. Surv. Japan, 50, 743-767.
- *Yamamoto, T. (1999b) Geology of the Tajima district. With geological sheet map at 1:50000. Geol. Surv. Japan, 85p.
- *Yamamoto, T. (2001) The 2000 eruption of Usu volcano, Japan: Characteristics of phreatomagmatic explosions and hazard evaluation for pyroclastic currents. *Bull. Geol. Surv. Japan*, 52, 231-239.
- *Yamamoto, T. and Sakaguchi, K. (2000) Eruptive history of Adatara volcano, NE Japan, during last 250,000 years based on tephrostrati-graphy. *Jour. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **106**, 865-882.
- Yamamoto, T., Nakamura, Y., and Glicken, H. (1999) Pyroclastic density current from the 1888 phreatic eruption of Bandai volcano, NE Japan. Jour. Volcanol. Geothermal. Res., 90, 191-207.
- **Yamamoto, T., Takada, A. and Shimokawa, K. (2002) Debris analanches of Fuji volcano, Japan. Gekkan Chikyu, 24, 640-644.
- *Yanagisawa, Y., Kaneko, T., Akahane, S., Awata, Y., Kamai, T. and Tsuchiya, N. (2001) *Geology of the Iiyama district*. With geological sheet map at 1:50,000. Geol. Surv. Japan, 144p.
- *Yokoo, A., Taniguchi, H., Oshima, H., Goto, A., Ohba, T., Miyamoto, T. and Research Group on Volcanic Explosions (2002) Study on the Usu 2000 phreatic explosions in terms of field explosion experiments. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 243-253.

2. Petrology and Mineralogy

In the period from 1999 to 2002, many studies on petrology and mineralogy have been made by Japanese earth scientists as well as the previous period.

Significant progress has been made at the Japanese-USA cooperative studies on Hawaiian volcanoes (Naka *et al.*, 2000; see section VII of this report), including deep-sea survey with the submersible "Shinkai 6500", the world's most advanced deep-sea probe. Major part of the outcome was published as a monograph (Takahashi, E. *et al.*, 2002), including petrological and geochemical studies on products collected by the deep-sea survey (Kaneoka *et al.*, 2002; Sherman *et al.*, 2002; Shinozaki *et al.*, 2002; Tanaka *et al.*, 2002) and melting experiments on basalt+peridotite (Takahashi, E. and Nakajima, 2002). Other studies on the Hawaii project were appeared as individual papers (e.g., Lipman *et al.*, 2000).

Research on Unzen volcano also progressed significantly after its eruption of 1990-1995 (Chen, C. H. *et al.*, 1999; Kusakabe *et al.*, 1999; Nakada and Motomura, 1999; Sato *et al.*, 1999; Tateyama *et al.*, 2002; Watanabe, Ko. *et al.*, 1999). At the volcano, international scientific drilling project (Unzen volcano Scientific Drilling Project) is going on (Sakuma and Nakada, 2002; Sakuma and Saito, 2000; Uto *et al.*, 2000; see section VII of this report) and many publications will be appeared in the next period.

Research on subduction-zone magmatism around Japan was made energetically. As for Northeast Japan, spatial distribution of volcanoes was noticed (Umeda et al., 1999), and a new concept of "hot fingers" in the mantle wedge was proposed (Tamura, Y. et al., 2001, 2002). The magmatism in this region was summarized (Yoshida, 2001) and compared with Southern Chile arc (Takahashi, M. et al., 2002b). Also Cenozoic volcanism on Hokkaido area (Hirose, W. et al., 2000; Hirose, W. and Nakagawa, 1999; Ikeda, Y. et al., 2000; Nakagawa, 1999; Nakagawa et al., 1999a; Okamura et al., 2000; Takagi et al., 1999) was discussed in connection with its tectonic setting. As for Southwest Japan, many geochemical studies were made especially on the Setouchi volcanics or related rocks (Furukawa and Tatsumi, 1999; Hanyu et al., 2002; Nakashima et al., 2000; Seno and Matsuura, 2000; Shimoda and Tatsumi, 1999; Sumii, 2000; Tatsumi, 2000b, 2001; Tatsumi et al., 2002), including contemporary adaktic rocks in central Japan (Takahashi, T. and Shuto, 1999). Also studies on the region before (Kagami et al., 1999a, 2000) and after (Ikeda, Y. et al., 2001; Kamata and Kodama, 1999; Shukuno and Arai, 1999) the opening of the Japan Sea were made. Studies on premature arcs and active back-arc basins, such as Izu-Bonin arc (Hochstaedter et al., 2000; Ishii et al., 2000a-b; Ishizuka, O. et al., 2002), Mariana arc (Ishikawa and Tera, 1999; Ohara et al., 2002), Ryukyu arc (Shinjo and Kato, 2000; Shinjo et al., 2000; Watanabe, Ka., 2000, 2001) and West Philippine back-arc basin (Fujioka et al., 1999), were made mainly by deep-sea survey. In connection to the above studies, it was proposed that continental crust with andesitic composition was generated by delamination (Tatsumi, 2000a), and that silicic magma in oceanic arc was generated by remelting of an andesitic crust (Tamura, Y. and Tatsumi, 2002). Analyses on light elements in subduction-zone magma, such as boron (Sano, T. et al., 2001b), beryllium (Shimaoka and Kaneoka, 2000) and carbon (Nishio and Sano, 2000), were made to investigate contribution of recycled elements from subducting sediment. There were studies on high-pressure melting experiments for related rocks (see later) and numerical simulation for wedge-mantle convection (Iwamori, 1999a-b, 2000a-b, 2001a-b, 2002a-b; Iwamori and Zhao, 2000a-b; Zhao et al., 2000). A textbook on subduction-zone magmatism was published by Takahashi, M. (2000). Research on plume-origin magmatism (Hanyu and Nakamura, 2000; Hirano et al., 2001; Tatsumi et al., 1999b, 2000a-b) was also progressed in addition to the Hawaii project.

There were two major eruptions during this period, on which many studies were made (see section II of this report). One was the 2000 eruption of Usu volcano, Hokkaido (phreatomagmatic/phreatic). In this eruption, it was pointed out that detailed petrographical research was needed for detection of essential materials of phreatomagmatic eruptions (Tomiya *et al.*, 2001) because apparently fresh and clear volcanic glass from this eruption was found to be accidental fragment. Studies on the magmatic process of the eruption in comparison with the past eruptions (Tomiya, 2001; Tomiya and Miyagi, 2002), on vesiculation of the magma during ascent (Suzuki and Nakada, 2001, 2002), on fragmentation of country rocks due to explosion within the conduit (Yahata, 2002) and on petrographical and geochemical analyses of the volcanic ash (Nakagawa *et al.*, 2002b; Nogami *et al.*, 2002; Shimano *et al.*, 2001) were also made. The other major eruption in this period was the 2000 eruption of Miyakejima volcano, Izu Islands (phreatomagmatic/phreatic). Again, the detection of essential materials in the eruptive products required detailed and complex researches (Miyagi, I. and Tomiya, 2002a-b; Miyagi, I. *et al.*, 2001a-c). Studies on mechanism of the voluminous emission of SO₂ gas (Uto *et al.*, 2001; Yasuda *et al.*, 2002), on magmatic process of the eruption (Amma-Miyasaka and Nakagawa, 2002; Geshi *et al.*, 2002) and on formation history of the volcano (Tsukui *et al.*, 2001) were also made.

Petrological studies of other individual volcanoes (volcanic areas) around Japan include: Abu Monogenetic Volcano Group (Kakubuchi *et al.*, 2000), Adatara (Fujinawa *et al.*, 2001b), Akagi (Kobayashi, K. and Nakamura, 2001), Akan (Ikeda, Y., 2002), Akusekijima (Furuyama *et al.*, 2002), Aoso (Toya and Ban, 2001), Aso (Obata *et al.*, 2001), Bishamon-dake (Ujike *et al.*, 1999), Chokai (Ban *et al.*, 2001), Daikonjima basalt (Morris *et al.*, 1999), Daisen (Tamura, Y. *et al.*, 2000), Daisetsu (Nakamura, Y. and Hirakawa, 2000), Fuji (Fujibayashi *et al.*, 1999; Ui *et al.*, 2002), Hachijo-Nishiyama (Tsukui and Hoshino, 2002), Hachimantai (Ohba and Umeda, 1999), Hakone (Hirata *et al.*, 2001), Higashi-Izu Monogenetic Volcano Group (Suzuki, 2000; Takahashi, M. *et al.*, 2002a), Iwate (Nakagawa and Togari, 1999), Kikai and Satsuma-Iwojima (Maeno *et al.*, 2002; Saito *et al.*, 2002), Kita-Hakkoda Volcano Group (Kudo *et al.*, 2000), Kurikoma (Fujinawa *et al.*, 2001a), Myojin-sho (Ueda *et al.*, 2001), Nasu (Ban and Yamamoto, 2002), Nekoma (Kimura *et al.*, 2001, 2002b), Norikura (Kimura *et al.*, 1999), Numazawa (Numazawa Volcano Research Group, 1999), Ontake (Kimura and Yoshida, 1999), Rausu (Miyaji *et al.*, 2000), Rishiri (Ishizuka, Y. and

Nakagawa, 1999; Kuritani, 1999a-b, 2001), Sannome-gata (Yoshinaga and Nakagawa, 1999), Toga (Kano *et al.*, 2002), Towada (Kuri and Kurita, 1999), Tyatya (Nakagawa *et al.*, 2002a) and Ueno volcano (Ueno basalts) (Kimura *et al.*, 2002a; Nakano, S. *et al.*, 2000; Ujike and Stix, 2000).

Studies focused on a special eruption include: the 1929 eruption of Hokkaido-Komagatake (Takeuchi, 2000; Takeuchi and Nakamura, 2001), the 1813 eruption of Suwanose (Shimano and Koyaguchi, 2001) and the 100-ka eruption of Hijiori (Matsu'ura *et al.*, 2002).

Studies on volcano-related geothermal areas include: Yuzawa-Ogachi-Doroyu area (Takashima *et al.*, 1999; Zhang *et al.*, 1999), Hachimantai-Appi area (Takashima *et al.*, 2001) and Yanaizu-Nishiyama (Okuaizu) area (Mizugaki, 2000).

Studies on volcanics of around Neocene, besides those described above (e.g., Setouchi volcanics), include: Anamizu Formation (Lopez and Ishiwatari, 2002), Beppu-Shimabara graben (Kita, I. *et al.*, 2001; Yokose *et al.*, 1999), Daiyama and Nisshou areas (Shimakura *et al.*, 1999), Hahajima (Yajima *et al.*, 2001), Hamamasu area (Aoki *et al.*, 1999), Hisatsu area (Nagao *et al.*, 1999), Inaniwadake (Yasui and Yamamoto, 2000), Masuda basanite (Sawada and Takasu, 1999), Oki-Dogo (Kobayashi, S. *et al.*, 2002), Shimane Peninsula (Iizumi *et al.*, 1999), Shirogishi Tuffs (Imaoka *et al.*, 1999) and southern Fossa Magna region (Miyagi, S. and Kanai, 2002). Studies on volcanics and granites of Paleogene or older (Aoya, 2001; Ikawa *et al.*, 1999; Kagami *et al.*, 1999b; Kanayama *et al.*, 1999; Kawano, Y. and Kagami, 1999; Owada *et al.*, 1999; Rezanov *et al.*, 1999; Sugii and Sawada, 2000; Tsuchiya *et al.*, 1999a) were made to investigate the relation between the arc crust and felsic magmatism in Japan.

Volcanic fields outside Japan were also studied, such as: Ruapehu volcano (Nakagawa *et al.*, 1999b, 2002c), Flores island (Muraoka *et al.*, 2002; Otake *et al.*, 2002), East African Rift Zone and related areas (Kabeto *et al.*, 2001a-b; Orihashi *et al.*, 2001; Sawada *et al.*, 2001; Tadesse *et al.*, 1999), Deccan trap (Sano, T. *et al.*, 2001a), Korea (Kim *et al.*, 1999), China and Mongolia (Kanisawa, 1999; Liu and Taniguchi, 2002; Nozaka and Liu, 2002; Zheng *et al.*, 2002), Siberia (Agashev *et al.*, 2001; Hasenaka *et al.*, 1999; Litasov, K. and Taniguchi, 2002; Litasov, K. *et al.*, 2000, 2001c-d, 2002; Litasov, Y. *et al.*, 2002; Morikiyo *et al.*, 2000), Sikhote Alin (Shimazu and Kawano, 1999; Tatsumi *et al.*, 2000c) and Kokchetav 'lamproite' (Zhu *et al.*, 2002).

Research on peridotite/ophiolite masses of various fields was made, such as Horoman peridotite (Kaneoka *et al.*, 2001; Morishita and Arai, 2001a-b; Takazawa *et al.*, 1999; Yoshikawa and Nakamura, 2000), Iwanaidake peridotite (Kubo, 2002), Nikanbetsu peridotite (Takahashi, N., 2001), Shiokawa peridotite (Uesugi and Arai, 1999), Oeyama peridotite (Tsujimori, 1999), Oman ophiolite (Ahmed and Arai, 2002; Ishikawa *et al.*, 2002; Kawahata *et al.*, 2001), Ronda peridotite (Morishita *et al.*, 2001), Harzburg intrusion (Sano, A. *et al.*, 2002), Elistratova ophiolite (Miyashita and Sokolov, 1999) and other Japanese peridotites (Abe *et al.*, 1999; Kadoshima and Arai, 1999; Matsumoto and Arai, 2001; Tamura, A. *et al.*, 1999). Volcanics closely related to ophiolites were also studied (Imanaka and Miyashita, 1999; Ishiwatari, 1999; Kawabata and Kiminami, 1999; Kiminami *et al.*, 1999; Miyashita, 1999; Miyashita and Kiminami, 1999; Ozawa, H. *et al.*, 1999; Sakakibara *et al.*, 1999; Tsuchiya *et al.*, 1999b). In addition, mantle xenoliths (Arai *et al.*, 2000, 2001; Hattori, K. H. *et al.*, 2002; Yamamoto *et al.*, 1999) and inclusions in diamonds (Akagi, 1999; Wang *et al.*, 2000) and Cr-spinel (Shimizu, K. *et al.*, 2001) were investigated for mantle studies.

There was mass production of papers in the field of high-pressure experiment on mantle mineralogy (Chen, J. *et al.*, 2002; Hattori, T. *et al.*, 2000; Hirose, K. *et al.*, 1999, 2001a-b; Katsura, 2002; Kuroda *et al.*, 2000; Miura *et al.*, 2000; Miyajima *et al.*, 1999, 2001; Murakami *et al.*, 2002; Nakatsuka *et al.*, 1999a-b; Oguri *et al.*, 2000; Ono, 2000; Ono *et al.*, 2001a-b, 2002a; Shinmei *et al.*, 1999; Shirasaka *et al.*, 2002; Suito *et al.*, 2001) and melting experiments on MORB-like or mantle-related rocks (Aizawa *et al.*, 1999; Chung and Kagi, 2002; Funamori *et al.*, 2000; Hirose, K., 2002; Hirose, K. and Fei, 2002; Inoue *et al.*, 2000; Kogiso and Hirschmann, 2001; Litasov, K. *et al.*, 2001a-b; Niida and Green, 1999; Okamoto and Maruyama, 1999; Ono, 1999; Pati *et al.*, 2000; Singh *et al.*, 2000; Sumita, 2000; Tatsumi *et al.*, 1999a; Wang and Takahashi, 1999, 2000) including diamond-forming experiments with carbonate melt (Arima *et al.*, 2002). There was also an experimental study on water solubility in natural rhyolite melt at crustal pressure (Yamashita, 1999).

Various types of analytical or experimental techniques were improved, such as electron microprobe (Geshi and Yoshida, 2001; Kato, 1999; Sugawara, 2001a; Ujike, 2000), ICP-MS (Fukuda and Nakai, 2002; Nakai *et al.*, 2001), FT-IR (Ogo and Yamashita, 1999; Okumura *et al.*, 2000), TL measurement (Shimao *et al.*, 1999), Pb-isotope measurement (Nohda, 1999) and 1-atm gas-mixing furnace (Sugawara, 1999). New types of analyses of rock texture were introduced such as X-ray CT (Nakano, T. *et al.*, 2000; Ohtani *et al.*, 2000, 2001; Tsuchiyama *et al.*, 2000), high-resolution TEM (Hiraga, 1999) and polarized laser-scanning microscope (Shimizu, I. and Shimada, 2002).

Fluid connectivity (wetting angle) in porous rocks and its role on various processes were noticed. Mibe *et al.* (1999, 2000) suggested that the generation of arc magma and, therefore, the location of the volcanic front may be controlled by aqueous fluid connectivity in the mantle. The connectivity of fluid was also thought to be important on water transport within mantle (Ono *et al.*, 2002b), crust (Nakamura, M., 2000; Nakamura, M. and Watson, 2001; Yoshino *et al.*, 2002) and metamorphic rocks (Hiraga *et al.*, 2001, 2002). Connectivity of melt in crystal-rich magma was also studied in relation to the textural development of igneous rocks in the stage of their crystallization (Ikeda, S. *et al.*, 2002).

There were various types of studies on dynamics of magma from petrological points of view, such as, melt migration within dikes (Geshi, 2000, 2001), crystallization and cooling history of magma (Miyake and Shimobayashi, 2000; Nishimura and Yanagi, 2000; Sano, Y. *et al.*, 2002), solidification of lava domes (Smith *et al.*, 2001), and formation of layered structure of gabbro (Akatsuka *et al.*, 1999) and peridotite

(Toramaru *et al.*, 2001). A series of analogue experiments on crystallization of magma within meltable material (a binary eutectic system) was carried out (Kaneko and Koyaguchi, 2000) in order to discuss evolution of a magma chamber within the crust (Koyaguchi and Kaneko, 1999). There was also a numerical experiment of crystallization for a binary eutectic system for the purpose of applying to igneous textures (Toramaru, 2001). A textbook on dynamics of petrogenesis was published by Banno *et al.* (2000). Theoretical approach to viscosity of magma (Taniguchi, 2000) and a review on magma science (Taniguchi, 2001) was made.

Thermodynamical and mineralogical research was made on mixing properties of Ca in olivine (Kawasaki, 1999, 2001a-b), phase relations of enstatite at high temperatures (Jiang *et al.*, 2002), behavior of Sr in CaAl-silicates (Enami, 1999), fine structure of amphiboles (Ishida *et al.*, 2002) and oxybiotite (Kogure and Nepolo, 2001), partition of Mg between olivine/orthopyroxene and melt (Sugawara, 2000a), Fe and Mg between plagioclase and melt (Sugawara, 2000b, 2001b) and trace-elements within mantle materials (Kanzaki, 2000; Taura *et al.*, 2001) in even open magmatic systems (Ozawa, K., 2001). Studies on other kinetic processes include: diffusion in garnet (Nishiyama, 1999) and biotite (Utsuki, 2002), equilibrium form of negative crystals in quartz (Asada *et al.*, 2002), and weathering/hydration of volcanic glass or minerals (Kawano, M. and Tomita, 2001; Kita, S. *et al.*, 1999; Nakamura, Y. *et al.*, 2002).

(Akihiko Tomiya)

References

- Abe, N., Arai, A. and Yurimoto, H. (1999) Texture-dependent geochemical variations of sub-arc mantle peridotite from Japan island arcs. 7th Kimberlite Conference Proc., 13-22.
- Agashev, A. M., Watanabe, T., Kuligin, S. S., Pokhilenko, N. P. and Orihasi, Y. (2001) Rb-Sr and Sm-Nd isotopes in garnet pyroxenite xenoliths from Siberian kimberlites: an insight into lithospheric mantle. *J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, **96**, 7-18.
- Ahmed, A. H. and Arai, S. (2002) Unexpectedly high-PGE chromitite from the deeper mantle section of the northern Oman ophiolite and its tectonic implications. *Contrib. Mineral. Petrol.*, **143**, 263-278.
- Aizawa, Y., Tatsumi, Y. and Yamada, H. (1999) Element transport by dehydration of subducted sediments: implication for arc and ocean island magmatism. *Island Arc*, **8**, 38-46.
- Akagi, T. (1999) Relationship of strontium isotope ratio and chemical composition of micro inclusions in fibrous diamonds: Implication for isotopically different components of the upper mantle. *Geochem. J.*, **33**, 101-107.
- Akatsuka, T., Obata, M. and Yokose, H. (1999) Formation of layered structure in the Murotomisaki gabbroic complex, especially picrite gabbro, Kochi Prefecture, Japan ---Quantitative evaluation of crystal accumulation. J. Geol. Soc. Japan, 105, 771-788. *
- Amma-Miyasaka, M. and Nakagawa, M. (2002) Origin of anorthite and olivine megacrysts in Island Arc tholeiites: petrological study of 1940 and 1962 ejecta from Miyake-jima volcano, Izu-Mariana arc. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 117, 263-283.
- Aoki, A., Shuto, K. and Itaya, T. (1999) Stratigraphy and K-Ar ages of Tertiary volcanic rocks in the Hamamasu area northwestern Hokkaido, Japan. J. Geol. Soc. Japan, 105, 341-351.
- Aoya, M. (2001) P-T-D path of eclogite from the Sambagawa belt deduced from combination of petrological and microstructural analyses. *J. Petrol.*, **42**, 1225-1248.
- Arai, S., Hirai, H. and Uto, K. (2000) Mantle peridotite xenoliths from the Southwest Japan arc: a model for the sub-arc upper mantle structure and composition of the Western Pacific rim. J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci., 95, 9-23.
- Arai, S., Kida, M., Abe, N. and Yurimoto, H. (2001) Petrology of peridotite xenoliths in alkali basalt (11 Ma) from Boun, Korea: an insight into the upper mantle beneath the East Asian continental margin. J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci., 96, 89-99.
- Arima, M., Kozai, Y. and Akaishi, M. (2002) Diamond nucleation and growth by reduction of carbonate melts under high-pressure and high-temperature conditions. *Geology*, **30**, 691-694.
- Asada, R., Shimobayashi, N. and Kitamura, M. (2002) Equilibrium form of negative crystals in igneous quartz. *J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, **97**, 59-39.
- Ban, M. and Yamamoto, T. (2002) Petrological study of Nasu-Chausudake volcano (ca. 16 ka to present), northeastern Japan. Bull. Volcanol., 64,100-116.
- Ban, M., Hayashi, S. and Takaoka, N. (2001) K-Ar datings of the Chokai volcano, northeast Japan arc ---a compound volcano composed of continuously established three stratovolcanoes---. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 46, 317-333. *
- Banno, S., Toriumi, M., Obata, M. and Nishiyama, T. (2000) Dynamics of petrogenesis. Univ. Tokyo Press, 304pp. **
- Chen, C. H., Nakada, S., Shieh, Y. N. and DePaolo, D. J. (1999) The Sr, Nd and O isotopic studies of the 1991-1995 eruption at Unzen, Japan. *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **89**, 243-253.
- Chen, J., Inoue, T., Yurimoto, H. and Weidner, D. J. (2002) Effect of water on olivine-wadsleyite phase boundary in the (Mg, Fe)₂SiO₄ system. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **29**, 1875, doi:10.1029/2001GL014429.
- Chung, J. I. and Kagi, H. (2002) High concentration of water in stishovite in the MORB system. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **29**, 2020, doi:10.1029/2002GL015579.

Enami, M. (1999) CaAl-silicates: An important Sr container in subducted slab. J. Geogr., 108, 177-187. *

- Fujibayashi, N., Yamamoto, G., Nomura, T., Kagami, H. and Nagao, T. (1999) Basalt-andesite, and andesite-rhyolite magma mixing recorded in essential pyroclastics and gabbroic cumulates in the Hoei Ejecta, Fuji Volcano. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **53**, 135-155. *
- Fujinawa, A., Fujita, K., Takahashi, M., Umeda, K. and Hayashi, S. (2001a) Development history of Kurikoma volcano, northeast Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **46**, 269-284. *
- Fujinawa, A., Hayashi, S. and Umeda, K. (2001b) K-Ar ages for lava samples of Adatara volcano: Reexamination of formation history of the volcano. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 46, 95-106. *
- Fujioka, K., Okino, K., Kanamatsu, T., Ohara, Y., Ishizuka, O., Haraguchi, S. and Ishii, T. (1999) Enigmatic extinct spreading center in the West Philippine backarc basin unveiled. *Geology*, 27, 1135-1138.
- Fukuda, S. and Nakai, S. (2002)²³⁸U/²³⁰Th disequilibrium measurement for volcanic standard rock samples using a multiple-collector ICPMS. *Geochem. J.*, **36**, 465-473.
- Funamori, M., Jeanloz, R., Miyajima, N. and Fujino, K. (2000) Mineral assemblages of basalt in the lower mantle. J. Geophys. Res., 105, 26037-26043.
- Furukawa, Y. and Tatsumi, Y. (1999) Melting of a subducting slab and production of high-Mg andesite magma: Unusual magmatism in SW Japan at 13~15 Ma, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 26, 2271-2274.
- Furuyama, K., Daishi, M., Nagao, K. and Eguchi, M. (2002) The discovery of young dacite lava in Akusekijima island, Tokara island, Japan. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 47, 751-755.
- Geshi, N. (2000) Fractionation and magma mixing within intruding dike swarm: evidence from the Miocene Shitara-Otoge igneous complex, central Japan. *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **98**, 127-152.
- Geshi, N. (2001) Melt segregation by localized shear deformation and fracturing during crystallization of magma in shallow intrusions of the Otoge volcanic complex, central Japan. *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **106**, 285-300.
- Geshi, N. and Yoshida, H. (2001) Determination of bulk groundmass compositions by X-ray map analysis. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 46, 1-10.*
- Geshi, N., Shimano T., Nagai M. and Nakada S. (2002) Magma plumbing system of the 2000 eruption on the Miyakejima Volcano, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 419-434. *
- Hanyu, T. and Nakamura, E. (2000) Constraints on HIMU and EM by Sr and Nd isotopes re-examined. Earth Planets Space, 52, 61-70.
- Hanyu, T., Tatsumi, Y., and Nakai, S. (2002) A contribution of slab-melts to the formation of high-Mg andesite magmas; Hf isotopic evidence from SW Japan, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **29**, 2051, doi: 10.1029/2002GL015856.
- Hasenaka, T., Litasov, Y. D., Taniguchi, H., Miyamoto, T. and Fujimaki, H. (1999) Cenozoic volcanism in Siberia: a review. *Northeast Asian Studies*, **3**, 249-272.
- Hattori, K. H., Arai, S. and Clarke, D. B. (2002) Selenium, tellurium, arsenic and antimony contents of primary mantle sulfides. *Canadian Mineral.*, **40**, 637-650.
- Hattori, T., Nagai, T., Yamanaka, T., Werner, S. and Shulz, H. (2000) Single-crystal X-ray diffraction study of FeGeO₃ high-P clinopyroxene (C3/c) up to 8.2 GPa. *Amer. Mineral.*, 85, 1485-1491.
- Hiraga, T. (1999) Observation of grain boundaries in rocks by high-resolution transmission electron microscopy. J. Geogr., 108, 110-121. *
- Hiraga, T., Nishikawa, O., Nagase, T. and Akizaki, M. (2001) Morphology of intergranular pores and wetting angles in pelitic schists studied by transmission electron microscopy. *Contrib. Mineral. Petrol.*, 141, 613-622.
- Hiraga, T., Nishikawa, O., Nagase, T., Akizuki, M. and Kohlstedt, D. L. (2002) Interfacial energies for quartz and albite in pelitic schist. *Contrib. Mineral. Petrol.*, **143**, 664-672.
- Hirano, N., Kawamura, K., Hattori, M., Saito, K. and Ogawa, Y. (2001) A new type of intra-plate volcanism: young alkali-basalts discovered from the subducting Pacific Plate, northern Japan Trench. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 28, 2719-2722.
- Hirata, D., Yamashita, H., Mannen, K. and Taniguchi, H. (2001) Lithological characteristics of the basement of Hakone Volcano: Using of the deep drilling core sample. *J. Geogr.*, **110**, 420-426. *
- Hirose, K. (2002) Phase transitions in pyrolitic mantle around 670-km depth: Implications for upwelling of plumes from the lower mantle. *J. Geophys. Res.*, **107**, 10.1029/2001JB000597.
- Hirose, K. and Fei, Y. (2002) Subsolidus and melting phase relations of basaltic composition in the uppermost lower mantle. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta*, **66**, 2099-2108.
- Hirose, K., Fei, Y., Ma, Y. and Mao, H. (1999) The fate of subducted basaltic crust in the Earth's lower mantle. Nature, 397, 53-56.
- Hirose, K., Fei, Y., Ono, S., Yagi, T. and Funakoshi, K. (2001a) *In situ* measurements of the phase transition boundary in Mg₃Al₂Si₃O₁₂: implications for the nature of the seismic discontinuities in the Earth's mantle. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **184**, 567-573.
- Hirose, K., Komabayashi, T., Murakami, M. and Funakoshi, K. (2001b) *In situ* measurements of the Majorite-Akimotoite-Perovskite phase transition boundaries in MgSiO₃. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **28**, 4351-4354.
- Hirose, W. and Nakagawa, M. (1999) Neogene volcanism in Central-Eastern Hokkaido: Beginning and evolution of arc volcanism inferred

from volcanological parameters and geochemistry. J. Geol. Soc. Japan, 105, 247-265.*

- Hirose, W., Iwasaki, M. and Nakagawa, M. (2000) Transition of Neogene arc volcanism in Central-Western Hokkaido, viewed from K-Ar ages, style of volcanic activity, and bulk rock chemistry. J. Geol. Soc. Japan, 106, 120-135.*
- Hochstaedter, A. G., Gill, J. B., Taylor, B., Ishizuka, O., Yuasa, M. and Morita, S. (2000) Across-arc geochemical trends in the Izu-Bonin arc: Constraints on source composition and mantle melting. *J. Geophys. Res.*, **105**, 495-512.
- Iizumi, S., Otani, S. and Hara, K. (1999) Sr and Nd isotope ratios of Middle Miocene volcanic rocks from Shimane Peninsula, San'in district, Southwest Japan. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, 53, 383-391. *
- Ikawa, T., Onimura, M., Imaoka, T. and Kagami, H. (1999) Petrography and Sr and Nd isotope ratios of the Sekidogatake Granophyre and associated rhyolites, central part of Yamaguchi Prefecture, Southwest Japan. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, 53, 333-348. *
- Ikeda, S., Toriumi, M., Yoshida, H. and Shimizu, I. (2002) Experimental study of the textural development of igneous rocks in the stage of crystallization: the importance of interfacial energies under non-equilibrium conditions. *Contrib. Mineral. Petrol.*, 142, 397-415.
- Ikeda, Y. (2002) Petrogenetic relationship between mafic magma of somma lavas and voluminous felsic magma with caldera formation: A case study of Akan volcanic field, eastern Hokkaido, Japan. *J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, **97**, 39-46.
- Ikeda, Y., Stern, R.J., Kagami, H. and Sun, C.-H. (2000) Pb, Nd, and Sr isotopic constraints on the origin of Miocene basaltic rocks from northeast Hokkaido, Japan: Implications for opening of the Kurile back-arc basin. *Island Arc*, 9, 161-172.
- Ikeda, Y., Nagao, K. and Kagami, H. (2001) Effects of recycled materials involved in a mantle source beneath the southwest Japan arc region: evidence from noble gas, Sr, and Nd isotopic systematics. *Chemical Geology*, **175**, 509-522.
- Imanaka, R. and Miyashita, S. (1999) Interaction between mid-oceanic ridge basalts and soft-sediments: An example of the Tomuraushi complex, Hidaka Belt, central Hokkaido. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **52**, 125-137. *
- Imaoka, T., Nishimura, Y., Yoshihara, K., Tanaka, M. and Kagami, H. (1999) Petrography and source vent of Shirogishi Tuffs in Paleogene Ube Group, Yamaguchi Prefecture, Southwest Japan. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, 53, 393-401. *
- Inoue, T., Rapp, R. P., Zhang, J., Gasparik, T., Weidner, D. J. and Irifune, T. (2000) Garnet fractionation in a hydrous magma ocean and the origin of Al-depleted komatiites: melting experiments of hydrous pyrolite with REEs at high pressure. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, 177, 81-87.
- Ishida, K., Hawthorne, F. C. and Ando, Y. (2002) Fine structure of infrared OH-stretching bands in natural and heat-treated amphiboles of the tremolite-ferro-actinolite series. *Amer. Mineral.*, 87, 891-898.
- Ishii, T., Sato, H., Hamaguchi, S., Fryer, P., Fujioka, K. and Bloomer, S. (2000a) Petrological characteristics of peridotites from serpentinite seamounts in the Izu-Ogasawara-Mariana forearc. *J. Geogr.*, **109**, 517-530. *
- Ishii, T., Sato, H., Machida, S., Haraguchi, S., Usui, A., Ishizuka, O., Taniguchi, H. and Yagi, K. (2000b) Geological and petrological studies of the Kinan and Izu-Ogasawara-back arc-echelon Seamount Chains. *Bull. Geol. Surv. Japan*, 51, 615-630. *
- Ishikawa, T. and Tera, F. (1999) Two isotopically distinct fluid components involved in the Mariana arc: Evidence from Nb/B ratios and B, Sr, Nd, and Pb isotope systematics. *Geology*, **27**, 83-86.
- Ishikawa, T., Nagaishi, K. and Umino, S. (2002) Boninitic volcanism in the Oman ophiolite: Implications for thermal condition during transition from spreading ridge to arc. *Geology*, **30**, 899-902.
- Ishiwatari, A. (1999) Fragment of Paleozoic oceanic Island Arc crust in the Inner Zone of southwestern Japan: The Kamigori metagabbro body, Hyogo Prefecture. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **52**, 273-285. *
- Ishizuka, O., Yuasa, M. and Uto, K. (2002) Evidence of porphyry copper-type hydrothermal activity from a submerged remnant back-arc volcano of the Izu-Bonin arc. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **198**, 381-399.
- Ishizuka, Y. and Nakagawa, M. (1999) Petrological evolution of Rishiri volcano, northern Hokkaido, Japan. J. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol., 94, 279-294.*
- Iwamori, H. (1999a) Episodic growth of continents. Monthly Earth, 23, 142-148.**
- Iwamori, H. (1999b) Geochemical studies on magma generation and migration with numerical modeling. Geochemistry, 33, 155-175.*
- Iwamori, H. (2000a) Deep subduction of H₂O and deflection of volcanic chain towards backarc near triple junction due to lower temperature. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **181**, 41-46.
- Iwamori, H. (2000b) Thermal effects of ridge subduction and its implications for the origin of granitic batholith and paired metamorphic belts. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **181**, 131-144.
- Iwamori, H. (2001a) Geochemical study of magma generation and migration. Chemical Industry, 52, 28-37.**
- Iwamori, H. (2001b) Transportation of H₂O and melting beneath the Japan arcs. Bull. Earthq. Res. Inst., 76, 377-389.
- Iwamori, H. (2002a) Some remarks on deformation and P-T conditions of the Cretaceous regional metamorphic belts in southwest Japan. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **199**, 493-501.
- Iwamori, H. (2002b) Water circulation and magma genesis. Kagaku, 72, 209-214.**
- Iwamori, H. and Zhao, D. (2000a) Melting and seismic structure beneath the northeast Japan arc, Geophys. Res. Lett., 27, 425-428.
- Iwamori, H. and Zhao, D. (2000b) Transportation of H2O and melting beneath the Japanese islands. J. Geogr., 109, 614-626.*
- Jiang, D., Fujino, K., Tomioka, N., Hosoya, T. and Das, K. (2002) High temperature X-ray diffraction study of enstatite up to the melting point.

J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci., 97, 20-31.

- Kabeto, K., Sawada, Y. and Wakatsuki, T. (2001a) Different evolution trends in alkaline evolved lavas from the northern Kenya. *J. African Earth Sci.*, **32**, 419-433.
- Kabeto, K., Sawada, Y., Iizumi, S. and Wakatsuki, T. (2001b) Mantle sources and magma-crust interactions in volcanic rocks from the northern Kenya rift: geochemical evidence. *Lithos*, **56**, 111-139.
- Kadoshima, K. and Arai, S. (1999) Primary petrological characteristics of peridotites in the Sangun zone of northern Kyushu: a preliminary note from detrital chromian spinels. *J. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol.*, **94**, 97-108.
- Kagami, H., Kawano, Y., Ikawa, T., Ishioka, J., Kagashima, S., Yuhara, M., Shuto, K., Iizumi, S., Imaoka, Y., Owada, M., Osanai, Y. and Tainosho, Y. (1999a) Transition of space and time of Cretaceous to Tertiary igneous activity and lower crust of Honshu Arc ---Examination based on Rb-Sr whole rock isochron ages and Sr and Nd isotopes---. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, 53, 1-19. *
- Kagami, H., Owada, M., Ohishi, Y. and Iwata, M. (1999b) Sr and Nd isotopic ratios of mafic granulites in Cenozoic volcanic rocks from northern Kyushu, Japan. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, 53, 47-55. *
- Kagami, H., Yuhara, M., Iizumi, S., Tainosho, Y., Owada, M., Ikeda, Y., Okano, O., Ochi, S., Hayama, Y. and Nureki, T. (2000) Continental basalts in the accretionary complexes of the South-west Japan arc: Constraints from geochemical and Sr and Nd isotopic data of metadiabase. *Island Arc*, 9, 3-20.
- Kakubuchi, S., Nagao, T. and Nagao, K. (2000) K-Ar ages and magmatic history of the Abu Monogenetic Volcano Group, southwest Japan. Japan. Mag. Mineral. Petrol. Sci., 29, 191-198. *
- Kamata, H. and Kodama, K. (1999) Volcanic history and tectonics of the Southwest Japan Arc. Island Arc, 8, 393-403.
- Kanayama, K., Hiroi, Y. and Shibata, K. (1999) Jurassic volcano-plutonic complex in the northwestern part of the Noto Peninsula, Central Japan. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **53**, 299-308.*
- Kaneko, K. and Koyaguchi, T. (2000) Simultaneous crystallization and melting at both the roof and floor of crustal magma chambers: Experimental study using NH₄Cl-H₂O binary eutectic system. *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **96**, 161-174.
- Kaneoka, I., Takahashi, N. and Arai, S. (2001) ⁴⁰Ar-³⁹Ar analysis of phlogopite in the Horoman Peridotite Complex, Hokkaido, Japan and implications for its origin. *Island Arc*, **10**, 22-32.
- Kaneoka, I., Hanyu, T., Yamamoto, J. and Miura, N. Y. (2002) Noble gas systematics of the Hawaiian volcanoes based on the analysis of Loihi, Kilauea and Koolau submarine rocks. In: Takahashi, E., Lipman, P., Garcia, M., Naka, J. and Aramaki, S. (eds) *Hawaiian volcanoes: Deep underwater perspectives*. AGU Monograph, 373-389.
- Kanisawa, S. (1999) Igneous activity in Mongolia. Chishitsu News, 534, 31-40. **
- Kano, K., Ohguchi, T., Hayashi, S., Uto, K. and Danhara, T. (2002) Toga volcano: An alkali-rhyolite tuff-ring in the western end of Oga peninsula, NE Japan. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 47, 373-396. *
- Kanzaki, M. (2000) A computer simulation approach for the prediction of trace element partition between crystal and melt. In: *Physics Meets Mineral.* Cambridge University Press, 381-389.
- Kato, T. (1999) Fe²⁺ / Fe³⁺ mapping with an electron probe microanalyzer (EPMA). J. Geogr., 108, 122-131. *
- Katsura, T. (2002) Thermal diffusivity of forsterite at high pressures and high temperatures. J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci., 97, 238-240.
- Kawabata, K. and Kiminami, K. (1999) *In-situ* basalt from the Naze Formation in the Cretaceous Shimanto Belt, Amami-Oshima, Japan: Occurrence of basalt and geochemistry of silicified shale. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **52**, 139-150. *
- Kawahata, H., Nohara, M., Ishizuka, H., Hasebe, S. and Chiba, H. (2001) Sr isotope geochemistry and hydrothermal alteration of the Oman ophiolite. J. Geophys. Res., 106, 11083-11099.
- Kawano, M. and Tomita, K. (2001) TEM-EDX study of weathered layers on the surface of volcanic glass, bytownite, and hypersthene in volcanic ash from Sakurajima volcano, Japan. *Amer. Mineral.*, 86, 284-292.
- Kawano, Y. and Kagami, H. (1999) Trace elements, Sr and Nd isotopic compositions of the Imagane and Kudo Granodioritic Bodies, Southwest Hokkaido. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **53**, 235-245. *
- Kawasaki, T. (1999) Thermodynamic analyses of partitioning of Ca, Fe and Mg between olivine and clinopyroxene. Geochem. J., 33, 33-58.
- Kawasaki, T. (2001a) Experimental constraints on mixing properties of forsterite- monticellite olivine under atmospheric pressure. J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci., 96, 54-66.
- Kawasaki, T. (2001b) Experimental investigation of mixing properties of (Ca,Fe,Mg)₂ SiO₄ olivine: Fe-Mg exchange with Ca-rich Clinopyroxene and phase relations in olivine quadrilateral. *J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, **96**, 217-242.
- Kim, K. H., Tanaka, T., Nagao, K. and Jang, K. (1999) Nd and Sr isotopes and K-Ar ages of the Ulreungdo alkali volcanic rocks in the East Sea, South Korea. *Geochem. J.*, 33, 317-341.
- Kiminami, K., Miyashita, S. and Kawabata, K. (1999) Occurrence and significance of *in-situ* basaltic rocks from the Rurochi Formation in the Hidaka Supergroup, northern Hokkaido, Japan. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **52**, 103-112. *
- Kimura, J.-I. and Yoshida, T. (1999) Magma Plumbing System Beneath Ontake Volcano, Central Japan. Island Arc, 8, 1-29.
- Kimura, J.-I., Yoshida, T., and Nagahashi, Y. (1999) Magma plumbing systems and seismic structures: inference from the Norikura Volcanic

Chain, central Japan. Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan, 53, 157-175.

- Kimura, J.-I., Tanji, T., Yoshida, T. and Iizumi, S. (2001) Geology and geochemistry of lavas at Nekoma volcano: Implications for origin of quaternary low-K andesite in the north-eastern Honshu arc, Japan. *Island Arc*, **10**, 116-134.
- Kimura, J.-I., Manton, W.I., Sun, C. -H., Iizumi, S., Yoshida, T., and Stern, R. J. (2002a) Chemical diversity of the Ueno Basalts, central Japan: Identification of mantle and crust contributions to arc basalts. *J. Petrol.*, **43**, 1923-1946.
- Kimura, J.-I., Yoshida, T., and Iizumi, S. (2002b) Origin of low-K andesite lavas at Nekoma volcano, Northeast-Honshu arc, Japan: Geochemical constraints for lower crustal melts. *J. Petrol.*, **43**, 631-661.
- Kita, I., Yamamoto, M., Asakawa, Y., Nakagawa, M., Taguchi, S. and Hasegawa, H. (2001) Contemporaneous ascent of within-plate type and Island Arc type magmas in the Beppu-Shimabara graben system, Kyushu island, Japan. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 111, 99-109.
- Kita, S., Yamamoto, H. and Furusawa, A. (1999) Weathering of Aira-Tn Ash. J. Geol. Soc. Japan, 105, 410-420. *
- Kobayashi, K. and Nakamura, E. (2001) Geochemical evolution of Akagi volcano, NE Japan: Implication between Island Arc magma and lower crust, and generation of isotopically various magmas. *J. Petrol.*, **42**, 2303-2331.
- Kobayashi, S., Sawada, Y. and Yoshida, T. (2002) Magma plumbing systems of the Latest Miocene Oki Alkaline Volcanic Group, Oki-Dogo Island, SW Japan, based on geology and petrology. *Japan. Mag. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, **31**, 137-161.*
- Kogiso, T. and Hirschmann, M. M. (2001) Experimental study of clinopyroxenite partial melting and the origin of ultra-calcic melt inclusions. *Contrib. Mineral. Petrol.*, **142**, 347-360.
- Kogure, T. and Nepolo, M. (2001) Atomic structures of planar defects in oxybiotite. Amer. Mineral., 86, 336-340.
- Koyaguchi, T. and Kaneko, K. (1999) A two-stage thermal evolution model of magmas in continental crust. J. Petrol., 40, 241-254.
- Kubo, K. (2002) Dunite formation processes in highly depleted peridotite: Case study of the Iwanaidake peridotite, Hokkaido, Japan. J. Petrol., 43, 423-448.
- Kudo, T., Okuno, M., Ohba, T., Kitade, Y. and Nakamura, T. (2000) The eruptive products from Jigoku-numa hot pool in Kita-Hakkoda volcano group, northeast Japan: Eruption style, magnitude and age. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **45**, 315-322. *
- Kuri, M. and Kurita, K. (1999) The evolution of pyroclasts in the post caldera stage of Towada volcano, northeast Japan. *Bull. Geol. Surv. Japan.*, **50**, 699-710.*
- Kuritani, T. (1999a) Boundary layer fractionation constrained by differential information from the Kutsugata lava flow, Rishiri volcano, Japan. *J. Geophys. Res.*, **104**, 29401-29417.
- Kuritani, T. (1999b) Phenocryst crystallization during ascent of alkali basalt magma at Rishiri Volcano, northern Japan. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 88, 77-97.
- Kuritani, T. (2001) Replenishment of a mafic magma in a zoned felsic magma chamber beneath Rishiri Volcano, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol.*, **62**, 533-548.
- Kuroda K., Irifune, T., Inoue, T., Nishiyama, N., Miyashita, M., Funakoshi, K. and Utsumi, W. (2000) Determination of the phase boundary between ilmenite and perovskite in MgSiO₃ by *in situ* X-ray diffraction and quench experiments. *Phys. Chem. Min.*, **27**, 523-532.
- Kusakabe, M., Sato, H., Nakada, S., and Kitamura, T. (1999) Water content and hydrogen isotopic ratios of rocks and minerals from the 1991 eruption of Unzen volcano, Japan. *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **89**, 231-242.
- Lipman, P. W., Sisson, T. W., Ui, T. and Naka, J. (2000) In search of ancestral Kilauea volcano. Geology, 28, 1079-1082.
- Litasov, K. and Taniguchi, H. (2002) Mantle evolution beneath the Baikal Rift. CNEAS Monograph Series, No. 5, pp. 221.
- Litasov, K., Litasov, Y., Fujimaki, H., Miyamoto, T. and Taniguchi, H. (2000) Mantle evolution beneath the eastern Baikal region, Russia. *Northeast Asian Studies*, **4**, 145-172.
- Litasov, K., Ohtani, E. and Taniguchi, H. (2001a) Melting relations of hydrous pyrolite in CaO-MgO-Al₂O₃-SiO₂-H₂O system at the transition zone pressures. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **128**, 1303-1306.
- Litasov, K., Ohtani, E. and Taniguchi, H. (2001b) Phase diagram of pyrolite in the system CaO-MgO-Al₂O₃-SiO₂-H₂O at a pressure up to 25 GPa. *Doklady Earth Science (Chikyu Kagaku)*, **379**, 543-545.
- Litasov, K., Itoh, Y., Litasov, Y., Kitakaze, A., Taniguchi, H. and Ohtani, E. (2001c) New data on xenoliths and megacrysts from alkaline basalts of Bartoy volcanic field (Baikal region, Russia). *Northeast Asian Studies*, **5**, 113-148.
- Litasov, K., Kostrovitsky, S., Itoh, Y., Kitakaze, A. and Taniguchi, H. (2001d) Mineralogy and geochemistry of ilmenite-clinopyroxene symplectite xenoliths from Vitim alkaline basalts and Yakutian kimberlites (Siberia, Russia). *Northeast Asian Studies*, **5**, 149-196.
- Litasov, K., Itoh, Y., Litasov, Y., Kitakaze, A. and Taniguchi, H. (2002) Lithosphere structure and thermal regime of the upper mantle along Baikal Rift Asis: Evidence from deep-seated xenoliths. *Northeast Asian Studies*, **6**, 227-252.
- Litasov, Y., Hasenaka, T., Litasov, K., Yarmolyuk, V., Sugorakova, A., Lebedev, V., Sasaki, M. and Taniguchi, H. (2002) Petrologic characteristics of Cenozoic alkaline basalts from the Azas Plateau, Northeast Tuva (Russia). *Northeast Asian Studies*, **6**, 201-226.
- Liu, J. and Taniguchi, H. (2002) Active volcanoes in China. Northeast Asian Studies, 6, 173-190.
- Lopez, J. G. and Ishiwatari, A. (2002) Petrogenesis of the tholeiitic basalt, calc-alkaline basaltic andesite and high magnesian andesite lava succession of the Oligo-Miocene Anamizu Formation in northeastern Noto Peninsula, central Japan. J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci., 97, 85-113.

- Maeno, F., Miyamoto, T. and Taniguchi, H. (2002) Volcanism of Kikai Caldera after the Akahoya Eruption. *Northeast Asian Studies*, **6**, 253-278.*
- Matsumoto, I. and Arai, S. (2001) Petrology of dunite/harzburgite with decimeter-scale stratification in a drill core from the Tari-Misaka ultramafic complex, south-western Japan. *J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, **96**, 19-28.
- Matsu'ura, T., Nitta, E., Kanisawa, S. and Nakashima, K. (2002) Dokusawa tephra erupted at approximately 100 ka and its eruptive process in the central part of northeast Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 711-725. *
- Mibe, K., Fujii, T. and Yasuda, A. (1999) Control of the location of the volcanic front in Island Arcs by aqueous fluid connectivity in the mantle wedge. *Nature*, **401**, 259-262.
- Mibe, K., Fujii, T. and Yasuda, A. (2000) Migration of aqueous fluid in the mantle wedge and formation of the volcanic front in subduction zones. *J. Geogr.*, **109**, 590-599. *
- Miura, H., Hamada, Y., Suzuki, T., Akaogi, M., Miyajima, N. and Fujino, K. (2000) Crystal structure of CaMg₂Al₆O₁₂, a new Al-rich high pressure form. *Amer. Mineral.*, **85**, 1799-1803.
- Miyagi, I. and Tomiya, A. (2002a) Features of the Miyakejima 2000 ash particles and identification of the essential material. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 27-31. *
- Miyagi, I. and Tomiya, A. (2002b) Estimation of heated temperature of volcanic ash based on the color change: An application to the landing temperature of the Miyakejima volcanic bomb ejected on 18 August, 2000. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 757-761. *
- Miyagi, I., Itoh, J., Kawanabe, Y., Uto, K. and Hoshizumi, H. (2001a) BEI of Miyakejima 2000 ash. GSJ Open-file Report, no. 367.*
- Miyagi, I., Tomiya, A., Hoshizumi, H., Itoh, J., Kawanabe, S., Satoh, H., Saito, G., Hamasaki, S., Nakano, S., Takada, A., Yamamoto, T., Uto, K., Morishita, Y. and Kita, N. (2001b) Miyake-jima 2000 eruption ---Petrology---. *Chishitsu News*, **557**, 7-13. **
- Miyagi, I., Tomiya, A., Kaneko, K. and Morishita, Y. (2001c) Categorization of the 31 March 2000 ash and the essential particles. *Rep. Coord. Commit. Pred. Volc. Eruption*, 77, 81-83. **
- Miyagi, S. and Kanai, Y. (2002) Low-K₂O volcanic rocks in the Ashigara Group and the zoning of K₂O content of the post-Miocene volcanic rocks in the southern Fossa Magna region, central Japan. *Earth Science (Chikyu Kagaku)*, **56**, 165-177. *
- Miyaji, N., Nakagawa, M. and Yoshida, M. (2000) Eruptive history of Rausudake volcano during the last 2200 years. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **45**, 75-85. *
- Miyajima, N., Fujino, K., Funamori, N., Kondo, T. and Yagi, T. (1999) Garnet-perovskite transformation under conditions of the Earth's lower mantle: an analytical transmission electron microscopy study. *Phys. Earth Planet. Int.*, **116**, 117-131.
- Miyajima, N., Yagi, T., Hirose, K., Kondo, T., Fujino, K. and Miura, H. (2001) Potential host phase of aluminum and potassium in the Earth's lower mantle. *Amer. Mineral.*, **86**, 740-746.
- Miyake, A. and Shimobayashi, N. (2000) Cooling history of a tholeiitic basalt from Funagata volcano deduced from microstructures of minerals. J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci., 95, 1-8.
- Miyashita, S. (1999) Origin of high vesicularity in some massive basalts with N-MORB signatures from the Hidaka belt, Hokkaido. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **52**, 151-164. *
- Miyashita, S. and Kiminami, K. (1999) Petrology of the greenstones in the Rurochi Formation in the northern Hidaka Belt, Hokkaido. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **52**, 113-124. *
- Miyashita, S. and Sokolov, D. (1999) Elistratova ophiolite in Taigonos peninsula, Far-East Russia: An Island Arc ophiolite intruding into oceanic mantle. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **52**, 303-306. *
- Mizugaki, K. (2000) Geologic structure and volcanic history of the Yanaizu-Nishiyama (Okuaizu) geothermal field, Northeast Japan. *Geothermics*, **29**, 233-256.
- Morikiyo, T., Takano, K., Miyazaki, T., Kagami, H. and Vladykin, N. V. (2000) Sr, Nd, C and O isotopic compositions of carbonatite and peralkaline silicate rocks from the Zhidoy complex, Russia: evidence for binary mixing, liquid immiscibility and a heterogeneous depleted mantle source region. *J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, **95**, 162-172.
- Morishita, T. and Arai, S. (2001a) Extremely low-Al orthopyroxene in the Horoman peridotite, Japan. J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci., 96, 48-53.
- Morishita, T. and Arai, S. (2001b) Petrogenesis of corundum-bearing mafic rock in the Horoman peridotite complex, Japan. J. Petrol., 42, 1279-1299.
- Morishita, T., Arai, S. and Gervilla, F. (2001) High-pressure aluminous mafic rocks from the Ronda peridotite massif, southern Spain: significance of sapphirine- and corundum-bearing mineral assemblages. *Lithos*, **57**, 143-161.
- Morris, P. A., Miyake, Y., Furuyama, K. and Puelles, P. (1999) Chronology and petrology of the Daikonjima basalt, Nakaumi Lagoon, eastern Shimane Prefecture, Japan. J. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol., 94, 442-452.
- Murakami, M., Hirose, K., Yurimoto, H., Nakashima, S. and Takafuji, N. (2002) Water in Earth's lower mantle. Science, 295, 1885-1887.
- Muraoka, H., Nasution, A., Urai, M., Takahashi, M. and Takashima, I. (2002) Geochemistry of volcanic rocks in the Bajawa geothermal field, central Flores, Indonesia. *Bull. Geol. Surv. Japan*, **53**, 147-159. *
- Nagao, T., Hase, Y., Nagamine, S., Kakubuchi, S. and Sakaguchi, K. (1999) Late Miocene to middle Pleistocene Hisatsu Volcanic Rocks

generated from heterogeneous magma sources: Evidence from temporal-spatial variation of distribution and chemistry of the rocks. *J. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol.*, **94**, 461-481. *

- Naka, J., Takahashi, E., Clague, D., Garcia, M., Hanyu, T., Herrero-Bervera, E., Ishibashi, J., Ishizuka, O., Johnson, K., Kanamatsu, T., Kaneoka, I., Lipman, P., Malahoff, A., McMurty, G., Midson, B., Moore, J., Morgan, J., Naganuma, T., Nakajima, K., Oomori, T., Pietruszka, A., Satake, K., Sherrod, D., Shibata, T., Shinozaki, K., Sisson, T., Smith, J., Takarada, S., Thornber, C., Trusdell, F., Tsuboyama, N., Ui, T., Umino, S., Uto, K. and Yokose, H. (2000) Tectono-magmatic processes investigated at deep-water flanks of Hawaiian volcanoes: Japanese-USA cooperative studies. *Eos Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union*, 81, 221-227.
- Nakada. S. and Motomura, Y. (1999) Petrology of the 1991-95 eruption at Unzen: effusion pulsation and groundmass crystallization. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 89, 173-196.
- Nakagawa, M. (1999) Origin of spatial compositional variations in differentiated arc volcanics at arc-arc junctions: A case study of major and trace element variations in Quaternary volcanics from Hokkaido, Japan. *Resource Geology Special Issue*, 20, 159-174.
- Nakagawa, M. and Togari, H. (1999) Activity of Iwate Volcano from petrological aspect: Relationship between recent volcanism and magma system. *Monthly Earth*, **21**, 264-268.**
- Nakagawa, M., Hirose, W. and Iwasaki, M. (1999a) Temporal change of tectonics at the junction between Kuril and Northeast Japan arcs inferred from temporal evolution of volcanism in Hokkaido since 6 Ma. *Monthly Earth*, **21**, 543-548.**
- Nakagawa, M., Wada, K., Thordarson, T., Wood, C.P. and Gamble, J.A. (1999b) Petrologic investigations of the 1995 and 1996 eruptions of Ruapehu volcano, New Zealand: formation of discrete and small magma pockets and their intermittent discharge. *Bull. Volcanol.*, 61, 15-31.
- Nakagawa, M., Ishizuka, Y., Kudo, T., Yoshimoto, M., Hirose, W., Ishizaki, Y., Gouchi, N., Katsui, Y., Solovyow, W., Steinberg, G. S. and Abdurakhmanov, A. I. (2002a) Tyatya volcano, southwestern Kuril arc: Recent eruptive activity inferred from widespread tephra. *Island Arc*, 11, 236-254.
- Nakagawa, M., Ishizuka, Y., Yoshimoto, M., Kudo, T., Aizawa, K., Kitagawa, J., Hiraga, N., Matsumoto, A., Togari, H., Takahashi, R., Ishii, E., Egusa, M., Seino, T., Amma-Miyasaka, M., Wada, K. and Niida, K. (2002b) Eruptive materials of the 2000 eruption of Usu Volcano, Northern Japan: Component materials and their temporal change. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 279-288.*
- Nakagawa, M., Wada, K. and Wood, C.P. (2002c) Mixed magmas, mush chambers, and eruption triggers: evidence from zoned clinopyroxene phenocrysts in andesitic scoria from the 1995 eruptions of Ruapehu volcano, New Zealand. J. Petrol., 43, 2279-2303.
- Nakai, S., Fukuda, S. and Nakada, S. (2001) Thorium isotopic measurements on silicate rock samples with a multicollector inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer. *Analyst*, **126**, 1707-1710.
- Nakamura, M. (2000) Elementary processes of pervasive fluid migration. J. Geogr., 109, 576-589. *
- Nakamura, M. and Watson, E.B. (2001) Experimental study of aqueous fluid infiltration into quartzite: Implications for the kinetics of fluid re-distribution and grain growth driven by interfacial energy reduction. *Geofluids*, **1**, 73-90.
- Nakamura, Y. and Hirakawa, K. (2000) Petrographic properties of Daisetsu-Ohachidaira tephra, Hokkaido, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **45**, 281-288. *
- Nakamura, Y., Katayama, Y. and Hirakawa, K. (2002) Hydration and refractive indices of Holocene tephra glass in Hokkaido, Northern Japan. *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **114**, 499-510.
- Nakano, S., Uto, K. and Uchiumi, S. (2000) K-Ar ages and temporal chemical variation of the Ueno basaltic rocks and the Jizo-toge volcanic rocks, Central Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **45**, 87-105. *
- Nakano, T., Nakashima, Y., Nakamura, K. and Ikeda, S. (2000) Observation and analysis of internal structure of rock using X-ray CT. J. Geol. Soc. Japan, 106, 363-378. *
- Nakashima, T., Shimoda, G., and Tatsumi, Y. (2000) Porphyritic magnesian andesites in the Setouchi volcanic belt, SW Japan, *Bull. Volcanol.* Soc. Japan, 45, 259-269.
- Nakatsuka, A., Yoshiasa, A., Yamanaka, T. and Ito, E. (1999a) Structure refinement of a birefringent Cr-bearing majorite Mg₃(Mg₀₃₄Si₀₃₄ Al_{0.18}Cr_{0.14})₂Si₃O₁₂. *Amer. Mineral.*, **84**, 199-202.
- Nakatsuka, A., Yoshiasa, A., Yamanaka, T., Ohtaka, O., Katsura, T. and Ito, E. (1999b) Symmetry change of majorite solid-solution in the system Mg₃Al₂Si₃O₁₂-MgSiO₃. *Amer. Mineral.*, **84**, 1135-1143.
- Niida, K. and Green, D. H. (1999) Stability and chemical composition of pargasitic amphibole in MORB pyrolite under upper mantle conditions. *Contrib. Mineral. Petrol.*, **135**, 18-40.
- Niida, K. and Kito, N. (1999) Picrites from the uppermost part of the Lower Sorachi Group, Hokkaido. Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan, 52, 77-82. *

Nishimura, K. and Yanagi, T. (2000) *In situ* crystallization observed in the Osumi granodiorite batholith. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **180**, 185-199. Nishio, Y. and Sano, Y. (2000) Carbon geodynamic cycle in a back-arc basin region. *J. Geogr.*, **109**, 636-645. *

- Nishiyama, T. (1999) Diffusion in garnet and the time scale of metamorphism. J. Geogr., 108, 132-149.*
- Nogami, K., Hirabayashi, J., Nishimura, Y. and Suzuki, A. (2002) Nature and origin of volcanic ash in the 2000 eruption of Usu volcano. *Earth Planets Space*, **54**, 993-998.

Nohda, S. (1999) Precise isotopic measurements of lead by fused silicagel. Geochem. J., 33, 133-139.

Nozaka, T. and Liu, Y. (2002) Petrology of the Hegenshan ophiolite and its implication for the tectonic evolution of northern China. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **202**, 89-104.

Numazawa Volcano Research Group (1999) Geology and petrology of Numazawa volcano. Earth Science (Chikyu Kagaku), 53, 53-70.*

Obata, H., Okamoto, S., Furumori, S Watanabe, K. and Taguchi, K. (2001) New discovery of outcrops of so-called 'Aso Obsidian'---A row material of stone tools in Prehistoric Middle Kyushu---. *Palaeolithic Archaeology*, **62**, 63-76. *

- Ogo, Y. and Yamashita, S. (1999) Preparation of thin glass wafer for infrared spectroscopy. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 44, 251-254. *
- Oguri, K., Funamori, N., Uchida, T., Yagi, T., Miyajima, N. and Fujino, K. (2000) Post-garnet transition in a natural pyrope: a multi-anvil study based on *in situ* X-ray diffraction and transmission electron microscopy. *Phys. Earth Planet. Int.*, **122**, 175-186.
- Ohara, Y., Stern, R. J., Ishii, T., Yurimoto, H. and Yamazaki, T. (2002) Peridotites from the Mariana Trough: first look at the mantle beneath an active back-arc basin. *Contrib. Mineral. Petrol.*, **143**, 1-18.
- Ohba, T. and Umeda, K. (1999) Geology and temporal-spatial variations of magma compositions in Hachimantai Volcanic Field. J. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol., 94, 187-202.*
- Ohtani, T., Nakashima, Y. and Muraoka, H. (2000) Three-dimensional miarolitic cavity distribution in the Kakkonda granite from borehole WD-1a using X-ray computerized tomography. *Engineering Geology*, **56**, 1-9.
- Ohtani, T., Nakano, T., Nakashima, Y. and Muraoka, H. (2001) Three-dimensional shape analysis of miarolitic cavities and enclaves in the Kakkonda granite by X-ray computed tomography. *J. Structur. Geology*, **23**, 1741-1751.
- Okamoto, K. and Maruyama, S. (1999) The high-pressure synthesis of lawsonite in the MORB+H₂O system. Amer. Mineral., 84, 362-373.
- Okamura, S., Sekine, H., Arai, K., Yamamoto, M., Nishido, H. and Yahata, M. (2000) K-Ar ages and geochemistry of the Cenozoic volcanic rocks from Hamamasu area, central Hokkaido, Japan ---temporal changes in magma geochemistry resulted from tectonics of arc-arc junction---. J. Geol. Soc. Japan, 106, 330-346. *
- Okumura, S., Sato, Y, Moriizumi, M., Takeuchi, S., Nakamura, M. and Nakashima, S. (2000) Determination of water contents in volcanic glasses by micro-FTIR. *Monthly Earth*, **22**, 457-462. **
- Ono, S. (1999) High temperature stability limit of phase egg, AlSiO₃(OH). Contrib. Mineral. Petrol., 137, 83-89.
- Ono, S. (2000) Hydrous minerals and water transport in subducted slab. J. Geogr., 109, 564-575. *
- Ono, S., Ito, E. and Katsura, T. (2001a) Mineralogy of subducted basaltic crust (MORB) from 25 to 37 GPa, and chemical heterogeneity of the lower mantle. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **190**, 57-63.
- Ono, S., Katsura, T., Ito, E., Kanzaki, M., Yoneda, A., Walter, M. J., Urakawa, S., Utsumi, W. and Funakoshi, K. (2001b) *In situ* observation of ilmenite-perovskite phase transition in MgSiO₃ using synchrotron radiation. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 28, 835-838.
- Ono, S., Hirose, K., Murakami, M. and Isshiki, M. (2002a) Post-stishovite phase boundary in SiO₂ determined by *in situ* X-ray observations. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **197**, 187-192.
- Ono, S., Mibe, K. and Yoshino, T. (2002b) Aqueous fluid connectivity in pyrope aggregates: water transport into the deep mantle by a subducted oceanic crust without any hydrous minerals. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **203**, 895-903.
- Orihashi, Y., Nagao, K., Al-Jailani, A. and Hanan, B. B. (2001) Primordial helium isotope signature from Plio-Quarternary alkaline basalts in Yemen. *Island Arc*, 10, 145-157.
- Otake, M., Takahashi, H., Koseki, T. and Yoshiyama, H. (2002) Geology, geochemistry and geochronology of the Bajawa area, central Flores, Indonesia: Geologic structure and evolution of the Bajawa depression. *Bull. Geol. Surv. Japan.*, **53**, 161-173. *
- Owada, M., Kamei, A., Yamamoto, K., Osanai, Y. and Kagami, H. (1999) Spatial-temporal variations and origin of granitic rocks from central to northern part of Kyushu, Southwest Japan. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **53**, 349-363. *
- Ozawa, H., Motoyama, S., Inoue, S., Kato, Y. and Murata, M. (1999) Petrology of basic volcanics of the Mikabu greenstone complex in the eastern Shikoku. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **52**, 217-228. *
- Ozawa, K. (2001) Mass balance equations for open magmatic systems: Trace element behavior and its application to open system melting in the upper mantle. *J. Geophys. Res.*, **106**, 13407-13434.
- Pati, J. K., Arima, M. and Gupta, A. K. (2000) Experimental study of the system diopside albite nepheline at P(H₂O) = P(Total) = 2 and 10 kbar and at P(Total) = 28 kbar. *Canadian Mineral.*, **38**, 1177-1191.
- Rezanov, A. I., Shuto, K., Iizumi, S. and Shimura, T. (1999) Sr and Nd isotopic and geochemical characteristics of Cretaceous-Paleogene granitoid rocks in the Niigata area, the northernmost part of the Southwest Japan. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **53**, 269-286. *
- Saito, G., Stimac, J. A., Kawanabe, Y. and Goff, F. (2002) Mafic-felsic magma interaction at Satsuma-Iwojima volcano, Japan: Evidence from mafic inclusions in rhyolites. *Earth Planets Space*, **54**, 303-325.
- Sakakibara, M., Hori, R. S., Kimura, G., Ikeda, M., Koumoto, T. and Kato, H. (1999) The age of magmatism and petrochemical characteristics of the Sorachi plateau reconstructed in Cretaceous accretionary complex, central Hokkaido, Japan. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **52**, 1-15. *
- Sakuma, S. and Nakada, S. (2002) UNZEN Scientific Drilling Project: Planning the well for conduit drilling and scientific targets. *Monthly Earth*, **12**, 883-890.**

Sakuma, S. and Saito, S. (2000) UNZEN Scientific Drilling Project: Drilling plan and problems. Monthly Earth, 4, 264-268.**

- Sano, A., Oberhansli, R., Romer, R. L. and Vinx, R. (2002) Petrological, geochemical and isotopic constraints on the origin of Harzburg intrusion, Germany. J. Petrol., 43, 1529-1549.
- Sano, T., Fujii, T., Deshmukh, S. S., Fukuoka, T. and Aramaki, S. (2001a) Differentiation processes of Deccan trap basalts: Contribution from geochemistry and experimental petrology. *J. Petrol.*, **42**, 2175-2195.
- Sano, T., Hasenaka, T., Shimaoka, A., Yonezawa, C. and Fukuoka, T. (2001b) Boron contents of Japan Trench sediments and Iwate basaltic lavas, Northeast Japan arc: estimation of sediment-derived fluid contribution in mantle wedge. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.* **186**, 187-198.
- Sano, Y., Tsutsumi, Y., Terada, K. and Kaneko, I. (2002) Ion microprobe U-Pb dating of Quaternary zircon: implication for magma cooling and residence time. *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **117**, 285-296.
- Sato, H., Nakada, S., Fujii, T., Nakamura, M., and Suzuki-Kamata, K. (1999) Groundmass pargasite in the 1991-1995 dacite of Unzen volcano, Japan: phase stability experiment and volcanological implications. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 89, 197-212.
- Sawada, Y. and Takasu, A. (1999) A kyanite bearing gneissic xenolith with partial melt glass in the Late Miocene basanite, Masuda, Shimane Prefecture, SW Japan. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **53**, 35-46. *
- Sawada, Y., Kabeto, K. and Nakayama, K. (2001) Earth science in the East African Rift System: A review and perspective. *J. African Studies*, **58**, 11-18. **
- Seno, M. and Matsuura, H. (2000) Late Miocene volcanic rocks (Geiyo volcanic rock) and early-middle Miocene volcanic rocks (Setouchi volcanic rocks) from the Geiyo Islands in the western Setouchi region. *Japan. Mag. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, **29**, 20-27. *
- Sherman, S. B., Garcia, M. and Takahashi, E. (2002) Major element geochemistry of glasses in turbidites as source indicators: Implications for the Nuuanu and Wailau giant submarine landslides. In: Takahashi, E., Lipman, P., Garcia, M., Naka, J. and Aramaki, S. (eds) *Hawaiian* volcanoes: Deep underwater perspectives, AGU Monograph, 263-277.
- Shimakura, K., Shuto, K. and Shimura, T. (1999) Genesis of Tertiary granitoids from the Daiyama and Nisshou areas, central part of the Northeast (NE) Japan Arc. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **53**, 365-381.*
- Shimano, T. and Koyaguchi, T. (2001) Eruption styles and degassing process of ascending magma of the 1813 eruption of Suwanose-jima volcano, southwest Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **46**, 53-70. *
- Shimano, T., Nakada, S. and Kaneko, T. (2001) Evaluation of magmatic contribution to the 2000 eruption at Usu Volcano, North Japan, by XRF bulk ash composition analysis. *Bull. Earthq. Res. Inst.*, **76**, 247-251. *
- Shimao, T., Takashima, I., Watanabe, K. and Izawa, E. (1999) Verification of errors and reliability of thermoluminescence age for volcanic rocks ---Precise beta-ray correction age of pyroclastic flow deposits of Unzen volcano, SW Japan---. J. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol., 94, 109-119.*
- Shimaoka, A. and Kaneoka, I. (2000) Be isotope studies on the contribution of subducted oceanic sediments to arc magma: The North-East Japan and Hokkaido areas. J. Geogr., 109, 627-635. *
- Shimazu, M. and Kawano, Y. (1999) Petrochemistry and tectonic setting of the Tertiary volcanic rocks from North Sikhote Alin. J. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol., 94, 145-161.
- Shimizu, I. and Shimada, K. (2002) Development of a polarized laser scanning microscope and its use to quantitative analysis of rock textures. *J. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **108**, 306-317. *
- Shimizu, K., Komiya, T., Hirose, K., Shimizu, N. and Maruyama, S. (2001) Cr-spinel, an excellent micro-container for retaining primitive melts ---implications for a hydrous plume origin for komatiites. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, 189, 177-188.
- Shimoda, G. and Tatsumi, Y. (1999) Generation of rhyolite magmas by melting of subducting sediments in Shodo-Shima island, Southwest Japan, and its bearing on the origin of high-Mg andesites. *Island Arc*, **8**, 383-392.
- Shinjo, R. and Kato, Y. (2000) Geochemical constraints on the origin of bimodal magmatism at the Okinawa Trough, an incipient back-arc basin. *Lithos*, **54**, 117-137.
- Shinjo, R., Woodhead, J. D. and Hergt, J. M. (2000) Geochemical variation within the northern Ryukyu Arc: magma source compositions and geodynamic implications. *Contrib. Mineral. Petrol.*, 140, 263-282.
- Shinmei, T., Tomioka, N., Fujino, K., Kuroda, K. and Irifune, T. (1999) *In situ* X-ray diffraction study of enstatite up to 12 GPa and 1473 K and equations of state. *Amer. Mineral.*, **84**, 1588-1594.
- Shinozaki, K., Ren, Z., and Takahashi, E. (2002) Geochemical and petrological characteristics of Nuuanu and Wailau landslide blocks. In: Takahashi, E., Lipman, P., Garcia, M., Naka, J. and Aramaki, S. (eds) *Hawaiian volcanoes: Deep underwater perspectives*, AGU Monograph, 297-310.
- Shirasaka, M., Takahashi, E., Nishihara, Y., Matsukage, K. and Kikegawa, T. (2002) *In situ* X-ray observation of the reaction dolomite = aragonite + magnesite at 900-1300 K. *Amer. Mineral.*, **87**, 922-930.
- Shukuno, H. and Arai, S. (1999) Olivine-chromian spinel compositional relationships of the Cenozoic alkali basalts from Southwest Japan: implication for their mantle restites. *J. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol.*, **94**, 120-140.
- Singh, P., Arima, M. and Gupta, A. K. (2000) Phase equilibrium constraints on the petrogenesis of nephelinites with reference to the system

diopside-nepheline under variable P-T conditions in the presence or absence of water. J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci., 95, 113-124.

- Smith, J. V., Miyake, Y. and Oikawa, T. (2001) Interpretation of porosity in dacite lava domes as ductile- brittle failure textures. *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **112**, 25-35.
- Sugawara, T. (1999) Experimental techniques to minimize Fe and Na losses in one atmosphere gas mixing furnace. J. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol., 94, 425-441.
- Sugawara, T. (2000a) Empirical relationships between temperature, pressure, and MgO content in olivine and pyroxene saturated liquid. *J. Geophys. Res.*, **105**, 8457-8472.
- Sugawara, T. (2000b) Thermodynamic analysis of Fe and Mg partitioning between plagioclase and silicate liquid. *Contrib. Mineral. Petrol.*, **138**, 101-113.
- Sugawara, T. (2001a) Effect of secondary fluorescence on electron microprobe analysis of Fe in plagioclase. *Japan. Mag. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, **30**, 159-163. *
- Sugawara, T. (2001b) Ferric iron partitioning between plagioclase and silicate liquid: thermodynamics and petrological applications. *Contrib. Mineral. Petrol.*, **141**, 659-686.
- Sugii, K. and Sawada, Y. (2000) Late Cretaceous Kaizukiyama granite, northeast of Lake Biwa, Southwest Japan. *Geosci. Rep. Shimane Univ.*, **18**, 69-84. *
- Suito, K., Namba, J., Horikawa, T., Taniguchi, Y., Sakurai, N., Kobayashi, M., Onodera, A. and Shimomura, O. (2001) Phase relations of CaCO₃ at high pressure and high temperature. *Amer. Mineral.*, 86, 997-1002.
- Sumii, T. (2000) K-Ar ages of the Miocene granites in the Takatsuki-yama and the surrounding areas, southwestern Shikoku. *Japan. Mag. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, **29**, 67-73. *
- Sumita, T. (2000) Water inducing magma generation: explanation by high-pressure experiments and thermodynamic analysis. *Chishitsu News*, **553**, 27-32. **
- Suzuki, Y. (2000) Petrogenesis of Felsic Magma in Higashi-Izu Monogenetic Volcano Group. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 45, 149-171. *
- Suzuki, Y. and Nakada, S. (2001) Timing of vesiculation and crystallization during magma ascent ---Example of the phreatomagmatic phase in Usu 2000 eruption---. *Bull. Earthq. Res. Inst*, **76**, 253-268. *
- Suzuki, Y. and Nakada, S. (2002) Vesiculation and magma ascent process in the Usu 2000 eruption, Inferred from texture and size distribution of bubbles. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 675-688. *
- Tadesse, T., Hoshino, M. and Sawada, Y. (1999) Geochemistry of low-grade metavolcanic rocks from the Pan-African of the Axum area, northern Ethiopia. *Precam. Res.*, 99, 101-124.
- Takagi, T., Orihashi, Y., Naito, K. and Watanabe, Y. (1999) Petrology of a mantle-derived rhyolite, Hokkaido, Japan. *Chem. Geol.*, 160, 425-445.
- Takahashi, E., and Nakajima, K. (2002) Melting process in the Hawaiian plume: an experimental study. In: Takahashi, E., Lipman, P., Garcia, M., Naka, J. and Aramaki, S. (eds) *Hawaiian volcanoes: Deep underwater perspectives*, AGU Monograph, 403-418.
- Takahashi, E., Lipman, P., Garcia, M., Naka, J. and Aramaki, S. (2002) Hawaiian volcanoes: Deep underwater perspectives. Geophysical Monograph Series, Vol. 128, American Geophysical Union, 418 pp.
- Takahashi, M. (2000) Island Arc, magma and tectonics. Univ. Tokyo Press, 322pp. **
- Takahashi, M., Kikuchi, K., Urushihata, T., Aramaki, S. and Hamuro, K. (2002a) Incompatible element chemistry for basaltic rocks in the Higashi-Izu Monogenetic Volcano Group. *Proc. Inst. Nat. Sci., Nihon Univ.*, **37**, 119-134. *
- Takahashi, M., Tagiri, M., Notsu, K., Lopez-Escobar, L. and Moreno-Roa, H. (2002b) Comparative study of Quaternary arc volcanic belts: Southern Chile vs. Northeast Japan. Proc. Inst. Nat. Sci., Nihon Univ., 37, 135-156.
- Takahashi, N. (2001) Origin of plagioclase lherzolite from the Nikanbetsu peridotite complex, Hokkaido, Northern Japan: Implications for incipient melt migration and segregation in the partially molten upper mantle. *J. Petrol.*, **42**, 39-54.
- Takahashi, T. and Shuto, K. (1999) Genesis of adakitic andesite, high-magnesian andesite, calc-alkaline andesite and tholeiitic andesite in the Miocene Iwaine Formation, southern part of Toyama Prefecture, Japan. J. Geol. Soc. Japan, 105, 789-809. *
- Takashima, I., Ogiwara, K., Zhang, W. S. and Murakami, H. (1999) Thermoluminescence ages of Quaternary volcanic rocks of the Doroyu Area, Akita, Japan. J. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol., 94, 1-10. *
- Takashima, I., Ohkawa, K., Miura, K., Saiki, K. and Murakami, H. (2001) Alteration and thermoluminescence ages of altered and volcanic rocks in the Hachimantai Appi geothermal field, NE Japan ---Proposal for selection of promising geothermal areas by alteration survey, dating and remote sensing-. J. Geotherm. Res. Soc. Japan, 23, 251-261.*
- Takazawa, E., Frey, F. A., Shimizu, N., Saal, A. and Obata, M. (1999) Polybaric petrogenesis of mafic layers in the Horoman peridotite complex, Japan. J. Petrol., 40, 1827-1851.
- Takeuchi, S. (2000) Eruption initiation from a highly crystallized magma chamber ---Evidence from the 1929 eruption of Hokkaido-Komagatake---. *Monthly Earth*, **22**, 341-348. **
- Takeuchi, S. and Nakamura, M. (2001) Role of precursory less-viscous mixed magma in the eruption of phenocryst-rich magma: evidence

from the Hokkaido-Komagatake 1929 eruption. Bull. Volcanol., 63, 365-376.

- Tamura, A., Makita, M. and Arai, S. (1999) Petrogenesis of ultramafic rocks in the Kamuikotan belt, Hokkaido, northern Japan. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, 52, 53-68. *
- Tamura, Y. and Tatsumi, Y. (2002) Remelting of an andesitic crust as a possible origin for rhyolitic magma in oceanic arcs: an example from the Izu-Bonin arc. *J. Petrol.*, **43**, 1029-1047.
- Tamura, Y., Yuhara, M. and Ishii, T. (2000) Primary arc basalts from Daisen volcano, Japan: equilibrium crystal fractionation versus disequilibrium fractionation during supercooling. *J. Petrol.*, **41**, 431-448.
- Tamura, Y., Tatsumi, Y., Zhao, D., Kido, Y. and Shukuno, H. (2001) Distribution of Quaternary volcanoes in the Northeast Japan arc: geologic and geophysical evidence of hot fingers in the mantle wedge. *Proc. Japan Academy*, 77, 135-139.
- Tamura, Y., Tatsumi, Y., Zhao, D., Kido, Y. and Shukuno, H. (2002) Hot fingers in the mantle wedge: new insights into magma genesis in subduction zone. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **197**, 105-116.
- Tanaka, R., Nakamura, E. and Takahashi, E. (2002) Geochemical evolution of Koolau volcano, Hawaii. In: Takahashi, E., Lipman, P., Garcia, M., Naka, J. and Aramaki, S. (eds) *Hawaiian volcanoes: Deep underwater perspectives*, AGU Monograph, 311-332.
- Taniguchi, H. (2000) Theoretical background of viscosity of magmatic silicate melt ---role of free volume and configurational entropy---. *Japan. Mag. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, **29**, 97-109.*
- Taniguchi, H. (2001) Introduction to Magma science. Shokabo, Tokyo, pp. 179.**
- Tateyama, H., Hoshizumi, H. and Watanabe, K. (2002) Stratigraphy and eruptive history of Nodake volcano, Unzen, Kyushu, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 739-749. *
- Tatsumi, Y. (2000a) Continental crust formation by delamination in subduction zones and complementary accumulation of the EMI component in the mantle. *G-cubed*, **1**, **Dec**.
- Tatsumi, Y. (2000b) Slab melting: its role in continental crust formation and mantle evolution. Geophys. Res. Lett., 27, 3941-3944.
- Tatsumi, Y. (2001) Geochemical modeling of partial melting of subducting sediments and subsequent melt-mantle interaction: Generation of high-Mg andesites in the Setouchi volcanic belt, southwest Japan. *Geology*, **29**, 323-326.
- Tatsumi, Y., Arai, R., and Ishizaka, K. (1999a) The petrology of an melilite-olivine nephlinite from Hamada, SW Japan. J. Petrol., 40, 497-509.
- Tatsumi, Y., Oguri, K., and Shimoda, G. (1999b) The behavior of platinum-group elements during magmatic differentiation in Hawaiian tholeiites. *Geochem. J.*, **33**, 237-247.
- Tatsumi, Y., Kani, T., Ishizuka, H., Maruyama, S., and Nishimura, Y. (2000a) Activation of Pacific mantle plumes during the Carboniferous: evidence from accretionary complexes in southwest Japan. *Geology*, **28**, 580-582.
- Tatsumi, Y., Oguri, K., Shimoda, G., Kogiso, T., and Barsczus, H.G. (2000b) Contrasting behavior of noble-metal elements during magmatic differentiation in basalts from the Cook Islands, Polynesia. *Geology*, **28**, 131-134.
- Tatsumi, Y., Sato, K., Sano, T., Arai, R., and Prikhodko, V.S. (2000c) Transition from arc to intraplate magmatism associated with backarc rifting: evolution of the Sikhote Alin volcanism. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **27**, 1587-1590.
- Tatsumi, Y., Nakashima, T., and Tamura, Y. (2002) The petrology and geochemistry of calc-alkaline andesites on Shodo-Shima Island, SW Japan. *J. Petrol.*, **43**, 3-16.
- Taura, H., Yurimoto, H., Kato, T. and Sueno, S. (2001) Trace element partitioning between silicate perovskites and ultracalcic melt. *Phys. Earth Planet. Int.*, **124**, 25-32.
- Tomiya, A. (2001) The magma ejected on the 2000 eruption of Usu volcano. Rep. Coord. Commit. Pred. Volc. Eruption, 77, 78-80. **
- Tomiya, A. and Miyagi, I. (2002) The eruptive products and magma process of March 31, 2000 eruption of Usu volcano. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 663-673. *
- Tomiya, A., Miyagi, I., Hoshizumi, H., Yamamoto, T., Kawanabe, Y. and Satoh, H. (2001) Essential material of the March, 31, 2000 eruption of Usu volcano: Implication for the mechanism of the phreatomagmatic eruption. *Bull. Geol. Surv. Japan*, **52**, 215-229. *
- Toramaru, A. (2001) A numerical experiment of crystallization for a binary eutectic system with application to igneous textures. *J. Geophys. Res.*, **106**, 4037-4060.
- Toramaru, A., Takazawa, E., Morishita, T., and Matsukage, K. (2001) Model of layering formation in a mantle peridotite (Horoman, Hokkaido Japan). *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **185**, 299-313.
- Toya, N. and Ban, M. (2001) Volcanic history and major element bulk chemistry of the Aoso volcano, Northeast Japan arc. *Japan. Mag. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, **30**, 105-116. *
- Tsuchiya, N., Furukawa, S. and Kimura, J.-I. (1999a) Petrochemical study of the Jodogahama Rhyolitic Rocks in the North Kitakami Belt, Japan ---origin of peraluminous adakites---. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **53**, 57-83. *
- Tsuchiya, N., Wada, M. and Kimura, J.-I. (1999b) Petrochemical characteristics of greenstones in the North Kitakami belt, Japan. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **52**, 165-179. *
- Tsuchiyama, A., Hanamoto, T., Nakashima, Y. and Nakano, T. (2000) Quantitative evaluation of attenuation contrast of minerals by using a

medical X-ray CT scanner. J. Mineral. Petrol. Sci., 95, 125-137.

- Tsujimori, T. (1999) Petrogenesis of the Fuko Pass high-pressure metacumulate from the Oeyama peridotite body, southwestern Japan: evidence for early Paleozoic subduction metamorphism. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **52**, 287-302. *
- Tsukui, M. and Hoshino, K. (2002) Magmatic differentiation of Hachijo-Nishiyama volcano, Izu islands, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 57-72. *
- Tsukui, M., Niihori, K., Kawanabe, Y. and Suzuki, Y. (2001) Stratigraphy and formation of Miyakejima volcano. J. Geogr., 110, 156-167. *
- Ueda, Y., Onodera, K., Ootani, Y. and Suzuki, A. (2001) Geophysical structure of the Myojin-sho caldera and its volcanological interpretation. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **46**, 175-185.*
- Uesugi, J. and Arai, S. (1999) The Shiokawa peridotite mass in the Mikabu belt, central Japan, as a cumulate from intraplate tholeiite. *Mem. Geol. Soc. Japan*, **52**, 229-242. *
- Ui, T., Arai, K., Yoshimoto, M., Yoshida, M., Wada, Y., Hattori, I. And Yoneda, H. (2002) December 16, 1707 ash discharged from Mount Fuji: Fallout and archived in Tokyo. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 87-93. *
- Ujike, O. (2000) Electron microprobe determination of strontium content of plagioclase in volcanic rocks. *Japan. Mag. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, **29**, 28-32. *
- Ujike, O. and Stix, J. (2000) Geochemistry and origins of Ueno and On-take basaltic to andesitic rocks (<3 Ma) produced by distinct contributions of subduction components, central Japan. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 95, 49-61.
- Ujike, O., Tanaka, R. and Watanabe, K. (1999) Petrology of adakitic rocks from Quaternary Bishamon-dake volcano, central Japan. J. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol., 94, 315-328.
- Umeda, K., Hayashi, S., Ban, M., Sasaki, M., Ohba, T. and Akaishi, K. (1999) Sequence of the volcanism and tectonics during the last 2.0 million years along the volcanic front in Tohoku district, NE Japan. *Bull. Geol. Surv. Japan*, **44**, 233-249. *
- Uto, K., Nakada, S., Shimizu, H., Eichelberger, J. C., and Shinohara, H. (2000) Unzen Scientific Drilling Project (USDP). Unzen Volcano: International cooperative research with Scientific Drilling for Understanding eruption mechanisms and magmatic activity. *ICDP Newsletter*, **2**, 22-28.
- Uto, K., Kazahaya, K., Saito, G., Itoh, J., Takada, A., Kawanabe, Y., Hoshizumi, H., Yamamoto, T., Miyagi, I., Tomiya, A., Satoh, H., Hamazaki, S. and Shinohara, H. (2001) Magma ascending model of 2000 Miyakejima eruptions: Evidence from pyroclastics of August 18 and SO₂-rich volcanic gas. *J. Geogr.*, **110**, 257-270. *
- Utsuki, T. (2002) Anisotropic Fe-Mg diffusion in biotite. Amer. Mineral., 87, 1014-1017.
- Wang, W. and Takahashi, E. (1999) Subsolidus and melting experiments of a K-rich basaltic composition to 27 GPa: Implication for the behavior of potassium in the mangle. *Amer. Mineral.*, 84, 357-361.
- Wang, W. and Takahashi, E. (2000) Subsolidus and melting experiments of K-doped peridotite KLB-1 to 27 GPa: Its geophysical and geochemical implications. J. Geophys. Res., 105, 2855-2868.
- Wang, W., Sueno, S., Takahashi, E., Yurimoto, H. and Gasparic, T. (2000) Enrichment processes at the base of the Archean lithospheric mantle: observations from trace element characteristics of pyropic garnet inclusions in diamonds. *Contrib. Mineral. Petrol.*, 139, 720-733.
- Watanabe, Ka. (2000) Dive surveys on knolls off the north-east of the Iriomote Island. ---the Iriomote knoll and the Daiichi and Daini Kohama knolls---. *JAMSTEC Deep Sea Res.*, 16, 19-28.*
- Watanabe, Ka. (2001) Mapping the hydrothermal activity area on the Hatoma knoll in the southern Okinawa trough. *JAMSTEC Deep Sea Res.*, **19**, 87-94. *
- Watanabe, Ko., Danhara, T., Watanabe, K., Terai, K. and Yamashita, T. (1999) Juvenile volcanic glass erupted before the appearance of the 1991 lava dome, Unzen volcano, Kyushu, Japan. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 89, 113-121.
- Yahata, M. (2002) Fragmentation depths and its temporal variation during Usu 2000 phreatomagmatic- and phreatic eruptions. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **47**, 263-278. *
- Yajima, K., Fujimaki, H. and Kuroda, N. (2001) Primitive tholeiites and calc-alkaline rocks from Hahajima, Bonin (Ogasawara) archipelago. Japan. Mag. Mineral. Petrol. Sci., 30, 164-179. *
- Yamamoto, M., Abe, S., Abe, H., Yasui, M. and Kishi, T. (1999) Garnet-bearing spinel harzburgite xenolith from Arato-yama alkali basalt, southwest Japan. J. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol., 94, 46-56. *
- Yamashita, S. (1999) Experimental study of the effect of temperature on water solubility in natural rhyolite melt to 100 MPa. J. Petrol., 40, 1497-1507.
- Yasuda, A., Nakada, S. and Fujii T. (2001) Sulfur abundance and redox state of melt inclusions from Miyake-jima 2000 eruption. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **46**, 165-173. *
- Yasuda, A., Nakada, S. and Fujii T. (2002) Composition of melt inclusions from 2000 Miyakejima eruption and implications for vigorous SO₂ emission. *Bull. Earthq. Res. Inst.*, 77, 43-54. *
- Yasui, M. and Yamamoto, M. (2000) Stratigraphy and K-Ar dating of volcanic rocks from the Inaniwadake district, Northeast Japan arc: The period of extremely low-K magmatism. *Japan. Mag. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, 29, 74-84. *

- Yokose, H., Yanashima, T., Kikuchi, W., Sugiyama, N., Shinohara, A., Takeuchi, T., Nagao, K. and Kodama, K. (1999) Episodic magmatism since 5 Ma in the western part of Beppu-Shimabara graben, Kyushu, Japan. J. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol., 94, 338-348. *
- Yoshida, T. (2001) The evolution of arc magmatism in the NE Honshu Arc, Japan. Sci. Rep. Tohoku Univ., Ser. 5, 36, 131-149.
- Yoshikawa, M. and Nakamura, E. (2000) Geochemical evolution of the Horoman peridotite complex: Implications for melt extraction, metasomatism, and compositional layering in the mantle. J. Geophys. Res., **105**, 2879-2901.
- Yoshinaga, T. and Nakagawa, M. (1999) Finding of primary basalt from Sannome-gata volcano, northeastern Japan, and its compositional variation. J. Mineral. Petrol. Econ. Geol., 94, 241-253.*
- Yoshino, T., Mibe, K., Yasuda, A. and Fujii, T. (2002) Wetting properties of anorthite aggregates: Implications for fluid connectivity in continental lower crust. J. Geophys. Res., 107, 10.1029/2001JB000440.
- Zhang, W.S., Takashima, I. and Sasaki, K. (1999) Alteration of core samples and geothermal system in Yuzawa-Ogachi area, Kurikoma north, northeast Japan. J. Geotherm. Res. Soc. Japan, 21, 143-153.*
- Zhao, D., Asamori, K., and Iwamori, H. (2000) Seismic structure and magmatism of the young Kyushu subduction zone. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **27**, 2057-2060.
- Zheng, Z., Tanaka, H., Tatsumi, Y., and Kono, M. (2002) Basalt platforms in Inner Mongolia and Hebei Province, northeastern China: new K-Ar ages, geochemistries, and revision of paleomagnetic results. *Geophys. J. Intern.*, **151**, 654-662.
- Zhu, Y., Ogasawara, Y. and Ayabe, T. (2002) The mineralogy of the Kokchetav 'lamproite': implications for the magma evolution. *J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **116**, 35-61.

(* In Japanese with English abstract. ** In Japanese)

V. Geochemical Study

1. Monitoring of Active Volcanoes Before and After the Eruption

Usu volcano, Hokkaido, Japan erupted on March 31, 2000, after a dormancy of 22 years. Various geochemical studies have been reported related to the eruption. Prior to the 2000 eruption, several geochemical anomalies were identified. Soil CO₂ degassing from the summit area increased before and significantly decreased after the 2000 eruption (Hernandez *et al.*, 2001b). Systematic water-level decreases were observed for a several month prior to the eruption at two wells (Shibata and Akita, 2001). Abrupt and large rises in well water levels were observed three days prior to the 2000 eruption (Matsumoto *et al.*, 2002a). The constituents of the 2000 volcanic ashes were shown to be the alteration products of the volcaniclastics of the historic eruptions (Nogami *et al.*, 2002a) and water-soluble components on volcanic ash are documented (Murayama and Ogino, 2002; Nogami *et al.*, 2002b). Distribution maps for Boron and Ammonia concentration in the soil in 1999 showed anomalies at Nishiyama area where the 2000 eruption took place (Perez *et al.*, 2002). Arsenic on ash and mudflow deposits is investigated (Yahata *et al.*, 2001). Continuous soil CO₂ emission monitoring was carried out at the summit of Usu after the onset of the eruption and observed decreasing trend similar to the decreasing eruptive activity (Mori *et al.*, 2002a). Satellite data are used for monitoring thermal activities (Kaneko *et al.*, 2002) and ash fall distributions (Urai *et al.*, 2001).

Miyakejima volcano started to erupt in June 2000; one of the eruptive activities that deserve special mention is continuous high SO_2 emission from the volcano. SO_2 flux as high as 230 ktons/day was observed using COSPEC and convective transport of magma model are proposed to explain the observed continuous high SO_2 flux (Kazahaya, 2001; Kazahaya *et al.*, 2001; Uto *et al.*, 2001). Sulfur dioxide and acid rain due to the Miyakejima eruption were observed and reported at many locations even on the Honshu Island, Japan (Yamakawa and Yamagami, 2001; Yokota, 2001; Katsuno *et al.*, 2002; Matsumoto *et al.*, 2002b), and dispersion of volcanic gas from the volcano is simulated (Chino, 2001). Reason for the high SO_2 emission of the Miyakejima 2000 eruption was discussed by analyzing sulfur, chloride, and fO_2 in melt inclusions inside phenocrysts (Yasuda *et al.*, 2001; 2002). Soil CO_2 survey was performed in 1999 before the eruption (Hernandez *et al.*, 2001c). Kinoshita (2001) reviewed geochemistry and effects of the volcanic gas.

Takahashi *et al.* (2000) reports on Koshimizu thermal spring formed in the 1986 eruption of Izu-Oshima volcano. Nogami *et al.* (2001) discussed the relationship between the chemical composition of volcanic ash and the contents of the water-soluble components adhering to it for the early stage of the 1990-1995 Unzen eruption. Related to the 1995 phreatic eruption of Kuju volcano, entrainment of atmospheric air into volcanic system was observed (Ohsawa *et al.*, 2000a) and HCl emission rate variations are reported (Itoi *et al.*, 2000). Hydrothermal processes of the 1997 phreatic eruption of Akita-Yakeyama volcano were revealed using geochemical data of fumarolic gases and ejecta of the eruption (Nogami *et al.*, 2000).

2. Studies on Gas and Water Related to Volcanic Activity.

Special issue of "Earth, Planets and Space" (Vol. 54, No. 3) for Satsuma-Iwojima volcano, which is continuously degassing high temperature volcanic gas, is published in 2002. The issue has 15 manuscripts (12 by Japanese authors) on the volcano (Hamasaki, 2002; Iguchi *et al.*, 2002; Kanda and Mori, 2002; Kawanabe and Saito, 2002; Kazahaya *et al.*, 2002; Mori *et al.*, 2002b; Saito *et al.*, 2002b; Sato *et al.*, 2002; Shimoike *et al.*, 2002; Shimohara *et al.*, 2002; Uchida and Sakai, 2002; Urai, 2002). Results from the fourth and fifth IAVCEI volcanic gas field workshop held respectively at Vulcano Island, Italy, and Java, Indonesia were evaluated (Giggenbach *et al.*, 2001). Ossaka and Nogami (2001) reported the history and gas chemistry on Tyatya volcano as a result of Japan-Russia joint scientific study held in 1999. Ohba (2000) reviewed chemical approach for the prediction of volcanic eruptions.

Saito *et al.* (2002a) collected up to 15 fumarolic gas samples at Satsuma-Iwojima and Kuju volcanoes and showed that careful sampling and analyses provide reliable geochemical data. Trace gas species in fumarolic and volcanic gases are studied for light hydrocarbons (Igari *et al.*, 2000) and halocarbons (Jordan *et al.*, 2000). Sulfur isotope ratios of volcanic gases from Satsuma-Iwojima and Sakurajima volcanoes are obtained (Kasasaku *et al.*, 1999).

Hydrothermal system and water chemistry and isotope compositions are discussed for crater lakes of Kusatsu-Shirane (Ohba *et al.*, 2000a; Ohba *et al.*, 2000b) and Patuha volcano, Indonesia (Sriwana *et al.*, 2000), Kawah Lien volcano, Indonesia (Delmelle *et al.*, 2000). Nishimura *et al.* (1999) surveyed crater lake, Lake Towada, for methane concentration and carbon isotopic composition profiles. An in-situ monitoring system for aqueous polythionate in Yugama crater lake, Kusatsu-Shirane volcano is developed (Takano *et al.*, 2000b). The crater lake water from Mary Semiachik volcano was used for the analytical inter laboratory comparison for its chemistry (Takano *et al.*, 2000a). Takano (2001) reviewed geosciences on active crater lakes. Geochemistry and/or disaster prevention at Lake Nyos, Cameroon is reported and discussed (Kusakabe *et al.*, 2000b; Kusakabe, 2001a; Kusakabe, 2001b; Kusakabe, 2002). Sulfur isotope effects during the SO₂ disproportionation reaction were experimentally determined for hydrothermal conditions (Kusakabe *et al.*, 2000a).

Lanthanoid abundances in hot spring waters are reported (Kikawada *et al.*, 1999) and hydrothermal alternation of rocks by acidic hot spring water was reported and experimented (Kikawada *et al.*, 2000a; Kikawada *et al.*, 2001). Chemistry and/or isotope ratios of hot spring waters are studied at Manza area (Kikawada *et al.*, 2002), Kagusa hot spring (Kikawada *et al.*, 2000b), Tateyama-Jigokudani (Mizutani *et al.*, 2000), Shimabara Peninsula (Ohsawa *et al.*, 2002b), and Tamagawa hot spring (Muto and Matsubaya, 2002). Helium and/or carbon isotopic

composition of hot spring gases are reported for Unzen volcano (Notsu *et al.*, 2001), Kirishima volcano (Sato *et al.*, 1999a), Tibet Plateau (Yokoyama *et al.*, 1999) and Tatun volcano (Yang *et al.*, 1999). Chemical and isotopic compositions for water, CO₂ and noble gases in groundwater are reported for Bioko, Principe, Sao Tome and Annobon Islands off the western coast of Africa (Aka *et al.*, 2001). Origin of CO₂ from Nagayu hot spring is discussed (Iwakura *et al.*, 2000). Anomalously high δ^{13} C values up to +2.8‰ for CO₂ in fumarolic gases from Ogasawara-Iwojima is reported (Ohsawa and Yusa, 2001). Using chemistry and isotopic information of inorganic carbon in ground water system of Unzen volcano, Ohsawa *et al.* (2002c) showed that volcanic gas is escaping into ground water system.

Carbon dioxide emissions through ground surface of volcanic flanks have been measured at various volcanoes: Usu (Hernandez *et al.*, 2001b; Mori *et al.*, 2002a), Tarumae (Hernandez *et al.*, 2001a), Miyakejima (Hernandez *et al.*, 2001c), Satsuma Iwojima (Shimoike *et al.*, 2002) volcanoes in Japan and Teide, Spain, (Hernandez *et al.*, 2000) and Cerro Negro volcanoes, Nicaragua, (Salazar *et al.*, 2001). Remote measurements on chemical composition of volcanic gas using FTIR spectral radiometer were carried out. The CO/CO₂ ratios were obtained at Aso volcano (Ono *et al.*, 1999), and anomalously high SiF₄/HF ratio was identified at Satsuma-Iwojima volcano (Mori *et al.*, 2002b). Urai *et al.* (1999) showed that it is possible to measure distributions of SO₂ emission from volcanoes using the ASTER launched on EOS AM-1 satellite. Gas or fluid velocity from boreholes were measured based on temperature data (Umeda *et al.*, 1999; Igarashi *et al.*, 2000). An in-situ method for CO₂ flux measurements from fumaroles using tracer gas is established (Mori *et al.*, 2001). Natale *et al.*, 1000) developed a system to measure pressure gradients in the soil at locations of ground gas emissions. A method for Carbon-isotope composition for extremely low concentration CH₄ was established and successfully applied to volcanic gases from Satsuma-Iwojima volcano (Sato *et al.*, 1999b). A continuous monitoring system for measuring fumarolic gas composition was developed and applied to a steam-well at Izu-Ohsima volcano (Shimoike *and* Notsu, 2000). Colors of the waters or hot spring deposits are used to understand volcano-hydrothermal systems: Ohsawa *et al.* (2002a) showed that blue color of thermal waters are related to Rayleigh scattering by colloidal silica; Ossaka *et al.* (2000) reported discolor of sea water during the 1986 eruption of Izu-Oshima volcano; Oue *et al.* (2002) revealed the reason for the change in the color of the hot spring deposit at Chinoike-Jikoku in Beppu geothermal area.

Geochemistry and exploration of Geothermal and hydrothermal systems are studied at various locations: Kawayu spa (Suzuki *et al.*, 2000), Matsukawa (Ozeki *et al.*, 2001), Hachimantai (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1999), Uenotai (Takeno, 2000), Kakkonda (Ehara *et al.*, 2001), Hakone (Ohsawa *et al.*, 2000b), Kusatsu-Shirane (Ohba *et al.*, 2000b), Hachijojima (Matsuyama *et al.*, 1999; Matsuyama *et al.*, 2000), Fushime (Okada *et al.*, 2000), Beppu (Yusa *et al.*, 2000), Kirishima (Fujita *et al.*, 2000; Fujita and Sakamoto, 2001a), Kagoshima city (Fujita and Sakamoto, 2001b), Sumikawa (Kato *et al.*, 2001; Ueda *et al.*, 2001). Polymerizations of silicic acids in geothermal and low temperature waters are discussed (Sugita and Yamamoto, 1999; Fujita and Sakamoto, 2001c). Yoshida (2000) reviewed and recommended procedures for chemical analyses of geothermal fluids.

Global volcanic fluxes of Nitrogen, Helium carbon are discussed based on elemental and isotopic compositions of the volatile species (Sano, 2001; Sano *et al.*, 2001). Many studies on noble gas chemistry and isotope compositions in lavas or xenolithes were carried out to understand volcanism, and magma and mantle systems (Tedesco *et al.*, 1998; Xu *et al.*, 1998; Hanyu *et al.*, 1999; Sumino *et al.*, 2000; Sumino *et al.*, 2001; Matsumoto *et al.*, 2001; Orihashi *et al.*, 2001; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2001; Matsumoto *et al.*, 2002c).

3. Geochemical Studies of Hydrothermal Activities on Oceanic Bottoms

Ishibashi and Gamo (1999) summarized the chemical aspects of submarine hydrothermal systems. A review article by Gamo (1999) focused on the behavior of methane gas associated with cold seepage from sediment of the Nankai Trough. New techniques for surveying trace amount of metals in seawater have been developed: Okamura *et al.* (1998, 2001) developed in-situ Mn analyzer using chemiluminescence and applied for hydrothermal plume observation; Obata *et al.* (2000) developed Al flow-through analysis method using fluorometric detection for collected samples from oceanic hydrothermal regime.

The chemical characteristics of hydrothermal fluids from the Indian Ocean have been revealed for the first time (Gamo *et al.*, 2001). The concentration and stable carbon isotopic composition of methane in water related to seafloor hydrothermal venting of Myojin Knoll Caldera, Izu-Bonin arc, have been measured, and results showed the microbial methane oxidation in the effluent plume (Tsunogai *et al.*, 2000). The hydrothermal petroleum has been investigated at the submarine Wakamiko caldera in northern Kagoshima Bay (Yamanaka *et al.*, 2000). The pore fluids from Ocean Drilling Program (ODP) Leg 169 were analyzed for He and carbon gas geochemistry (Ishibashi *et al.*, 2002), and the fluid was also compared with the fluid chemistry of ODP Leg 139 (Gieskes *et al.*, 2002).

Various elements including rare earth element (REE), Yttorium, Tungsten and Molybdenum in hydrothermal fluids and deposits have been extensively studied (Douville *et al.*, 1999; Hongo and Nozaki, 2001; Sohrin *et al.*, 2002). Shikazono and Kusakebe compared the chemical and mineralogical characteristics of sulfate-sulfide chimney in backarc basin and mid-ocean ridge. Differentiated volcanic glasses dredged from the Manus Basin were analyzed for volatiles and Marty *et al.* (2001) suggest that most of the volatiles are lost continuously during the fractional crystallization.

(Toshiya Mori)

References

- Aka, F. T., Kusakabe M., Nagao K. and Tanyileke G. (2001) Noble gas isotopic compositions and water/gas chemistry of soda springs from the islands of Bioko, Sao Tome and Annobon, along with Cameroon Volcanic Line, West Africa. *Appl. Geochem.*, **16**, 323-338.
- *Chino, M. (2001) Numerical simulation of long-range atmospheric dispersion of SO₂ discharged from Miyake Island. *Jour. Japan Air Cleaning Assoc.*, **39**, 40-48.
- Delmelle, P., Bernard A., Kusakabe M., Fischer T. P. and Takano B. (2000) Geochemistry of the magmatic-hydrothermal system of Kawah Ijen volcano, East Java, Indonesia. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, 97, 31-53.
- Douville, E., Bienvenu P., Charlou J. L., Donval J. P., Fouquet Y., Appriou P. and Gamo T. (1999) Yttrium and rare earth elements in fluids from various deep-sea hydrothermal systems. *Geochim. Acta*, 63, 627-643.
- *Ehara, S., Fujimitsu Y., Yamakawa S. and Baba H. (2001) Development of a Hydrothermal System by Conductive Cooling of the Heat Source A Case Study of Kakkonda Geothermal System, Japan. *Jour. Geotherm. Res. Soc. Japan*, **23**, 11-23.
- *Fujita, S.-I. and Sakamoto H. (2001a) Geochemical Interpretation on Hydrothermal Formation Mechanism of Maruo Region in the Kirishima Volcanic Area. *Jour. Balnerol. Soc. Japan*, **50**, 221-229.
- *Fujita, S.-I. and Sakamoto H. (2001b) Geochemical Interpretation on Hydrothermal System in Kagoshima City and its Northern Area. *Jour. Balnerol. Soc. Japan*, **51**, 11-20.
- *Fujita, S.-I. and Sakamoto H. (2001c) Interpretation on Polymerization Speed of Mono Silicic Acid in Geothermal Water of Maruo Region in the Kirishima Volcanic Area. *Jour. Balnerol. Soc. Japan*, **51**, 62-71.
- *Fujita, S.-I., Sakamoto H. and Kiriyama T. (2000) Geochemical aspect on the genesis of the hydrothermal system of the Kirishima volcano and its southwestern area. *Jour. Balnerol. Soc. Japan*, **50**, 1/11.
- *Gamo, T. (1999) Looking into the earth interior through windows of the deep seafloor. Methane seepage from the Nankai Trough, Japan. Sekiyu Gijutsu Kyokaishi, 64, 173-183.
- Gamo, T., Chiba H., Yamanaka T., Okudaira T., Hashimoto J., Tsuchida S., Ishibashi J., Kataoka S., Tsunogai U., Okamura K., Sano Y. and Shinjo R. (2001) Chemical characteristics of newly discovered black smoker fluids and associated hydrothermal plumes at the Rodriguez Triple Junction, Central Indian Ridge. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **193**, 371-379.
- Gieskes, J. M., Simoneit B. R. T., Shanks W. C., Goodfellow W. D., James R. H., Baker P. A. and Ishibashi J. (2002) Geochemistry of fluid phases and sediments: relevance to hydrothermal circulation in Middle Valley, ODP Legs 139 and 169. *Appl. Geochem.*, 17, 1381-1399.
- Giggenbach, W. F., Tedesco D., Sulistiyo Y., Caprai A., Cioni R., Favara R., Fischer T. P., Hirabayashi J. I., Korzhinsky M., Martini M., Menyailov I. and Shinohara H. (2001) Evaluation of results from the fourth and fifth IAVCEI field workshops on volcanic gases, Vulcano island, Italy and Java, Indonesia. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, 108, 157-172.
- Hamasaki, S. (2002) Volcanic-related alteration and geochemistry of Iwodake volcano, Satsuma-Iwojima, Kyushu, SW Japan. *Earth, Planets and Space*, **54**, 217-229.
- Hanyu, T., Dunai T. J., Davies G. R., Kaneoka I., Nohda S. and Uto K. (2001) Noble gas study of the Reunion hotspot: evidence for distinct less-degassed mantle sources. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, 193, 83-98.
- Hanyu, T., Kaneoka I. and Nagao K. (1999) Noble gas study of HIMU and EM ocean island basalts in the Polynesian region. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta*, **63**, 1181-1201.
- Hernandez, P., Perez N., Salazar J., Sato M., Notsu K. and Wakita H. (2000) Soil gas CO₂, CH₄, and H₂ distribution in and around Las Canadas Caldera, Tenerife, Canary Islands, Spain. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **103**, 425-438.
- Hernandez, P. A., Natale G., Tsunomori F., Sugiyama K., Ito T., Notsu K., Okada H. and Perez N. (2001a) Preliminary results of diffuse emissions of CO₂ and soil gas pressure gradient measurements at Tarumae volcano, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **46**, 121-125.
- Hernandez, P. A., Notsu K., Salazar J. M., Mori T., Natale G., Okada H., Virgili G., Shimoike Y., Sato M. and Perez N. M. (2001b) Carbon dioxide degassing by advective flow from Usu volcano, Japan. *Science*, **292**, 83-86.
- Hernandez, P. A., Salazar J. M., Shimoike Y., Mori T., Notsu K. and Perez N. (2001c) Diffuse emission of CO₂ from Miyakejima volcano, Japan. Chem. Geol., 177, 175-185.
- Hongo, Y. and Nozaki Y. (2001) Rare earth element geochemistry of hydrothermal deposits and Calyptogena shell from the Iheya Ridge vent field, Okinawa Trough. *Geochem. Jour.*, **35**, 347-354.
- Igarashi, G., Fujii T., Mori T., Notsu K. and Watanabe S. (2000) Continuous monitoring of fumarolic gas flux at a bore hole in an active volcanic island. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **27**, 1539-1542.
- *Igari, S., Maekawa T. and Sakata S. (2000) Light hydrocarbons in fumarolic gases: a case study in the Kakkonda geothermal area. *Chikyukagaku*, **34**, 103-109.
- Iguchi, M., Saito, E. Nishi, Y. and Tameguri, T. (2002) Evaluation of recent activity at Satsuma-Iwojima -Felt earthquake on June 8, 1996-. *Earth, Planets and Space*, **54**, 187-197.
- *Ishibashi, J. and Gamo T. (1999) Geochemical flux of seafloor hydrothermal system. Kagaku Kogyo, 50, 352-357.

- Ishibashi, J., Sato M., Sano Y., Wakita H., Gamo T. and Shanks W. C. (2002) Helium and carbon gas geochemistry of pore fluids from the sediment-rich hydrothermal system in Escanaba Trough. Appl. Geochem., 17, 1457-1466.
- *Itoi, R., Kai T., Tanaka T. and Fukuda M. (2000) Changes with Time in HCl Gas Discharge Rate from the Fumarolic Area at Kuju Volcano. Jour: Geotherm. Res. Soc. Japan, 22, 159-169.
- *Iwakura, K., Ohsawa S., Takamatsu N., Oue K., Notsu K., Yusa Y. and Imahashi M. (2000) Origin of Carbon Dioxide Discharged from Nagayu Hot Spring, Oita Prefecture, Japan. *Jour. Balnerol. Soc. Japan*, **50**, 86-93.
- Jordan, A., Harnisch J., Borchers R., Le Guern F. N. and Shinohara H. (2000) Volcanogenic halocarbons. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 34, 1122-1124.
- *Kaneko, T., Munekane H., Wooster M., J. and Kagiyama T. (2002) Thermal Infrared Analysis of the Eruptive Activity of the Kompirayama and Nishiyama Craters: the 2000 Eruption of Usu, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 289-296.
- Kanda, W. and Mori, S. (2002) Self-potential anomalyn of Satsuma-Iwojima volcano. Earth, Planets and Space, 54, 231-237.
- *Kasasaku, K. I., Minar T., Mukai H. and Muran K. (1999) Stable sulfur isotope ratios of the gases from Mt. Sakurajima and Satsuma-Iwojima volcanoes - assessment of effect of volcanic sulfur on rainfall sulfate in Kagoshima prefecture. *Nippon Kagaku Kaishi*, 479-486.
- *Kato, H., Matsubaya O., Kamei J. and Kumagai N. (2001) Physicochemical Study in the Sumikawa Geothermal Reservoir Analyzed by a Lumped Parameter Model Considering Reinjection of Steam Condensate. *Jour. Geotherm. Res. Soc. Japan*, 23, 107-125.
- *Katsuno, T., Kawamura M., Satsumabayashi H., Nishizawa H. and Murano K. (2002) Elevated levels of particulate sulfate in Central Japan due to volcanic gas from Miyake Island. *Jour. Japan Soc. Atmos. Environ.*, 37, 75-80.
- Kawanabe, Y. and Saito, G. (2002) Volcanic activity of the Satsuma-Iwojima area during the past 6500 years. *Earth, Planets and Space*, **54**, 295-301.
- Kazahaya, K. (2001) Great sulfur dioxide emission from Miyakejima volcano Japan. Jour. Resources Environ., 37, 497-502.
- *Kazahaya, K., Hirabayashi J.-I., Mori H., Odai M., Nakahori Y., Nogami K., Nakada S., Shinohara H. and Uto K. (2001) Study of volcanic gas erupted from Miyakejima volcano in 2000 in Japan: degassing environment deduced from adhered gas component on ash and SO₂ emission rate. *Jour. Geogr.*, **110**, 271-279.
- Kazahaya, K., Shinohara H. and Saito G. (2002) Degassing process of Satsuma-Iwojima volcano, Japan: Supply of volatile components from a deep magma chamber. *Earth Planets Space*, 54, 327-335.
- *Kikawada, Y., Inoue A., Ossaka T., Oi T. and Ossaka J. (2000a) Rock alteration by Kusatsu-Yubatake hot spring water. *Jour. Balnerol.Soc. Japan*, **49**, 186-196.
- *Kikawada, Y., Koganei K., Oi T. and Ossaka J. (2000b) Volcanic activity of Kusatsu-Shirane volcano and secular change in water quality of Kagusa hot spring water. *Jour. Balnerol. Soc. Japan*, **50**, 34-42.
- Kikawada, Y., Oi T. and Honda T. (1999) Lanthanoid abundance in some neutral hot spring waters from Japan. *Jour. Balnerol. Soc. Japan*, **49**, 8-17.
- *Kikawada, Y., Oi T. and Ossaka J. (2002) Long-term change in water chemistry of major hot springs in the Manza area, Gunma, Japan. *Chikyukagaku*, **36**, 35-49.
- Kikawada, Y., Ossaka T., Oi T. and Honda T. (2001) Experimental studies on the mobility of lanthanides accompanying alteration of andesite by acidic hot spring water. *Chem. Geol.*, **176**, 137-149.
- **Kinoshita, K. (2001) Correct understanding of volcanic gases. Kagaku (Tokyo, Japan), 71, 1277-1279.
- *Kobayashi, K., Matsubaya O., Kawaraya H. and Muto N. (1999) Admixing of geothermal water into groundwater in the Toroko landslide area, Hachimantai, Akita. *Chikyukagaku*, 33, 45-53.
- **Kusakabe, M. (2001a) Cause of limnic eruption at Lake Nyos in Cameroon and its prevention by degassing. Chem. Education, 49, 619-622.
- Kusakabe, M. (2001b) A simple method for sampling total dissolved carbonate in carbonate-rich natural waters and CO₂ preparation for delta 13C determination. *Geochem. Jour.*, **35**, 459-464.
- *Kusakabe, M. (2002) Geochemistry of lake and gas disaster in 1986 in Lake Nyos, Cameroon. Chikyukagaku, 36, 137-147.
- Kusakabe, M., Komoda Y., Takano B. and Abiko T. (2000a) Sulfur isotopic effects in the disproportionation reaction of sulfur dioxide in hydrothermal fluids: implications for the delta ³⁴S variations of dissolved bisulfate and elemental sulfur from active crater lakes. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **97**, 287-307.
- Kusakabe, M., Tanyileke G. Z., Mccord S. A. and Schladow S. G. (2000b) Recent pH and CO₂ profiles at Lakes Nyos and Monoun, Cameroon - implications for the degassing strategy and its numerical simulation -. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **97**, 241-260.
- Marty, B., Sano Y. and France-Lanord C. (2001) Water-saturated oceanic lavas from the Manus Basin: volatile behaviour during assimilation-fractional crystallisation- degassing (AFCD). *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **108**, 1-10.
- Matsumoto, N., Sato T., Matsushima N., Akita F., Shibata T. and Suzuki A. (2002a) Hydrological anomalies associated with crustal deformation before the 2000 eruption of Usu volcano, Japan. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **29**, art. no.-1057.
- *Matsumoto, R., Karaushi M., Yonemochi S. and Murano K. (2002b) Observation of high SO2 concentrations and low-pH acid rain caused

by sulfur oxides from Miyake-jima Volcano. Jour. Japan Soc. Atmos. Environ., 37, 357-373.

- Matsumoto, T., Chen Y. and Matsuda J. I. (2001) Concomitant occurrence of primordial and recycled noble gases in the Earth's mantle. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **185**, 35-47.
- Matsumoto, T., Pinti D. L., Matsuda J.-I. and Umino S. (2002c) Recycled noble gas and nitrogen in the subcontinental lithospheric mantle: implications from N-He-Ar in fluid inclusions of SE Australian xenoliths. *Geochem. J.*, **36**, 209-217.
- *Matsuyama, K., Narita N. and Majima T. (1999) Geothermal exploration and development in the Hachijojima, Japan. *Shigen Chishitsu*, **49**, 1-14.
- Matsuyama, K., Narita N., Tomita K. and Majima T. (2000) Geothermal resources of Hachijojima. Geothermics, 29, 213-232.
- *Mizutani, Y., Sasaki Y., Hori M. and Koyama M. (2000) Chemical compositions and isotopic ratios of fumarolic gases and hot spring waters from Tateyama-jigokudani, Toyama, Japan. *Chikyukagaku*, 34, 77-89.
- Mori, T., Hernandez P. A., Salazar J. M. L., Perez N. M. and Notsu K. (2001) An in situ method for measuring CO₂ flux from volcanichydrothermal fumaroles. *Chem. Geol.*, **177**, 85-99.
- *Mori, T., Notsu K., Hernandez P. A., Salazar J. M. L., Perez N., Virgili G., Shimoike Y. and Okada H. (2002a) Continuous monitoring of soil CO₂ efflux from the summit region of Usu Volcano, Japan. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 339-345.
- Mori, T., Sato M., Shimoike Y. and Notsu K. (2002b) High SiF₄/HF ratio detected in Satsuma-Iwojima volcano's plume by remote FT-IR observation. *Earth Planets Space*, **54**, 249-256.
- *Murayama, Y. and Ogino T. (2002) Chemical composition of water-soluble components of volcanic ashes of the 2000 Usu eruption and dissolving constituents of rainwaters collected in ash sampling vessels. *Rept. Geol. Surv. Hokkaido*, 73, 85-92.
- *Muto, N. and Matsubaya O. (2002) Origin and geochemical variation of geothermal water in the Tamagawa Hot Spring area, Akita, Japan. *Chikyukagaku*, **36**, 81-88.
- Natale, G., Hernandez P., Mori T. and Notsu K. (2000) Pressure gradient measurements in volcanic diffuse gas emanations. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **27**, 3985-3987.
- Nishimura, R., Tsunogai U., Ishibashi J., Wakita H. and Nojiri Y. (1999) Origin of C-13-enriched methane in the crater lake Towada, Japan. *Geochem. Jour.*, **33**, 277-283.
- Nogami, K., Hirabayashi J., Nishimura Y. and Suzuki A. (2002a) Nature and origin of volcanic ash in the 2000 eruption of Usu volcano, southwestern Hokkaido, Japan. *Earth Planets Space*, **54**, 993-998.
- *Nogami, K., Hirabayashi J., Ohba T., Abiko T., Okada H., Nishimura Y., Maekawa T. and Suzuki A. (2002b) Geochemical monitoring of the 2000 eruption of Usu Volcano. Relationship between change of water-soluble components adhering to volcanic ashes and volcanic activity. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 325-332.
- Nogami, K., Hirabayashi J., Ohba T., Ossaka J., Yamamoto M., Akagi S., Ozawa T. and Yoshida M. (2001) Temporal variations in the constituents of volcanic ash and adherent water-soluble components in the Unzen Fugendake eruption during 1990-1991. *Earth Planets* Space, 53, 723-730.
- Nogami, K., Hirabayashi J., Ohba T. and Yoshiike Y. (2000) The 1997 phreatic eruption of Akita-Yakeyama volcano, northeast Japan: Insight into the hydrothermal processes. *Earth Planets Space*, 52, 229-236.
- Notsu, K., Nakai S., Igarashi G., Ishibashi J., Mori T., Suzuki M. and Wakita H. (2001) Spatial distribution and temporal variation of ³He/⁴He in hot spring gas released from Unzen volcanic area, Japan. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **111**, 89-98.
- Obata, H., Nozaki Y., Okamura K., Maruo M. and Nakayama E. (2000) Flow-through analysis of Al in seawater by fluorometric detection with the use of Lumogallion. *Field Anal. Chem. Technol.*, **4**, 274-282.
- **Ohba, T. (2000) Analytical chemistry in the research for the prediction of volcanic eruption. Bunseki, 465-469.
- Ohba, T., Hirabayashi J. and Nogami K. (2000a) D/H and ¹⁸O/¹⁶O ratios of water in the crater lake at Kusatsu-Shirane volcano, Japan. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **97**, 329-346.
- *Ohba, T., Hirabayashi J.-I. and Nogami K. (2000b) Volcanic hydrothermal system of Mt. Kusatsu-Shirane, Japan. *Jour. Balnerol.Soc. Japan*, **49**, 163-175.
- Ohsawa, S., Kawamura T., Takamatsu N. and Yusa Y. (2002a) Rayleigh scattering by aqueous colloidal silica as a cause for the blue color of hydrothermal water. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **113**, 49-60.
- *Ohsawa, S., Kazahaya K. and Yasuhara M. (2002b) Geochemistry of Fluids from Hot Springs, Mineral Springs, Wells and Fumarolic Area in the Shimabara Peninsula, Middle Western Kyushu, Japan. *Jour. Balnerol.Soc. Japan*, **52**, 51-68.
- Ohsawa, S., Kazahaya K., Yasuhara M., Kono T., Kitaoka K., Yusa Y. and Yamaguchi K. (2002c) Escape of volcanic gas into shallow groundwater systems at Unzen Volcano (Japan): evidence from chemical and stable carbon isotope compositions of dissolved inorganic carbon. *Limnology*, **3**, 169-173.
- Ohsawa, S. and Yusa Y. (2001) High delta ¹³C Fumarolic CO₂ Discharged from Ogasawara-Iwojima, an Active Volcanic Island in the Izu-Bonin Arc. *Jour. Geotherm. Res. Soc. Japan*, **23**, 197-205.
- Ohsawa, S., Yusa Y., Oue K. and Amita K. (2000a) Entrainment of atmospheric air into the volcanic system during the 1995 phreatic eruption

of Kuju Volcano, Japan. Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 96, 33-43.

- *Ohsawa, S., Yusa Y. and Oyama M. (2000b) Information of Geothermal Systems beneath Hakone Volcano, Japan, obtained by Chemical Compositions of discharged Gases. *Jour. Balnerol.Soc. Japan*, **49**, 151-161.
- Okada, H., Yasuda Y., Yagi M. and Kai K. (2000) Geology and fluid chemistry of the Fushime geothermal field, Kyushu, Japan. *Geothermics*, **29**, 279-311.
- Okamura, K., Gamo T., Obata H., Nakayama E., Karatani H. and Nozaki Y. (1998) Selective and sensitive determination of trace manganese in sea water by flow through technique using luminol hydrogen peroxide chemiluminescence detection. *Anal. Chim. Acta*, **377**, 125-131.
- Okamura, K., Kimoto H., Saeki K., Ishibashi J., Obata H., Maruo M., Gamo T., Nakayama E. and Nozaki Y. (2001) Development of a deep-sea in situ Mn analyzer and its application for hydrothermal plume observation. *Mar. Chem.*, 76, 17-26.
- *Ono, A., Koya M., Fujimitsu Y. and Ehara S. (1999) Remote observation of volcanic gases by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) at Aso Volcano. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 44, 123-130.
- Orihashi, Y., Nagao K., Al-Jailani A. and Hanan B. B. (2001) Primordial helium isotope signature from Plio-Quaternary alkaline basalts in Yemen. Isl. Arc., 10, 145-157.
- *Ossaka, J., Adachi N., Tsuchide M. and Nogami K. (2000) Chemical Compositions of Discolored Sea Water around Izu-Oshima at the 1986 Eruption. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 45, 271-280.
- **Ossaka, J. and Nogami K. (2001) Japan-Russia joint scientific study on Tyatya Volcano in Kunashiri Island in 1999 and reexamination of its eruption in 1973. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 46, 71-77.
- Oue, K., Ohsawa S. and Yusa Y. (2002) Change in color of the hot spring deposits at the Chinoike-Jigoku hot pool, Beppu geothermal field. *Geothermics*, **31**, 361-380.
- *Ozeki, H., Fukuda D. and Okumura T. (2001) Historical changes of geothermal reservoir models at Matsukawa, Japan. *Jour. Japan Geotherm. Energy Assoc.*, **38**, 339-368.
- Perez, N., Hernandez P., Castro L., Salazar J., Notsu K., Mori T. and Okada H. (2002) Distribution of Boron and Ammonia in Soil around Usu Volcano, Japan, Prior to the 2000 Eruption. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 47, 347-351.
- Saito, G., Shinohara H. and Kazahaya K. (2002a) Successive sampling of fumarolic gases at Satsuma-Iwojima and Kuju volcanoes, southwest Japan: Evaluation of short-term variations and precision of the gas sampling and analytical techniques. *Geochem. Jour.*, **36**, 1-20.
- Saito, G., Stimac J. A., Kawanabe Y. and Goff F. (2002b) Mafic-felsic magma interaction at Satsuma-Iwojima volcano, Japan: Evidence from mafic inclusions in rhyolites. *Earth Planets Space*, 54, 303-325.
- Salazar, J. M. L., Hernandez P. A., Perez N. M., Melian G., Alvarez J., Segura F. and Notsu K. (2001) Diffuse emission of carbon dioxide from Cerro Negro volcano, Nicaragua, Central America. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 28, 4275-4278.
- *Sano, Y. (2001) Environmental and igneous geochemistry of volatile element isotopes. Chikyukagaku, 35, 43-59.
- Sano, Y., Takahata N., Nishio Y., Fischer T. P. and Williams S. N. (2001) Volcanic flux of nitrogen from the Earth. Chem. Geol., 171, 263-271.
- **Sato, M., Mori T., Notsu K. and Wakita H. (1999a) Carbon and helium isotopic composition of fumarolic gases and hot spring gases from Kirishima volcanic area. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, 44, 279-283.
- Sato, M., Tsunogai U., Ishibashi J., Notsu K. and Wakita H. (1999b) Carbon isotope measurement of extremely low amounts of CH₄: Application to volcanic gases from Satsuma-Iwojima, Japan. *Anal. Sci.*, **15**, 513-516.
- Sato, M., Mori T., Shimoike Y., Nagao K. and Notsu K. (2002) Carbon isotope systematics of CO₂, CO and CH₄ in fumarolic gases from Satsuma-Iwojima volcanic island, Japan. *Earth Planets Space*, **54**, 257-263.
- Shibata, T. and Akita F. (2001) Precursory changes in well water level prior to the March, 2000 eruption of Usu volcano, Japan. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **28**, 1799-1802.
- Shimoike, Y., Kazahaya K. and Shinohara H. (2002) Soil gas emission of volcanic CO₂ at Satsuma-Iwojima volcano, Japan. *Earth Planets Space*, **54**, 239-247.
- Shimoike, Y. and Notsu K. (2000) Continuous chemical monitoring of volcanic gas in Izu-Oshima volcano, Japan. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **101**, 211-221.
- Shinohara, H., Kazahaya K., Saito G., Matsushima N. and Kawanabe Y. (2002) Degassing activity from Iwodake rhyolitic cone, Satsuma-Iwojima volcano, Japan: Formation of a new degassing vent, 1990-1999. *Earth Planets Space*, **54**, 175-185.
- Sohrin, Y., Kishida K., Okamura K. and Ishibashi J. (2002) Tungsten and molybdenum in hydrothermal fluids of the Izu-Bonin Arc and the Okinawa Trough. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta, 66, A726-A726.
- Sriwana, T., Van Bergen M. J., Varekamp J. C., Sumarti S., Takano B., Van Os B. J. H. and Leng M. J. (2000) Geochemistry of the acid Kawah Putih lake, Patuha Volcano, West Java, Indonesia. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, 97, 77-104.
- *Sugita, H. and Yamamoto M. (1999) Effects of pH and Met al Cations on Polymerization of Silicic Acid in Low Temperature Solutions. Jour. Geotherm. Res. Soc. Japan, 21, 359-368.
- Sumino, H., Nakai S., Nagao K. and Notsu K. (2000) High ³He/⁴He ratio in xenoliths from Takashima: evidence for plume type volcanism in southwestern Japan. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 27, 1211-1214.

- Sumino, H., Nagao K. and Notsu K. (2001) Highly Sensitive and Precise Measurement of Helium Isotopes Using a Mass Spectrometer with Double Collector System. *Jour. Mass Spec. Soc. Japan.*, 49, 61-68.
- *Suzuki, T., Takahashi T., Fujimoto K. and Kawamori H. (2000) Deep thermal water of Kawayu spa area in Teshikaga town -Geothermal drilling investigation in 1998-. *Rept. Geol. Surv. Hokkaido*, 71, 35-40.
- *Takahashi, M., Abe K., Noda T., Kazahaya K., Ando N. and Soya T. (2000) Koshimizu thermal spring formed in the 1986 eruption of Izu Oshima Volcano. *Jour. Balnerol.Soc. Japan*, 49, 176-185.
- *Takano, B. (2001) Geosciences of Active Crater Lakes. Jour. Balnerol. Soc. Japan, 50, 161-182.
- Takano, B., Fazlullin S. M. and Delmelle P. (2000a) Analytical laboratory comparison of major and minor constituents in an active crater lake. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, 97, 497-508.
- Takano, B., Zheng Q. and Ohsawa S. (2000b) A telemetering system for monitoring aqueous polythionates in an active crater lake. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **97**, 397-406.
- Takeno, N. (2000) Thermal and geochemical structure of the Uenotai geothermal system, Japan. Geothermics, 29, 257-277.
- Tedesco, D., Nagao K. and Scarsi P. (1998) Noble gas isotopic ratios from historical lavas and fumaroles at Mount Vesuvius (southern Italy): constraints for current and future volcanic activity. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, **164**, 61-78.
- Tsunogai, U., Yoshida N., Ishibashi J. and Gamo T. (2000) Carbon isotopic distribution of methane in deep-sea hydrothermal plume, Myojin Knoll Caldera, Izu-Bonin arc: Implications for microbial methane oxidation in the oceans and applications to heat flux estimation. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta*, 64, 2439-2452.
- Uchida, N. and Sakai, T. (2002) Analysis of peculiar volcanic earthquakes at Satsuma-Iwojima volcano. *Earth, Planets and Space*, 54, 197-209.
- *Ueda, A., Ajima S. and Yamamoto M. (2001) Isotopic Study of Carbonate Minerals from the Sumikawa Geothermal Area and its Application to Water Movement. *Jour. Geotherm. Res. Soc. Japan*, 23, 181-196.
- *Umeda, K., Komatsu R. and Ehara S. (1999) Velocity of Hydrothermal Fluid and Heat Flow in Geothermal Fields Based on Borehole Temperature Data. *Jour. Japan Geotherm. Energy Assoc.*, **36**, 219-237.
- *Urai, M., Fukui, K., Yamaguchi, Y. and Pieri, D.C. (1999) Volcano observation potential and global volcano monitoring plan with ASTER. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **44**, 131-142.
- *Urai, M., Kawanabe Y., Itoh J. I., Takada A. and Kato M. (2001) Ash fall areas associated with the Usu 2000 eruption observed by ASTER. *Bull. Geol. Surv. Japan*, **52**, 189-197.
- Urai, M. (2002) Heat discharge estimation using satellite remote sensing data on the Iwodake volcano in Satsuma-Iwojima, Japan. *Earth, Planets and Space*, **54**, 211-216.
- *Uto, K., Kazahaya K., Saito G., Itoh J., Takada A., Kawanabe Y., Hoshizumi H., Yamamoto T., Miyagi I., Tomiya A., Satoh H., Hamazaki S. and Shinohara H. (2001) Magma ascending model for the Miyakejima volcano eruption in 2000: evidence from pyroclasts and SO₂-rich volcanic gas erupted on August 18, 2000. *Jour. Geogr.*, **110**, 257-270.
- Xu, S., Nagao K., Uto K., Wakita H., Nakai S. and Liu C. Q. (1998) He, Sr and Nd isotopes of mantle-derived xenoliths in volcanic rocks of NE China. Jour. Asian Earth Sci., 16, 547-556.
- **Yahata, M., Ogino T. and Kamegai Y. I. (2001) Arsenic leached from ash fall and mudflow deposits of the 2000 Usu eruption, northern Japan. *Rept. Geol. Surv. Hokkaido* 72, 155-163.
- *Yamakawa, K. and Yamagami M. (2001) Study on the high atmospheric concentration in sulfur dioxide observed at Tokai, Kinki and Hokuriku districts due to the volcanic eruption of Miyake Island. *Zenkoku Kankyoken Kaishi*, **26**, 243-248.
- Yamamoto, J., Watanabe M., Nozaki Y. and Sano Y. (2001) Helium and carbon isotopes in fluorites: implications for mantle carbon contribution in an ancient subduction zone. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, 107, 19-26.
- Yamanaka, T., Ishibashi J. and Hashimoto J. (2000) Organic geochemistry of hydrothermal petroleum generated in the submarine Wakamiko caldera, southern Kyushu, Japan. *Org. Geochem.*, **31**, 1117-1132.
- Yang, T. F., Sano Y. and Song S. R. (1999) He-3/He-4 ratios of fumaroles and bubbling gases of hot springs in Tatun Volcano Group, North Taiwan. Nuovo Cimento Soc. Ital. Fis. C-Geophys. Space Phys., 22, 281-286.
- *Yasuda, A., Nakada S. and Fujii T. (2001) Sulfur abundance and redox state of melt inclusions from Miyake-jima 2000 eruption. *Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan*, **46**, 165-173.
- *Yasuda, A., Nakada S. and Fujii T. (2002) Composition of melt inclusions from 2000 Miyakejima eruption and implications for vigorous SO₂ emission. *Bull. Earthq. Res. Inst.*, 77, 43-54.
- **Yokota, H. (2001) Effect on wide range SO₂ air pollution by Miyakejima 2000 Eruption. Jour. Resources Environ., 37, 503-506.
- Yokoyama, T., Nakai S. I. and Wakita H. (1999) Helium and carbon isotopic compositions of hot spring gases in the Tibetan Plateau. *Jour. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.*, **88**, 99-107.
- Yoshida, Y. (2000) Sampling and chemical analysis in geothermal development and utilization. *Jour. Japan Geotherm. Energy Assoc.*, **37**, 108-122.

Yusa, Y., Ohsawa S. and Kitaoka K. (2000) Long-term changes associated with exploitation of the Beppu hydrothermal system, Japan. *Geothermics*, **29**, 609-625.

VI. National Project for Prediction of Volcanic Eruptions

1. Outlines of National Project for Prediction of Volcanic Eruptions

(Brief History)

National Project for Prediction of Volcanic Eruptions was initiated in 1974, according to the recommendation of the Geodetic Council of Ministry of Education, Science and Culture. The aims of the project are to improve volcano monitoring, to promote research on volcanic activity and mechanism of volcanic eruptions and to obtain the ability of forecasting volcanic eruptions. Since then, the project has repeated 6 times as 5-years plan. The project has been carried out by 9 national universities (Appendix 1), Japan Meteorological Agency (JMA), Geographical Survey Institute (GSI), Japan Coast Guard (JCG), National Research Institute for Earth Science and Disaster Prevention (NIED), Geological Survey of Japan (GSJ) and Communication Research Laboratory (CRL).

The Coordinating Committee for Prediction of Volcanic Eruptions (CCPVE) was organized in 1974 in order to exchange information and knowledge, to adjust research programs among institutions and to evaluate volcanic activity and contribute mitigation of volcanic disaster. Since 1974, many volcanic crises have been experienced at Tokachidake, Usu, Iwate, Izu-Oshima, Miyakejima, Unzen, Aso, Sakurajima and so on. For each volcanic crisis, CCPVE has evaluated volcanic activity and issued official statements on activity before eruptions and activity in progress.

The outlines of NPPVE until the fifth 5-years plan were summarized by Watanabe (1999). Now the sixth 5-years plan (1999–2003) is going.

(The Sixth 5-years Plan)

The sixth 5-years plan was proposed in 1998 after reviewing on the achievement of project since 1974. The proposal of the plan is consist of three parts: (1) Reinforcement of volcano monitoring and observational research at volcanoes, (2) Promotion of basic research for higher-grade prediction of volcanic eruptions and (3) Strengthening of the scheme for the prediction of volcanic eruptions.

The Geodetic Council was reconstructed into the Subdivision on Geodesy and Geophysics, Council for Science and Technology in 2000. The sixth 5-years plan was reviewed by the subdivision in 2002 and evaluated by experts in the fields of volcanology, seismology, social science, and civil engineering. The main volcanic crises in Japan during the past 5 years were (1) Volcano-seismic crisis at Iwate volcano (1998-2000), (2) Eruption at Usu volcano (2000) and (3) Eruption and active gas emission at Miyakejima volcano (2000-). The main achievements of the current 5-years plan are as follows:

(1) Reinforcement of volcano monitoring and observational research at volcanoes

Universities have carried out every year at two target volcanoes the Joint Experiment on Subsurface Structure of Volcanoes and Comprehensive Joint Volcano Observations, respectively, (Appendix 2) and universities and institutions have done the tentative and collaborative observations at volcanoes which indicated volcano crisis, those are, Iwate, Usu and Miyakejima volcanoes.

At Usu and Miyakejima volcanoes, precursory phenomena before eruptions were clearly detected by several kinds of observations, borehole seismometers and tiltmeters, GPS and so on. CCPVE and JMA succeeded in prediction of eruptions at the two volcanoes, and a quick evacuation of inhabitants were executed with no loss of life by local governments. However, it was difficult to predict how volcanoes behave after the onset of eruptions, when the volcano changed the style of activity like the Miyakejima which caused subsequently the collapse of the summit caldera and has continues active gas emission.

It was revealed at Iwate volcano that high-accuracy instruments, bore-hole seismometers, tiltmeters and strainmeters could detect clearly minor movements of intruded magma even at dormant volcanoes when they are waking up.

(2) Promotion of basic research for higher-grade prediction of volcanic eruptions

The Joint Experiment on Subsurface Structure of Volcanoes including seismic sounding has provided information on detail structure of volcanoes shallower than 3 km, and the determination of location of volcanic earthquakes was highly improved at Iwate, Bandai, Unzen and Kirishima volcanoes. It, however, is a future problem to detect the magma chamber and study the interior structure by seismic sounding.

At some volcanoes, ground deformation and geo-electromagnetic changes associated with volcanic earthquakes and tremors were observed and the mechanism of volcano-seismic events was discussed in relation to volcanic fluid.

At Fuji volcano, seismic activity of deep low-frequency earthquakes increased in fall of 2000, and the Subdivision on Geodesy and Geophysics, Council for Science and Technology reported a proposal on the reinforcement of monitoring and research at Mt. Fuji (2001). According to the proposal, a collaborative study among different institutions, including social science, was initiated in 2001 as 3-years plan. The aims are how to evaluate eruption potential at dormant volcances and how to inform of volcanic activity to publics. The research plan includes (1) the reinforcement of volcano monitoring, (2) research on volcanic structure and history of volcanic activity by geophysical methods, drilling of volcanic edifice and geological survey, and (3) analysis and design of volcanic information from viewpoint of social science .

(3) Strengthening of the scheme for the prediction of volcanic eruptions.

JMA established four regional centers for volcano monitoring and volcanic information in 2002 by reconstructing volcano sections at meteorological observatories and weather stations in order to improve the ability on monitoring and evaluation of volcanic activity. In case of volcano crises at Usu and Iwate volcanoes, communication among scientists, local governments and inhabitants has been frequently and effectively done through social education and making volcanic hazard maps before crises, and evacuation was quickly and smoothly executed at Usu volcano.

In summer of 2003, the recommendation of seventh 5-years (2004-2008) will be proposed from the Subdivision on Geodesy and Geophysics, Council for Science and Technology.

Appendix 1. Institutes and Observatories of National Universities Participating in the National Project for Prediction of Volcanic Eruptions

1) Research Center of Seismology and Volcanology, Hokkaido University (Usu Volcano Observatory)

2) Earthquake and Volcano Observatory, Hirosaki University

3) Research Center for Prediction of Earthquakes and Volcanic Eruptions, Tohoku University

4-1) Volcano Research Center, Earthquake Research Institute, University of Tokyo

4-2) Laboratory for Earthquake Chemistry, University of Tokyo

5) Volcanic Fluid Research Center, Tokyo Institute of Technology (Kusatsu-Shirane Volcano Observatory)

6) Research Center for Seismology and Volcanology, Nagoya University

7-1) Aso Volcanological Laboratory, Institute for Geothermal Science, Kyoto University

7-2) Sakurajima Volcano Research Center, Disaster Prevention Research Institute, Kyoto University

8) Institute of Seismology and Volcanology, Kyushu University (Shimabara Earthquake and Volcano Observatory)

9) Nansei-toko Observatory for Earthquakes and Volcanoes, Kagoshima University

Appendix 2. Target Volcanoes for the Joint Experiment on Subsurface Structure of Volcanoes and the Comprehensive Joint Volcano Observations in the Sixth 5-years Plan

	e e		
Fiscal year	Joint Experiment		Comprehensive Joint Observation
1999	Izu-Oshima	Iwate	
2000	Iwate		Satsuma-Iwojima & Kuchinoerabujima
2001	Usu		Unzen
2002	Hokkaido-Komagatake	Fuji	
2003	Fuji		Kusatu-Shirane

(Kazuhiro Ishihara)

References

Watanabe, H. (1999) Outlines of National Project for Prediction of Volcanic Eruptions, Reports on Volcanic Activities and Volcanological studies in Japan for the period from 1995 to 1998, 60-64.

**Subdivision on Geodesy and Geophysics, Council for Science and Technology (2001) Report on reinforcement of monitoring and research at Mt. Fuji, 19p.

**Subdivision on Geodesy and Geophysics, Council for Science and Technology (2002) Reviews on the Sixth 5-years plan for Prediction of Volcanic Eruptions, 79p.

(* in Japanese with English abstract ** in Japanese)

2. Joint Volcanological Experiment on Volcanic Structure and Magma Supply System

Since 1994, joint experiments have been conducted in several volcanoes in Japan to reveal the structure and the magma supply system by the scientist group of national universities under the National Research Project for Prediction of Volcanic Eruptions (Fig.26). The experiments were conducted in Izu-Oshima Volcano in 1999, Iwate Volcano in 2000, Usu Volcano in 2001 and Hokkaido-Komagatake Volcano in 2002. The experiments were carried out by seismological, electromagnetic and other geophysical methods. These experiments succeeded in detecting some anomalous regions related to magma activity. The results of the previous experiments are briefly presented as follows.



Fig. 26. Joint volcanological experiment on volcanic structure and magma supply system in Japan.

Experiments in Izu-Oshima Volcano in 1999

The 6th experiment was conducted in Izu-Oshima Volcano during 27 October - 5 November 1999. The purpose of the experiment is to clarify the subsurface structure of the volcano including the location of magma reservoir, and to understand the magma feeding system and its temporal change. Observations were made along a 30-km major line lying in the NNW-SSW direction and other sub-lines which across the major line at the center of Izu-Oshima. Survey lines and 2-dimensional arrays cover about 160 and 60 seimometers, respectively. Along these lines, 6 shots with a charge size of 200-250 kg were fired in the island, and 6 dinamite shots and air-gun shots and OBS observation were also included in the sea-area. All shots were successfully fired and significant data were obtained by most of the loggers.



Fig. 27. Map of Izu-Oshima and the surrounding sea bottom. Star: dynamite explosion Dots in the sea=OBS sites

Experiment in Iwate Volcano in 2000

The 7th seismic survey of the volcanic structure was conducted around the Iwate volcano, northeastern Japan, in October 2000. The outline of the experiment and the arrival times of first motions were reported by Tanaka *et al.* (2002a). Here we show a brief summary of the survey and its scientific result. Seventy scientists participated in the active seismic survey from 11 national universities of Japan (Tohoku, Hokkaido, Hirosaki, Akita, Iwate, Tokyo, Tokyo Institute of Technology, Nagoya, Kyoto, Kyushu, and Kagoshima), the National Institute of Polar Research (NIPR) and the Japan Meteorological Agency (JMA). Fig. 28 shows a geographical configuration of the survey. Nine chemical explosions using dynamite charges of 200-250 kg excited seismic waves. The seismic signals were recorded at 330 temporary seismic stations deployed around the volcano within 20 km from the summit (study area 40 x 40 km2). Each station consisted of a vertical short-period seismometer with a natural frequency of 2 Hz and a small data logger. More than 3000 seismograms were acquired with sampling interval of 4 ms, and they showed good signal-to-noise ratios. Additional seismograms with sampling interval of 10 ms from 33 permanent stations established to monitor volcano-seismic activity by Tohoku University, JMA and the National Research Institute for Earth Science and Disaster Prevention (NIED) are also collected.



Fig. 28. Geographical configuration of the seismic survey at Iwate volcano in 2000. Starts are 9 shots. Dots are 330 temporary seismic stations deployed during the survey and 33 permanent stations by Tohoku University, NIED, and JMA.

The three-dimensional P-wave velocity structure of the volcano is determined to depths of 2 km through seismic tomography using the approximately 2700 travel-time data (Tanaka *et al.*, 2002b). Fig. 29 shows the vertical cross-section of tomographic image of the volcano passing through the summit in the east-west direction. The most prominent discovery is an existing of column-like high-velocity body ($V_P > 5.4 \text{ km/s}$) that extends vertically for 2 km beneath the caldera. While the western part of the volcano extending from the caldera is characterized by a moderate-velocity region ($4.8 < V_P < 5.4 \text{ km/s}$), the summit and eastern flank of the volcano are covered with very low-velocity material ($V_P < 4 \text{ km/s}$) that represent relatively younger volcanic edifices. The spatial difference in the velocity structures between the western and eastern parts of the volcano is explained by the evolutionary history of the volcano. And we find that the western structure may give constraints on the volcanic unrest in 1998.





Experiment in Usu Volcano in 2001

Mt. Usu erupted four times during 100 years, in 1910, 1943-1945, 1977-1982, and 2000. Noticeable characteristics common to these four eruptions are formation of a new mountain (lava dome or cryptdome) with remarkable ground deformation and violent earthquake swarm due to dacitic magma. These four eruptive activities, however, have different features. The 1977-1982 eruption occurred at the summit crater, whereas the 1910, 1943 and 2000 eruption took place at the northern foot, the eastern foot and the western foot of the volcano respectively. The duration of precursory earthquakes and eruptive activities are also different among them.

The 2000 eruption was accompanied by remarkable lateral migration of precursory earthquakes with drastically increases in number and intensity. A seismic tomography using precursory earthquakes and the following earthquakes suggests that these earthquakes mainly occurred within the layer with $V_P = 6$ km/s (Onizawa, *et al.*, 2002a). This implies that magma intrusion and the resultant seismic activity are affected by the subsurface structure.

In order to investigate subsurface structure in more detail and discuss the magma intrusion processes, a seismic exploration using active sources was conducted on November 5, 2001. We deployed 290 seismic stations with vertical-component seismometer (a natural frequency

of 2 Hz) and a compact data-logger with precise GPS clock in the volcano and its surrounding region. Dynamite charges of 200-250 kg were fired at 7 shot points around the volcano. The seismic signals were acquired with sampling interval of 4 ms (Onizawa *et al.*, 2003).

A 3D tomographic inversion reveals the south dipping well-layered P wave velocity structure (Fig. 30). The structure is consistent with resistivity structure obtained by a magnetotelluric soundings (Matsushima *et al.*, 2001) and geological structure. The high velocity region ($V_P > 6 \text{ km/s}$) is correlated with the Pre-Neogene system with high resistivity (1000-10000 ohm-m). The moderate velocity region ($3 \text{ km/s} < V_P < 6 \text{ km/s}$) corresponds to the Neogene-Tertiary system with low resistivity (< 500 ohom-m). The obtained velocity structure also reveals the focal cluster extending from the source of long period tremors suggesting vibration of a magma chamber at about 5.5 km to the pressure source causing inflation of the volcano edifice at about 3.5 km deep. This focal cluster implies the path of magma intrusion within the Pre-Neogene system beneath Usu volcano, although there remain unsolved problems such as the magma ascent from the pressure source and the lateral migration of the hypocenters.



Fig. 30. N-S and E-W cross section of P wave velocity obtained by the 3D tomographic inversion and hypocenters of precursory earthquakes re-located with this velocity model (Onizawa *et al.*, 2002b). The open circle and square denote the source of long period tremors (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2002) and the pressure source of the vertical deformations (Mori *et al.*, 2000) respectively. Shaded ellipses represent the west of Nishiyama (N) and Kompirayama (K) craterlets group. MS, SS, US show Meiji-shinzan cryptodome formed in 1910, Showa-shinzan lava dome in 1943-1945 and 77 new mountain in 1977-1982.

Experiment in Hokkaido-Komagatake Volcano in 2002

Mt. Komagatake (1133 m), one of the most active volcanoes in Japan, is located in southwest Hokkaido. It is a truncated stratvolcano crowned with a horseshoe-shaped crater at the summit. The edifice consists andesite lavas and pyroclastic rocks and is covered by pyroclastic falls, flows, surges and debris avalanche deposits.

From March 1996, after 54 years of dormancy since the 1943 phreatomagmatic eruption, Mt. Komagatake have repeated a small phreatic explosion on the summit, which is regarded as intermediate-term precursor of the coming major eruption because several minor eruption took place during 1919-1924 prior to the 1929 Plinian eruption.

In order to make monitoring of volcanic activities more accurate and to understand magma-plumbing system, a seismic exploration using active sources was conducted on 30 September 2002. A three-component seismometer (a natural frequency of 2 Hz) was installed at 129 stations to observe S phase or later phases, and 92 stations was equipped with a vertical-component (a natural frequency of 2 Hz) (Fig. 31).





Seismic wave excited by the 300 kg charge explosion at five shot point, were recorded on compact data-logger with precise GPS clock at each station

The Preliminary time term analysis for first P arrival-times reveals that a ridge of the basement extends from the southeastern mountain region to the summit of Komagatake volcano. The NW-SW trending high velocity zone corresponding to the ridge is also imaged by a 3D tomographic inversion, and the low velocity region invading from Achier bay lies in the west of it (Fig. 32). Such P wave velocity distribution reflects the geological structure in Mt. Komagatake and the surrounding district. Thick Neogene-Tertiary system occurs in the low velocity region, and the high velocity zone corresponds with the uplift zone of Pre-Neogene system presumed from gravity anomaly and geology of thermal water wells.



Fig. 32. Distribution of P wave velocity at the depth of 1.5 km b.s.l. obtained by the 3D tomographic inversion. The grid interval is 1 km in the vertical direction, and is 3 km in the horizontal direction.

(Tsuneomi Kagiyama, Satoru Tnaka and Hiromitsu Oshima)
References

- *Tanaka, S. *et al.* (2002a) Seismic exploration at Iwate volcano with active sources —The outline of the experiment and the first arrival time data —, *Bull. Earthq. Res. Inst. Univ. Tokyo*, **77**, 1-25.
- Tanaka, S., H. Hamaguchi, T. Nishimura, T. Yamawaki, S. Ueki, H. Nakamichi, T. Tsutsui, H. Miyamachi, N. Matsuwo, J. Oikawa, T. Ohminato, K. Miyaoka, S. Onizawa, T. Mori, and K. Aizawa (2002b) Three-dimensional P-wave velocity structure of Iwate volcano, Japan from active seismic survey, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **29** (10), 10.1029/2002GL014983.
- Matushima N. et al. (2001) Magma prospecting in Usu volcano, Hokkaido, Japan, using magnetitelluric soundigs. J. Volcanol. Geoterm. Res., 109, 263-277.
- **Onizawa S. *et al.* (2002a) The 2001 artificial seismic experiment in Usu volcano -Three-dimensional P wave velocity structure -. Gekkan-Chikyu special ed., 39, 14-21.
- *Onizawa S. *et al.* (2002b) Three-dimensional seismic velocity structure around Usu volcano, Japan. Bull. Volcanol. Soc. Japan, 47,495-506.
- *Onizawa S. *et al.* (2003) Siesmic exploration at Usu volcano with active sources- The outline of the experiment and the first arrival time data -. Bull. Earthq. Res. Inst, in submitted.
- Yamamoto M. *et al.* (2002) Long-period (12 sec) volcanic tremor observed at Usu 2000 eruption: Seismological detection of a deep magma plumbing system. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **29**, 43-1 43-4.

*Mori H. et al. (2000) Crust deformation and Eruptive activities of Mt. Usu in 2000. J.JSNDS, 19-3, 383-390.

(* in Japanese with English abstract ** in Japanese)

3. Comprehensive Joint Volcano Observations

The comprehensive joint geophysical- and geochemical-observations have been carried out at active volcanoes in Japan, in order to reveal the volcanic activities and evaluate the eruption potential. In the sixth 5-years plan of the national project for prediction of volcanic eruptions, the joint observations were conducted at Iwate Volcano in 1999, Satsuma-Iwojima and Kuchierabujima Volcano in 2000, Unzen Volcano in 2001, Fuji Volcano in 2002, and the observation at Kusatsu-Shirane Volcano is planned in 2003. The participants were from national universities (e.g. Hokkaido University, Hirosaki University, Akita University, Iwate University, Tohoku University, University of Tokyo, Tokyo Institute of Technology, Shizuoka University, Nagoya University, Kyoto University, Tottori University, Kyushu University, Kagoshima University) and other institutes (e.g. National Research Institute for Earth Science and Disaster Prevention, Geographical Survey Institute, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology, Japan Meteorological Agency, Geothermal Research Institute of Kanagawa Prefecture).

Observation at Iwate Volcano in 1999

The comprehensive joint volcano observation of 1999 was carried out at Iwate volcano, northeastern Japan, where significant activation in seismicity and ground deformation had been observed in 1998. The seismic activity and ground deformation observed in 1998 were interpreted to be caused by magma intrusion in a shallow part beneath the volcano. To evaluate the state of the volcano in 1999, observations were executed on seismic activity, ground deformation, gravity change, volcano-magnetic effect, self potential, geothermal activity and geochemistry of gases. Seismic experiments using controlled sources were also repeated to reveal temporal change in internal structure of the volcano. The results of the observations revealed that the geothermal activity was activated about one year later compared to the seismic activity and ground deformation. The seismic activity and ground deformation similar to those in 1998 but with smaller magnitude were observed at least till the middle of 1999. The repot on the observations is now in editing.

Observation at Satsuma-Iwojima Volcano in 2000

Continuous emission of gas has continued at the summit crater of Iwodake and its eruptive activity increased in 1996. Associated with the event in 1996, a volcanic earthquake (M2.9) occurred. Temporary seismic observation was conducted by installing 21 seismic stations at the summit and on the flank of Iwodake. A-type earthquakes are distributed around Iwodake and B-type events are concentrated beneath the summit crater. Focal mechanism of the A-type earthquakes is normal fault type and B-type earthquakes have an expansion source. Remarkable deflation around the summit crater was observed after 1996 due to emission of gas, and deflation of Kikai Caldera was also detected by GPS campaigns. Around the summit, positive SP anomaly caused by continuous gas emission is observed. Heat discharge rate was estimated and the rate decreased after the event in 1996. Emission rate of SO₂ is almost 500ton/day and temperature of fumarole attained more than 800 °C. SO₂ flux, maximum and equilibrium temperatures of volcanic gas from the summit crater also increased before the event and decreased after that.

Observation at Kuchierabujima Volcano in 2000

The volcano has repeated phreatic or phreato-magmatic eruption in and around the summit crater of Shindake. Last eruption occurred in 1980 and recently seismicity sometimes in creased in 1996 and 1999. Temporary seismic observation was conducted by using 4 short-period, 2 broadband seismometers and 2 accelerometers. HF events with normal fault-type are concentrated western part of the summit at very shallow depths of 100-500 m. Associated with increase in seismicity, inflation around the summit crater was detected by GPS. The source is located east of Shindake at a depth of 1 km. Change of geomagnetic total force was observed and it suggests demagnetization beneath the summit crater due to increase in temperature. Airborne survey of geomagnetic total force was conducted. Intensity of magnetization is weak at shallow depth of eastern part of the summit. This anomaly corresponds to the inflation source of the ground deformation. We also conducted VLF and ELF-MT surveys, airborne geothermal survey, temperature measurements and geochemical analysis volcanic gas from fumarole and hot spring, chemical analysis of underground water, paleomagnetic study on lava flows from Shindake and Furudake, and radio carbon age measurement of tephra.

The results of the joint observations in 2000 are summarized in "Reports of Geophysical and Geochemical Joint Observations at Satsuma-Iwojima and Kuchierabujima (2002), Sakurajima Volcano Research Center, Disaster Prevention Research Institute of Kyoto University, 184p." and the reports can be downloaded from the following site; http://www.dpri.kyoto-u.ac.jp/~kazan/iwo-kuc.html

Observation at Unzen Volcano in 2001

The 2001 joint observation was the first comprehensive observation at Unzen Volcano after the 1990-1995 eruption. In the observation, we investigated seismic activity, ground deformation, gravity change, geomagnetic total force, resistivity structure, and temperature and geochemistry of volcanic gases. The low seismicity, deflation and recovery of magnetization intensity at shallow depth of the summit indicate that no magma newly intrudes at the shallow conduit and/or volcanic edifice after the last eruption. However we detected re-inflation of the pressure sources which had been deflating associated with lava effusion during the eruption. This suggests that the supply of magma to the

deep reservoirs has started again.

During the 2001 observation at Unzen Volcano, a seismic reflection experiment was conducted using vibratory energy sources in order to detect the volcanic conduit as a program of the Unzen Scientific Drilling Project. The survey line is crossing over the Unzen graben and the magma ascent path inferred from geophysical observations. The experiment revealed the depression structure of the Unzen graben, and detected the strong reflection corresponding to one of the pressure sources inferred from the geodetic measurement. Moreover the narrow area, in which the strength of reflection is extremely weak, extends almost vertically from the sea level down to the pressure source. Volcanic earthquakes occur along the narrow area. Thus the area is interpreted as the volcanic conduit or dike intrusion in the volcanic edifice.

Observation at Fuji Volcano in 2002

In the joint observation at Fuji volcano in 2002, a dense seismic observation was started by installing 30 seismometers around the volcano in addition to the permanent stations operated by several institutions, in order to clarify the mechanism of low-frequency earthquakes originating deep beneath the volcano and to make 3D seismic imaging of the subsurface structure. Scientists of national universities also conducted an advanced hybrid gravity survey around the volcano by integrating absolute and relative gravity measurements, self-potential and MT surveys across the volcano, and CO_2 flux measurements at the summit.

(Hiroshi Shimizu, Sadato Ueki, Masato Iguchi and Hidefumi Watanabe)

VII. International Activities

1. Collaboration Study on Volcanic Activity between Indonesia and Japan

Geophysics

In 1993, the Disaster Prevention Research Institute (DPRI), Kyoto University and the Directorate General Geology and Mineral Resources, Ministry of Mines and Energy, Indonesia reached an arrangement for the joint research program in the field of volcanic activity to migrate volcanic hazards in Indonesia and in relation to IDNDR. Kyoto University has made survey and observations at Indonesian volcanoes in cooperation with Volcanological Survey of Indonesia (reorganized to Directorate of Volcanology and Geological Hazard Mitigation in 2002). In 1998, the arrangement of cooperation was extended until 2003 and the arrangement will be extended 5 years more until 2008.

1) Guntur Volcano

Guntur volcano repeated eruptions with lava flows, ejection of volcanic bomb and pyroclastic flows until the middle of 19^{th} century. After the last eruption in 1843, no eruption has occurred, however, several tens volcanic earthquakes had been observed per month. Kyoto University and DVGHM have continued seismic observation. In May 1997, seismic activity at Guntur Volcano suddenly increased and the seismicity was concentrated beneath the summit, especially at depths of 2-4 km, and the hypocenters were aligned from NW to SE, that is, direction of alignment of craters and domes in the summit area (Suantika and Iguchi, 2000). When the volcanic earthquakes successively occurred, reverse fault type earthquakes were dominant. Upward tilt toward the summit crater was observed by a tiltmeter installed 2 km south of the summit crater associated with the seismicity increase from May 1997. The tilt change suggests inflation of the ground around the summit crater. The inflation around the summit crater was detected by precise leveling along bench marks on the southeastern and south flanks of the volcano (Hendrasto *et al.*, 2000). Referred to benchmark at southeastern flank, the benchmark closed to the summit was elevated 5 mm during the period from August 1996 to November 1997. The vertical deformation was inverted to deflation in 1998 when seismicity declined. On May 6, 1999, two felt earthquakes (M = 2.7 and 2.8) occurred at Guntur volcano and 60 after-shocks were observed. The hypocenters were concentrated beneath Gandapura caldera NW of the summit crater area at depths of 4 km. Focal mechanism of the earthquakes is reverse fault type. Associated with increase in the seismicity, inflation around the summit area was detected by precise leveling again. The benchmark closed to the summit was elevated by 5mm during the period from August 1998 to May 1999. Similar relations between increase in seismicity and uplift of the ground around the summit crater were also found in August 2000 (Hendrasto *et al.*, 2000) and D

2) Merapi Volcano

Merapi volcano has repeated growth of lava domes and their collapse generating pyroclastic flow. During the period from 1990-1991, volcano tectonic earthquakes originated beneath the summit. After the seismicity, lava dome growth and collapse were repeated in time interval of a year. Inflations associated with the dome growth were observed by tiltmeters around the summit prior to generation of pyroclastic flows (Voight *et al.*, 2000). Pyroclastic flows in July 1998 entered in rivers the southwestern flank. Koike *et al* (2002) estimated the area and the volume of the pyroclastic deposites to be 10 km² and 9 x 10^6 m³, respectively, by using SAR data. Merapi volcano became dormant for two years after the pyroclastic flow. In August 2000, the seismicity of volcano tectonic earthquakes resumed beneath the summit and continued to January 2001 when frequent rock-fall started from the lava dome. During the activity, pyroclastic flow on February 10, 2001



Fig. 33. Relation of relative elevation and monthly number of volcanic earthquakes at Guntur volcano, West Java, Indonesia. The benchmark CKTD8 is located on the southeastern flank of the volcano.



Fig. 34. Hypocentral distribution of volcano tectonic earthquakes at Merapi volcano. Closed and open circles denote VTA and VTB type events. Aseismic zone is recognized between the types of the events. Top: epicenter. Bottom: vertical cross-section in EW direction.

is the biggest, and the front of the pyroclastic flow reached 7 km from the summit. Hidayati (2003) determined the hypocenters and focal mechanisms of the volcano tectonic earthquakes. Deep volcano tectonic earthquakes are located at depth 2-4 km beneath the summit, and the mechanism is normal fault type. Shallow volcano tectonic earthquakes have shallower hypocenter of less than 1 km and reverse-type mechanism (Fig. 34).

3) Other Volcanoes

Anak Krakatau volcano in Sunda Straight resumed Strombolian activity in February 1999. Kristianto *et al.* (2000) observed air-shocks caused by the eruptions and compared the characteristics with Suwanosejima volcano. Iguchi *et al.* (2001) applied tensile shear crack model to monochromatic events at Papandayan volcano where mud eruptions have repeated and magmatic eruption occurred in November 2002. Monochromatic events may be related with shallow hydrothermal system of the volcano.

Geology

Kagoshima University started to collaborate with DVGHM on chronology of Tangkubanparahu volcano, West Java. The volcano is situated north of Bandung. The chronology of 100 ka has been made clear (Kartadinata *et al.*, 2002) and started study on eruption in Sunda Caldera Period. They studied on chronology and formation mechanism of Batur caldera, Bali, Indonesia. Batur caldera has double rim and central stratovolcano and many maars are distributed inside the caldera. The chronology of the caldera was made clear from radiocarbon dating of burned woods in several layers (Sutawidjaja *et al.*, 2003).

"Research Cooperation Project on the Exploration of Small-scale Geothermal Resources in the Eastern Part of Indonesia" was jointly conducted by Volcanological Survey of Indonesia, and Geological Survey of Japan, and NEDO during 1997- 2002. Mataloko area, Flores island was selected as a project site. Based on geological mapping, and geophysical explorations, two holes were drilled. Steam production test confirmed the geothermal reservoir under the site.

In order to evaluate the time-space relationship of large volume eruptions in comparison with Japanese calderas, the cooperation project on geological study for caldera forming eruption in Indonesia has started between Volcanology and Geological Hazard Mitigation and Geological Survey of Japan in 2002. The geology of Rinjani volcano, Lombok island was studied in 2002.

References

- Iguchi, M., Suantika, G., Sulaeman, C., Wildan, A., Sutawidjaja, I. S., Kriswati, E., Kristianto, Solihin, A., Surono and Triastuty, H. (2001) Source mechanisms of volcanic earthquakes at some volcanoes in Indonesia, In *Proceeding of research meeting of DPRI, Kyoto Univ.*, 13K-02, Magmatic Activity and Volcanic Earthquakes / Tremors, 47-52.
- Hendrasto, M., Suantika, G., Karim, A. and Iguchi, M. (2000): Inflation associated with seismicity increase at Guntur volcano, West Java, Indonesia, In *Abstracts of IAVCEI General Assembly 2000*, 60.
- Hidayati, S. (2003): Focal mechanisms of volcano-tectonic earthquakes at Merapi volcano, Indonesia, Master Thesis of Graduate School of Science, Kyoto University.
- Kartadinata, M. N., Okuno, M., Nakamura, T., and Kobayashi, T. (2002) Eruptive History of Tangkuban Perahu Volcano, West Java, Indonesia A Preliminary Report. J. Geogr., 111 (3), 404-409.
- Koike, K., Omura, M., Iguchi, M., Matsunaga, N., Tomiyama N. and RESTEC (2002) Detection of Distribution of the 1998 Pyroclastic Flows, *Asian Journal of Geoinformatics*, **2**, 9-17.
- Kristianto, Iguchi, M., Ishihara, K. and Suantika, G. (2000): Infrasonic monitoring for Strombolian eruption at Anak Krakatau volcano, Sunda Strait in Indonesia, In *Abstracts of IAVCEI General Assembly 2000*, 59.
- Suantika, G. and Iguchi, M. (2000): Seismic crises in 1997 and 1999 at Guntur volcano, West Java, Indonesia, In *Abstracts of IAVCEI General* Assembly 2000, 31.
- Sutawidjaja, I. S., Okuno, M., Nakamura, T. and Kobayashi, T. (2003) Eruptive history of Batur caldera, Bali, Indonesia estimated from new radiocarbon dating. IUGG in Sapporo (Submitted)
- Voight, B., Young K.D., Hidayat, D., Subandrio, Purbawinata, M.A., Ratdomopurbo, A., Suharna, Panut, Sayudi, D.S., Lahusen, R., Marso, J., Murray, T.L., Dejean, M., Iguchi, M. and Ishihara, K. (2000) Deformation and seismic precursors to dome-collapse and fountain-collapse nuess ardents at Merapi volcano, Java, Indonesia, 1994-1998, *Jour. Volc. Geotherm. Res.*, 100, 261-287.

2. Cooperative Observations at Nyiragongo Volcano in D.R. of Congo

Volcano Nyiragongo belongs to the Virunga volcanic group and is located in the central part of the western rift of the East African Rift System, just to the north of Lake Kevin in the Rep. Dem. Congo. Among the 8 volcanoes in the Virunga, Nyiragongo and its neighboring volcano Nyamuragira have bee presently active condition. Nyiragongo had a long-lived lava lake in the summit crater since 1928. After the eruption in 1977, the lava lake in the summit was not seen for about 5.5 years. However the lava lake re-appeared at the bottom of crater on 21 June 1982 and, thereafter, the surface of lake has ascent intermittently with the small eruptions in the crater. During the period from June 1994 to September 1996, the surface in the crater was elevated about 120 m and the supplied magma volume was about $1.3 \times 10^8 \text{ m}^3$.

The 13 days prior to the Nyiragongo eruption on January 2002, the moderate felt shocks and also felt volcanic tremors were observed by local habitant at Rusayo village, where is located about 5 km south of the volcano. The Nyiragongo eruption was always preceded by the occurrence of tremors with large amplitudes. On January 10th, one week before the eruption, the forecast that new volcanic eruption is acute and that lava flows might direct their course toward Goma or Sake was issued to the local habitant and the foreign people in the Goma area by the Goma volcano observatory (GVO), the Centre de Rechereche en Sciences Naturelles (CRSN). This is the first successful prediction of volcanic eruption at Nyiragongo volcano based on the monitoring of seismo-volcanic activities, temperature measurements at fumaroles along the old fissure near the Shaheru cone and the surface observation of lava lake in the crater.



Fig. 35. The fissure on the mountainside at the elevation of about 2835 m with two fumaroles activity, the Shaheru crater buried by the new lava, and lava flows at foothill. (Photo taken by M. Kasereka, Nov. 11, 2002)



Fig. 36. Small spatter corn near the end of fissure, from which huge amount fluid lava was poured out and directed its course toward the Goma city. (Photo taken by H. Hamaguchi, Feb. 6, 2002)

The eruption started at 8:35 local time on January 17 along the fissure on the mountainside at the elevation of about 2835 m (Fig. 35). According to eyewitnesses of local habitants who are living at about 4 km NW outskirts of Goma, a rising of black plume was observed at about 10 o'clock near the foot of Shaheru cone and black rain and scoria came down after about 30 min latter. The present eruption was



Fig. 37. The lava flow (shaded area) passed through the downtown of Goma. The original map is on the scale of one to two thousand prepared in 1998.



Index map of GPS stations

Fig. 38. Index map of GPS stations (cross) around the Nyiragongo volcano. Solid triangle is active volcano.

characterized by exceptionally long fissures (ca 13 km) that stated at the side of Nyiragongo mountainside (elevation 2835m) and ended at the outskirts of Goma (elevation 1600 m). A huge amount of lava was poured out from the three spatter cones (Fig. 36) at the southern end of fissure, which is close to the Goma International airport and inundated the suburbs and the central part of Goma city. The extremely fluid lava flows and strong emission of CO2 gas caused many fatalities. The more than 4500 houses and buildings in the city of Goma were collapsed and/or buried by lava flow, of which thickness in the downtown was over 2 m (see Fig. 37).

Immediately after the eruption stopped, large number of felt earthquakes was observed around Goma and Gisenyi area. This swarm activity continued for about three months and caused a collapse of local houses in and around Gisenyi. In order to continues monitor the crustal deformations due to fissuring, volcanic activity and/or rift movements, we constructed the GPS network at the southern part of Nyiragongo volcano. The network consisted of 6 fixed stations and one mobile station at the top of Nyiragongo (Fig. 38). The GPS monitoring sensor is a type MG-2110 (Furuno Electric Co.) with low power consumption and single frequency detection. A sampling time interval is



Fig. 39. Temporal changes of the horizontal (NS, EW) and oblique distances and height differences at three baselines; (a) GVO-BLG, (b) GVO-KBT and (c) BLG-KBT. The unit in the vertical axis is 2 cm/div.

fixed to be 30 sec. The cooperative observation between CRSN and Tohoku University was started at April 22, 2002. The data analyses reveal that the horizontal and vertical variations along all baselines for about one year from April 2002 to March 2003 were within the accuracy of the sensor (Fig. 39), suggesting that, even though new lava lake activity already re-appeared in the crater, there have been neither significant magma supply or drain-back nor a magma intrusion into the volcanic region.

(Hamaguchi Hiroyuki)

3. Japan-US Joint Study on Hawaiian Hot Spot Volcanoes 1998-2002

Purpose of the Joint Study

Hawaii is the most active hot spot on Earth and is the classical locality of modern volcanology. Although numerous research papers have been written on Hawaiian volcanoes and their current activities those exposed on land, very little is known on their submarine roots. In 1998, a collaborative Japan-USA program was initiated to explore the evolution of Hawaiian volcanoes including their growth and degradation, making use of the deep-sea research capabilities of the Japan Marine Science and Technology Center (JAMSTEC). During a four week cruise in 1998, the ROV Kaiko (Remotely Operated Vehicle), supported by its mother ship RV Kairei, made 10 dives at depths to 5,200 m for direct sampling and video observations, supplemented by dredging, piston cores, and SeaBeam bathymetric surveys. During a seven week cruise in August-September 1999, the Shinkai 6500 submersible made 29 dives from the RV Yokosuka for sampling and direct observations as deep as 5,560 m, and further SeaBeam surveys were obtained. A third cruise in 2001, the initial part of the current project, utilized the Kairei and Kaiko to make 17 ROV dives and collected about 300 outcrop samples, obtain 10 new piston cores, made several dredge hauls, and generated additional SeaBeam coverage. Finally fourth cruise of this series has been carried out in summer of 2002 again with the Shinkai 6500 submersible and the RV Yokosuka. In total, 30 submersible dives were carried out in 2002 on to the newly discovered volcanic field SW of Oahu, submarine rifts of Haleakala and Kilauea, and submarine landslides from Mauna Loa, Kohala and Hualalai. Altogether 20 scientists from Japanese side, consisting of JAMSTEC, Geological Survey of Japan and 7 universities (Titech., Tokyo Univ., Hokkaido Univ., Shizuoka Univ., Osaka Univ., Shimane Univ., and Kumamoto Univ.) collaborated with 15 US scientists from US Geological Survey, University of Hawaii, Rice Univ., Bishop Museum and the Monterey Bay Aquarium Research Institute. Part of research results of this project have been published as collective papers in the AGU Geophysical Monograph vol. 128, Hawaiian Volcanoes: Deep underwater perspectives, in Feb. 2002.

Our knowledge of the submarine region around Hawaiian volcanoes has changed dramatically in the last few years as a result of these JAMSTEC expeditions to Hawaiian waters. These expeditions have generated improved images of sea-floor bathymetry (Naka *et al.*, 2000; Smith *et al*, 2002), utilized ROV and submersible vehicles to collect a large suite of precisely located samples for petrologic study, and acquired detailed photo and video images for many critical areas. Such materials, supplemented by petrologic, geochronological, and other laboratory studies, provide the basis for investigating a wide variety of geophysical phenomena. These include the sources for and extent of plume magmatism, processes associated with active and ancient landslides on oceanic island volcanoes, seismic structure and tectonic processes on active volcanoes, nature of rift zone and other submarine volcanism, growth of oceanic island volcanoes, and hydrothermal processes. In concert with the field and laboratory studies, recent theoretical investigations have explored the causes and consequences of Hawaiian plume magmatism and the landslides associated with these unstable volcanoes.

One major objective of this JAMSTEC cooperative program is to explore the evolution of oceanic islands including their growth and degradation. Giant landslides are now widely recognized along the flanks of many oceanic volcanoes, such as Hawaii, Marquesas, La Reunion, Galapagos, and Canary Islands. The landslides form during the growth of the volcano as it is centered over the hot spot and after it drifts off. The abundance of landslides demonstrates that mass-wasting processes play an important role in the construction and evolution of oceanic-island volcanoes. Not only do such processes modify the surfaces and slopes of the islands, they also are closely linked with major geologic hazards, including earthquakes associated with slope failure, large-scale submergence or emergence of coastlines, and massive tsunamis, which can destroy life and property. Due to the unpredictable and sporadic nature of such massive landslides, the processes and timing associated with these events remain poorly understood. Yet the significance of landslide features in the evolution of volcanic islands, and their extraordinary destructive potential, make it imperative that we understand their history and behavior, and assess their impact on human development of volcanic islands and adjacent coastal areas.

Another major goal of the JAMSTEC program is to reconstruct the growth history of Hawaiian volcanoes through study on deep exposure of the volcanic edifices. The landslide blocks themselves are collapsed and dismembered interiors of the volcanoes, which is inaccessible by ordinal means. As discussed below, our study shed lights on early alkalic stage of Kilauea volcano through intensive survey on deep submarine Hilina slumps on the south flank of Kilauea volcano. We also found the multiple growth history of 3 Ma old Koolau volcano on Oahu through reconstruction of the giant Nuuanu landslide. Our result showed that this volcano has experienced at least three magma types, Kilauea-type, Mauna Loa-type and Koolau-type in its growth history. In this way, our joint research program demonstrated the importance of submarine geologic study to understand the long term evolutional history of ocean island volcanoes. Such study gives comparable but quantitatively different information in its special coverage to those obtained by deep drilling of a volcanic edifice (e.g., Hawaiian Scientific Drilling Project).

Early Growth Stage of Kilauea Volcano

In contrast to the dominantly constructional volcanic morphology along the crest of the Puna Ridge, the offshore south flank has more diverse morphologic, structural, and petrologic features. Visual observations during the 1998-99 JAMSTEC cruises, combined with sample

characterization, indicate that the 3 km-deep mid-slope bench and lower scarp consist entirely of well-bedded volcaniclastic rocks: massive sandstone, debris-flow breccia, siltstone, and mudstone (Lipman *et al.*, 2002). High-S compositions of many alkalic basalt clasts and some sandstone glasses indicate derivation from a submarine "Loihi" stage of ancestral Kilauea, prior to growth of its tholeiitic shield. In contrast, all observed outcrops above and east of the mid-slope bench, are massive pillow lava and broken pillows of transitional basalt, which define the initial submarine flank of subalkaline Kilauea. These features indicate that ancestral Kilauea was a sizeable submarine alkalic volcano, where recurrent slope failures generated a flanking apron of clastic debris that was subsequently overgrown by the modern tholeiitic Kilauea shield.

Compositions of submarine-erupted glass from the lower scarp (Sisson *et al.*, 2002), which encompass a range far greater in silica, alkalis, and other elements than that known for Loihi Seamount, record magma-generation processes during early stages of volcanic growth, prior to tholeiitic shield-stage Kilauea. The general compositional sequence on the south flank of Kilauea and on other Hawaiian volcanoes is compatible with genetic models of increasing degrees of partial melting in the mantle source, but the diverse compositions preserved in the volcaniclastic sediments of the south flank cannot have been derived entirely from a homogeneous source. The volcaniclastic apron on the south flank of Kilauea thus provides a broad petrologic sampling of an early stage in Hawaiian hotspot volcanism, much like that sought for Mauna Kea volcano by the in-progress Hawaii Scientific Drilling Project. Recently acquired underwater and drill-hole samples have also documented greater compositional diversity than previously known for other Hawaiian volcanoes, such as Mauna Loa and Koolau. Compositional differences among tholeiitic basalts, previous considered characteristic of individual Hawaiian volcanoes (e.g., Kilauea, Mauna Loa, Koolau), now appear more likely to represent a general evolutionary sequence sampled to different extents during growth of Hawaiian shields.

The offshore observations, in conjunction with previously reported subaerial geologic information, provide new perspectives on the growth of Kilauea and other ocean-island volcanoes. Many previous studies have interpreted on-land features of Kilauea's south flank and adjacent offshore region as products of large-scale block-slumping and volcano spreading since growth of the tholeiitic shield. The new data obtained by submersible operations suggest a more complex compositional evolution and prolonged history of slope failures. Meanwhile, the success of JAMSTEC cruises in obtaining representative materials from the early alkalic growth stage of Kilauea volcano suggest that similar sampling strategies may be applicable to other ocean-island volcanoes, especially where flanks are disrupted by slumping and landsliding associated with volcano spreading.

Giant Landslides NE of Oahu Island

The presence of giant landslides on the flanks of numerous ocean island volcanoes including Hawaii, Reunion, and the Canary islands is well documented. The catastrophic failure associated with some of these giant landslides appears to be a common feature of ocean island volcanoes. Ocean island collapses are now recognized as important global erosional agent. The rapid growth (~1 to 1.5 million years) and enormous size of Hawaiian volcanoes (individually, up to 8.5 km of relief and 100,000 km³ volume) causes them to be particularly unstable. The collapse of Hawaiian volcanoes has generated some of the largest landslides on Earth and colossal tsunami waves. Dozens of major landslides, some with volumes >1000 km³ and large blocks >1 km in height, have been recognized along the Hawaiian Ridge. On average, a major landslide has been identified every 32 km along the ridge. Based on an average ~10 cm/year northwest motion of Hawaiian volcanoes, a giant landslide occurs about every 320 thousand years, and smaller slides must have occurred much more frequently. The wealth of information on Hawaiian landslides has led to Hawaii becoming the type example for ocean island landslides.

A major obstacle in gaining a better understanding of when, why and how giant landslides form in Hawaii has been the limited detailed bathymetric and side-scan sonar imagery coverage for Hawaii. This dramatically changed following the detailed surveying northeast of the island of Oahu during JAMSTEC cruises to Hawaii in the summers of 1998 and 1999. This new bathymetric data allow for comprehensive reconstructions of the Nuuanu and Wailau landslides. Moore and Clague (2002) conclude that the volume inequities between the size of the "holes" left by these slides and the volume of the blocks indicate that there was long-term bulging on the slopes of Koolau volcano before the landslide. Yokose (2002) enhances our understanding of the products and processes for both these landslides by combining the new bathymetric data with detailed submersible observations of landslide debris outcrops.

How big were the tsunamis associated with the Nuuanu and Wailau landslides? Satake *et al.* (2002) answered this question by determining the volume change associated which each landslide. Tsunami generation and propagation for these slides were computed using a kinematic landslide model. They calculate that mammoth waves were formed from these slides. For the Nuuanu slide, some waves would have been >100 m high and would have struck the Hawaiian islands within minutes. The tsunami from this slide was directed towards California. Waves up to 70 m high would have reached the shores of southern California in about 5 hours.

Another major obstacle to our understanding of giant Hawaiian landslides was the lack of sampling of the landslide debris. This was due in part to the landslide debris being in water depths of 3-5 km below sea level, which is outside the range of most submersibles. The JAMSTEC deep submergence vehicles are ideal for exploring the landslide debris because they can explore the full depth range of the debris.

The papers by Shinozaki *et al.* (2002) and Tanaka *et al.* (2002) examine petrology and geochemistry of rocks recovered from the landslide debris. Using the geologic reconstruction of the landslide debris, these authors demonstrated that 3 Ma Koolau volcano had experienced multiple growth history. The main shield building stage of the volcano consists of olivine tholeite lavas similar to modern Kilauea and Mauna Loa, successively. At the final growth stage of this volcano, the magma change abruptly to very silica-enriched tholeite composition with distinct isotope signature.

Takahashi and Nakajima (2002) simulated melting processes in the Hawaiian plume consisting of peridotite and entrained oceanic crust (eclogite), they conducted series of high-pressure melting experiments. They showed that high-silica tholeiite characteristic of the subaerial Koolau volcano could be produced by direct partial melting of recycled eclogite at temperatures slightly below the peridotite dry solidus. On the other hand, Garcia (2002) studied submarine picrite lavas taken from northern flank of Koolau volcano, and he showed that primary magma of this volcano had picritic composition similar to those in modern Kilauea and Mauna loa. Distinct anomalies in rare-gases (e.g., ³He/⁴He in lavas from Loihi Seamount is up to 35 times that in the atmosphere) are a key signature of mantle-plume magmas that originated from a deep undegassed reservoir in the mantle. Kaneoka *et al.* (2002) reported new analyses of rare gas isotopes (He, Ne, Ar, Xe, and Kr) for deep-ocean samples from Loihi, Kilauea, and Koolau volcanoes. The new data and their previous studies document large variations in He isotopes among volcanoes in the Hawaiian hot spot. The highly variable He values are interpreted to represent different degrees of interaction between the rising plume magma and the uppermost asthenosphere.

(E. Takahashi, P.W. Lipman, M.O. Garcia and J. Naka)

References

- Naka, J and Scientific team (2000) Tectono-magmatic processes investigated at deep-water flanks of Hawaiian volcanoes, *Eos Transaction*, *AGU*, **81**, 221, 226-227.
- Garcia, M.O. (2002) Submarine picritic basalts from Koolau volcano, Hawaii: implications for parental magma compositions and mantle source, in *Hawaiian Volcanoes:Deep underwater perspectives* (Eds. E.Takahashi, P.W. Lipman, M.O.Garcia, J.Naka and S.Aramaki) Geophysical Monograph, **128**, 391-402.
- Kaneoka, I. T.Hanyu, J.Yamamoto and Y.N. Miura (2002) Noble gas systematics of the Hawaiian volcanoes based on the analysis of Loihi, Kilauea and Koolau submarine rocks, *ibid*, 373-390.
- Lipman, P.W., T.W.Sisson, T.Ui, J.Naka and D.K.Smith (2002) Ancestral submarine growth of kilauea volcano and instability of its South flank, *ibid*, 161-192.
- Moore, J.G. and Clague, D.A. (2002) Mapping of the Nuuanu and Wailau landslides in Hawaii, *ibid*, 223-244.
- Satake, K., J.R. Smith and K. Shinozaki (2002) Three dimensional reconstruction and tsunami model of the Nuuanu and Wailau giant landslides, Hawaii, *ibid*, 333-346.
- Shinozaki, K. Z.-Y. Ren and E. Takahashi (2002) Geochemical and petrological characteristics of Nuuanu and Wailau landslide blocks, *ibid*, 297-310.
- Sisson, T., P.W. Lipman and J. Naka (2002) Submarine alkalic through tholeiitic shield-stage development of Kilauea volcano, Hawaii, *ibid*, 193-220.
- Smith, J.R., K. Satake and K. Suyehiro (2002) Deepwater multibeam sonar surveys along the Southeastern Hawaii ridge: guide to the CD-ROM, *ibid*, 3-10.
- Takahashi, E. and K. Nakajima (2002) Melting process in the Hawaiian plume: an experimental study, *ibid*, 403-418.
- Tanaka, R., E. Nakamura and E. Takahasahi (2002) Geochemical evolution of Koolau volcano, Hawaii, *ibid*, 311-332.
- Yokose, H. (2002) Landslides on the windward flanks of Oahu and Molokai, Hawaii: Shinkai6500 submersible investigation, ibid, 245-262.

4. Unzen Scientific Drilling Project

Unzen volcano is one of the active volcanoes in Japan, located in Southwest Japan behind the volcanic front of the Ryukyu Arc. 1990-95 eruption caused the \$ 2 billion damage and took 44 lives. A large-scale collapse of an old lava dome, Mayuyama, during the 1972 eruption results in death of 15,000 peoples around the volcano. The volcano has become the focus of international volcanological attention through its designation as a Decade Volcano by IDNDR (International Decade of Nature Disaster Prevention). In May 1997, an international workshop was held in Shimabara to discuss not only what volcanologists learned from Unzen eruption, but also the feasibility and importance of drilling into the edifice of Unzen, particularly to the conduit of 1990-95 magma (Nakada *et al.*, 1997). Following discussions at the workshop, a project was submitted to the Japanese Government to initiate a project using the scientific drilling as a main research tool to understand the growth history, subsurface structure and magma ascending mechanism of the Unzen Volcano. The research team also submitted a proposal to the International Continental Scientific Drilling Project (ICDP) to obtain a partial financial support.

Unzen Scientific Drilling Project (USDP) started in April 1999 as an international scientific research. The project includes not only scientific drillings but also related geological, geophysical and geochemical studies to totally understand Unzen volcano. USDP is a six-year term project and is divided into two phases. Phase I consists of drilling of three boreholes on the northeastern and eastern flanks and at the northern slope of Unzen Volcano, and conducting associated researches mainly to reveal the three-dimensional structure and the growth history of the volcano. Phase II is drilling into the conduit of the 1990-95 magmas to clarify the ascending and degassing mechanism of magmas and to evaluate geophysical and geological models made for the 1990-95 eruptions. Phase I is fully sponsored by the Ministry of Education, Sports, Culture, Science and Technology (MEXT), Japan, whereas the Phase II is a joint venture between MEXT project and ICDP. More than 25 research institutes from Japan, USA, Germany, UK and Taiwan are participating this project.

In Phase I, two vertical drillings (USDP-1: 752 m and USDP-2: 1462 m) were conducted at the northeastern and eastern flanks of Unzen volcano (Fig. 41). These drillings were aimed to reveal the growth history of Unzen volcano and related tectonic background. A third drilling (USDP-3) was conducted at the northern slope as a pilot hole for the conduit drilling in Phase II. USDP-3 is a 45-degree slant hole of 350 m. USDP-1 is located at the northern edge of the Unzen graben, where the base of the Unzen volcano is assumed to have subsided about 600 m beneath the surface. USDP-2, on the other hand, is situated in the middle of the graben, where Unzen products have accumulated as thick as more than 1000 m beneath the surface. As USDP-2 is also within a main course of transportation of volcanic materials form the center of Unzen Volcano, it is expected to recover the continuous record of its eruption history in USDP-2. Total core recovery for two wells was more than 90%, and it was possible to perfectly reconstruct the volcanic history of both sites. Against the expectation of thick piles of lava flows before drilling, many layers of pyroclastic flows and related debris flows were encountered in both wells by drilling. Vesicularity of essential blocks in block-and-ash flow deposits tends to increase with the increasing depth, suggesting more explosive eruptions in the past. The oldest pyroclastic materials of Unzen include vesiculated pumices that are rarely found on the modern surface, revealing very explosive eruptions took places in the beginning of Unzen volcano. Beneath the base of the Unzen products about 680 and 1200 m below the surface in the USDP-1 and 2 sites, respectively, pre-Unzen pyroxene andesite of 0.5 Ma was recovered. Systematic ¹⁴C, K-Ar and ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar dating, major and trace element geochemistry, and Sr, Pb and Nd isotopic analyses have been conducted on core samples of both wells, and detailed geologic and geochemical evolution history of Unzen volcano is now under construction. Geophysical measurements were also conducted using these wells, and results are now utilized to construct the geophysical structure of the volcano. During Phase I, intensive geological, geophysical and geochemical studies have been conducted beside drillings. Emphases were put to reveal three-dimensional geological, geophysical and hydrological structure of Unzen volcano and Shimabara Peninsula, and to understand the magma degassing and cooling processes.



Fig. 40. Research schedule of Unzen Scientific Drilling Project



Fig. 41. Locations of drilling sites of USDP



Fig. 42. Trajectory plan of the conduit drilling.

Phase II, started in April 2002, targets the upper part of the conduit through which the lava domes of 1991-1995 eruption were emerged. In the last kilometer of ascent, magma is subjected to an order of magnitude decrease in solubility of water in melt together with more than an order of magnitude increase in melt viscosity, more than two order of magnitude decrease in vapor density, and the onset of crystal growth. This in turn causes huge changes in magmatic properties and is responsible for a number of geophysical phenomena and signals prior or during eruption; i.e., isolated tremor events (1.5-0.5 km deep), low-frequency earthquake events (0.5-0 km), sources of vulcanian explosions

and deformation-and-inflation in 1.2 to 0.5 km-depths. These phenomena and signals are thought to reflect magmatic degassing during ascent and interaction of magma with groundwater in an aquifer below 0.5 km depth. Direct drilling into the conduit in this depth range is critical in order to verify interpretation of monitoring data during eruptions and to understand these important magmatic processes. The conduit is considered to be an east-west trending dike with a length as large as several hundred meters and a thickness of 10-20 m. A 50 m-high rotary rig was constructed at the northern slope of Unzen, 840 m above sea level, and drilling was started normal to the dike in February 2003. The drilling was initiated vertically and increased its inclination with depth, which is the best choice to drill the hot and challenging target at the sea level. The temperature of the conduit center is estimated as high as 600 °C. The hole-bottom temperature during operation of conduit drilling can be controlled at rather low values with a special casing program and mud circulation system, so that we can use the logging tools (temperature probe, bore hole televiewer, etc) even at considerable depth of the conduit. The drilling, associated borehole measurements and sampling will be ended by March 2005.

(Kozo Uto and Setsuya Nakada)

5. Tokyo Volcanic Ash Advisory Center

Most of the volcances around the world are known to be potential threats to local inhabitants due to lava flows, volcanic bombs, pyroclastic flows, and ash falls during an eruption that may cause the loss of life and property. However, a lesser-known fact is that volcanic ash thrown high into the atmosphere by an eruption may threaten flights with floating ash clouds of tiny particles. Volcanic ash damages engines and bodies of aircraft and is not only a threat to flight safety but also cause of severe economical damages for airlines and aviation organization. Therefore, timely provision of information of drifting volcanic ash is very important for the aviation safety.

The International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO), a special organization of the United Nations launched the International Airways Volcano Watch (IAVW) with the assistance of international organizations such as the World Meteorological Organization (WMO, a special organization of the United Nations). Thereafter, ICAO and WMO stipulated that Meteorological Watch Offices (MWO) in individual countries should issue information about volcanic ash cloud as Significant Meteorological Information (SIGMET): information about meteorological weather conditions that may be significant or threatening to flights. ICAO also recommended the establishment of volcanic ash advisory centres that provides Volcanic Ash Advisories (VAA) to help MWO to issue SIGMETs about volcanic ash cloud.

The Japan Meteorological Agency (JMA) established the Volcanic Ash Advisory Center in the Tokyo Aviation Weather Service Center in April 1997 as one of nine VAAC in the world, and started services for the issuance of VAAs in the area of responsibility (see Fig. 43).

Monitoring of Volcanic Ash Cloud

(1) Collection of information about eruptions, volcanic activities and witnessed volcanic ash cloud

a) In the event of the eruption of a volcano in Japan, the observation data is reported from Volcanic Observations and Information Centers of JMA, and additional information is reported from pilots about eruptions and volcanic ash cloud.

b) In the event of the eruption of a volcano outside Japan, the volcanic activity reports from both volcano observatories overseas and pilots are important information sources. In addition to this information, Tokyo VAAC also exchanges information about eruptions of volcanoes and divergence of volcanic ash cloud with the adjacent VAACs in Anchorage, Washington, and Darwin. Information from the Web sites is also used as a reference.

(2) Monitoring of volcanic ash cloud using satellite image analysis system

Tokyo VAAC monitors volcanic ash cloud using the satellite image analysis system of visible images and infrared images of the Meteorological Satellite GMS-5 and infrared images of the Earth Observation Satellite of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.



(A: volcanoes in and around the responsibility area)

Forecasting volcanic ash cloud dispersion

The Tokyo VAAC forecasts volcanic ash cloud dispersion based on the calculation taking the monitored results into account for volcanic ash cloud. The forecasts are issued in the VAA with the monitored results and are also available in a volcanic ash cloud forecast chart.

Issuance of Volcanic Ash Advisories

The issuance criteria for VAA from the Tokyo VAAC are as follows:

a) When the height of volcanic ash cloud reaches 5,000 meters above sea level as estimated from the relevant information about volcanic ash cloud,

b) When volcanic ash cloud is detected on satellite imagery and the height of the eruption plume or volcanic ash cloud reaches 5,000 meters above sea level, and

c) Any time when aircraft in flight may be affected by volcanic ash.

Unless remarkable changes in the situation do occur, VAA update will be issued at 00, 06, 12, and 18 UTC.

If Tokyo VAAC detects or is notified of a volcanic eruption from a volcano in Japan, VAA will be issued in spite of a plume height for the domestic aviation authorities and airlines. JMA will eliminate the criteria mentioned above and to provide low level VAAs for the other volcanoes in the area of responsibility than ones in Japan.

VAAs for volcanic ash clouds over 5,000 m above sea level provided by Tokyo VAAC in these six years are as follows;

Years	number of issuance of VAAs	
1997	28	
1998	30	
1999	22	
2000	104	
2001	87	
2002	39 (for over 5,000 m plume)	290 (for below 5,000 m plume)

(Keiji Doi)